Aus der

Universitätsklinik für Psychiatrie und Psychotherapie Tübingen Abteilung Allgemeine Psychiatrie und Psychotherapie mit Poliklinik

An RDoC-inspired examination of pharmacological, sexspecific, and hormonal modulators of Positive Valence Systems

Inaugural-Dissertation zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Humanwissenschaften

der Medizinischen Fakultät der Eberhard Karls Universität zu Tübingen

vorgelegt von Carolin Annette Lewis, geb. Maier 2023

Dekan:

Professor Dr. B. Pichler

- 1. Berichterstatter: Professorin Dr. B. Derntl
- 2. Berichterstatter: Professor Dr. H. Leuthold

Tag der Disputation 27.10.2023

Table of Contents

List	of abbreviations
1.	Introduction
1.1.	Research Domain Criteria framework – Positive Valence Systems5
1.2.	Reward Responsiveness10
1.2.	1. Neural networks of reward responsiveness10
1.2.	2. Serotonergic neurotransmission in reward responsiveness
1.2.	3. Reward Responsiveness: Aims of the study12
1.3.	Reward Valuation13
1.3.	1. Sex-specific effects on reward valuation
1.3.	2. Effects of sex hormones on reward valuation14
1.3.	3. Reward valuation: Aims of the studies15
2.	Results and discussion
2.1.	A single dose of escitalopram blunts the neural response in the thalamus and caudate during monetary loss17
2.2.	Women compared with men work harder for small rewards27
2.3.	No differences in Value-Based Decision-Making Due to Use of Oral Contraceptives
3.	Discussion
3.1.	Serotonergic modulation of reward responsiveness
3.2.	Sex-specific modulation of reward valuation69
3.3.	Serotonin, sex, and sex hormones as transdiagnostic modulators of PVS71
3.4.	General conclusion74
4.	Summary77
5.	German summary
6.	References
7.	Declaration of contribution of others

List of abbreviations

5-HT	Serotonin
5-HTT	Serotonin transporter
DSM	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders
fMRI	Functional magnetic resonance imaging
GABA	γ-aminobutyric acid
ICD	International Classification of Diseases
NAcc	Nucleus accumbens
OC	Oral contraceptive
PVS	Positive Valence Systems
RDoC	Research Domain Criteria framework
SSRI	Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor
VTA	Ventral tegmental area

1. Introduction

1.1. Research Domain Criteria framework – Positive Valence Systems

The current diagnostic systems *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (DSM) and *International Classification of Diseases* (ICD) provide a common language in mental health based on clinical consensus about categories and behavioral symptoms. However, categories based upon presenting behavioral symptoms do not capture underlying mechanisms of dysfunction. Moreover, there is growing resentment that these symptom-based diagnoses do not yield the kind of specificity that we have in the rest of medicine, e.g., the use of biomarkers to direct treatments for subtypes of cancer (Insel et al., 2010). Clinical neuroscience has made tremendous discoveries in the organization of neural circuits and their associated behaviors over the past two decades, yet those efforts have only slowly been translated into understanding of etiology and developing new treatments (Morris & Cuthbert, 2012). A neuroscience-based approach to classification of mental disorders offers promising advantages for research and clinic, with the common goal of improving treatment outcomes.

To address this endeavor, the US National Institute of Mental Health has initiated the *Research Domain Criteria* framework (RDoC). The aim of RDoC is precision medicine for psychiatry, based on a profound understanding of the psychological and biological basis of several disorders, which share behavioral symptoms (Insel et al., 2010). Currently, RDoC does not serve as a diagnostic system, but rather as a framework for guiding research. As such, the overarching goal is to understand mechanisms in normal and abnormal behavior on different levels. These levels are captured in the two-dimensional RDoC matrix (Morris & Cuthbert, 2012). One dimension represents the six major *domains* of basic human neurobehavioral functioning, (1) Negative Valence Systems, (2) Positive Valence Systems, (3) Cognitive Systems, (4) Social Processes, (5) Arousal and Regulatory Systems, and (6) Sensorimotor Systems. Each domain is further subdivided into three to six psychological/biological constructs, which are recommended to be studied from normal to abnormal functioning. The second

dimension of the matrix represents the *units of analysis* to measure these constructs, i.e., molecules, cells, circuits, physiology, behavior, and self-report (Table 1). The RDoC framework further proposes paradigms, which have been commonly approved by the scientific community to be useful to measure the constructs. The RDoC framework thus emphasizes an integrative approach in studying basic psychological and biological mechanisms of mental health and disease. It further encourages studies to deconstruct any of the proposed domains/constructs in order to identify core features relevant for a group of disorders (e.g., a deficit in working memory and fear processing) (Insel, 2014).

Table 1

Research Domain Criteria Matrix, showing the two dimensions 'domains' and 'units of analysis'.

	Units of Analysis					
Domains	Molecules	Cells	Circuits	Physiology	Behavior	Self-Report
Negative Valence Systems						
Positive Valence Systems						
Cognitive Systems						
Social Processes	_					
Arousal/Regulatory Systems						
Sensorimotor Systems						

The present project focused on the Positive Valence Systems (PVS) domain (Table 2), which describes responses to positive motivational situations and states, such as seeking and consuming rewards (National Advisory Mental Health Council Workgroup on Changes to the RDoC Matrix, 2018). The constructs of PVS are best described by using the example of palatable food, for example cake. The first construct is *reward responsiveness*, which includes the subconstructs reward anticipation, initial response to reward, and reward satiation. Imagine how your mouth already waters when you enter the kitchen and smell freshly baked cake (reward anticipation). Then, the first bite of cake initiates several processes in your body, brain, and subjective experience (initial response to reward). After you have finished one or two pieces of cake, satiation sets in and you stop eating cake (reward satiation). The second PVS domain is reward learning, with the subconstructs probabilistic/reinforcement learning, reward prediction error, and habits. Probabilistic and reinforcement learning literally describes 'stick and carrot', i.e., the positive element of trial and error. Staying with our cake example, this means that we have learned that cake tastes good and associate it with a positive state. The reward prediction error is a neuronal process and encodes the difference of the reward from the prediction, e.g., the cake tasted much better or worse than expected. As soon as we have learned something, it may start becoming a habit, for example we always eat a piece of cake after lunch. Reward valuation is the third PVS construct and includes reward probability, delay, and effort. Thus, the perceived value of our cake reward depends on how certain it is that we will get a piece of cake (probability, uncertain rewards are usually of lesser value) and how long we must wait for it (delay, later rewards are usually of lesser value). Finally, the perceived value of cake depends on how much effort we have to put in, e.g., if we have to bake the cake first or if it is already baked and served in front of us.

Table 2

The Positive Valence Systems domain, subdivided in constructs and subconstructs. Highlighted cells represent which subconstructs and units of analysis were investigated in the present work, together with the respective paradigms.

		Units of Analysis				
Positive Valence Systems		Circuits	Behavior	Paradigms		
Constructs	Subconstructs					
Reward Responsiveness	Reward Anticipation		_			
	Initial Response to Reward			Guessing Task		
	Reward Satiation					
Reward Learning	Probabilistic and Reinforcement Learning					
	Reward Prediction Error					
	Habit					
Reward Valuation	Probability			Probability Choice		
	Delay			Delay Discounting		
	Effort			Effort Allocation		

Put formally, the PVS domain focuses on reward processing, which is one of the best described neurobehavioral systems in animals and humans (Walter et al., 2021). To date, disruptive PVS constructs are best described for schizophrenia, substance use disorders, and major depressive disorder. In schizophrenia, disrupted reward prediction errors are assumed to cause delusions and psychosis (Corlett et al., 2007; Ermakova et al., 2018). At the onset of substance use disorders, reward responsiveness, and in particular the initial response to drugs, plays a major role; reinforcement learning and difficulties in delaying gratification contribute to the progression of the disorder (Heinz et al., 2019; Schultz, 2011). In major depressive disorder, both impaired reward responsiveness (Hallford & Sharma, 2019; Starr & Hershenberg, 2017) and

reward valuation (Berwian et al., 2020; Treadway et al., 2012) likely explain the main symptom of anhedonia. Thus, disruptions in one or more PVS constructs are shared behavioral symptoms in several mental disorders, a main idea of the RDoC framework.

Fractioning symptoms into PVS constructs offers the possibility to investigate the underlying mechanisms which play a role in different disorders, and which of them may be understood as a transdiagnostic syndrome. Individuals may have difficulties (1) to anticipate rewards (reward responsiveness), (2) to associate values and costs with rewards as well as (3) to determine the effort needed to obtain rewards (both reward valuation), and (4) to integrate this information and learn from outcomes of their actions to guide future behavior (reward learning) (Der-Avakian & Markou, 2012; Husain & Roiser, 2018).

In the following, I examine reward responsiveness and reward valuation in the context of motivational behavior with a focus on investigating different modulators of these subconstructs. In the first part, I investigated the neurotransmitter serotonin as a modulator of reward responsiveness. Although numerous psychotropic drugs act on serotonergic neurotransmission, the role of serotonin in motivational behavior lacks empirical work (Husain & Roiser, 2018). The second part focused on sex-specific and hormonal modulators of reward valuation. Numerous mental disorders have prominent sex differences. For example, women experience major depressive disorder twice as often as men in their lives (Kuehner, 2017). Substance use disorders are two times more prevalent in men than in women (Grant et al., 2016), but women show more severe illness progression and poorer treatment outcomes than men (Becker, 2016). Current research concerning development of disorders, prevalence and response to treatment suggests a significant role for sex and sex hormones as modulators to account for differences in disorders with reward-related deficits (for review, see Ambrase, Lewis et al., 2021).

1.2. Reward Responsiveness

Reward responsiveness comprises processes that regulate an organism's hedonic response to positive and negative reinforcers (anticipation), the receipt of reinforcers (initial response to reward), and processes following repeated receipt of reinforcers (reward satiation). Reward responsiveness is mainly reflected in neural activity to reward and punishment cues (National Advisory Mental Health Council Workgroup on Changes to the RDoC Matrix, 2018).

1.2.1. Neural networks of reward responsiveness

Responding to rewards begins with recognizing valenced cues which inform an organism about receiving rewards or punishments. Research in this area mostly focused on reward cues in animals and humans, i.e., reward sensitivity and positive reinforcers (for review see O'Doherty et al., 2017). Reward prediction cues are encoded within the reward circuitry, with the ventral tegmental area (VTA) being the source of dopamine projections to the nucleus accumbens (NAcc) in the ventral striatum (the mesolimbic dopamine system), to higher cortical areas (the mesocortical dopamine system), and to the amygdala (Dichter et al., 2012; Krolick et al., 2018; Schultz, 1997). Another dopamine pathway leads from the substantia nigra to the dorsal striatum, i.e., the caudate putamen (Der-Avakian & Markou, 2012). Serotonergic neurons in the dorsal raphe nuclei have also been found to code reward prediction cues (Cohen et al., 2015). Moreover, reward prediction cues are assumed to be encoded by the interaction of the dopaminergic and serotonergic systems, as neurons from the dorsal raphe nuclei project to the VTA and the NAcc (Liu et al., 2014; Zhou et al., 2015).

Considerably less research has focused on brain signals in response to negative reinforcers, i.e., cues predicting punishment or loss, especially in humans. Thus, neural networks of punishment prediction cues are less well understood. It is assumed that punishment prediction cues suppress VTA dopamine neuron activity while concurrently exciting γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA)

10

neurons in this region (Cohen et al., 2012). Animal and human studies further suggest that punishment prediction cues are encoded in the central area of the ventral striatum (Palminteri et al., 2015) (for review see Delgado et al., 2008).

1.2.2. Serotonergic neurotransmission in reward responsiveness

The reward circuitry is governed by complex neurochemical signaling. The main monoamine neurotransmitters specifically involved in reward responsiveness are dopamine and serotonin.

Preclinical and neuroimaging studies mainly focused on dopamine as main monoaminergic neurotransmitter involved in the reward system. The phasic firing response pattern of midbrain dopamine neurons signaling the anticipation of rewards is a fundamental hypothesis in the field (Schultz, 1997). Efforts towards understanding the impact of serotonin firing patterns on the reward system as well as the synergistic interaction between dopamine and serotonin pathways led to two main hypotheses within the framework of reward responsiveness. The first model suggests that serotonin modulates signals predicting punishment or loss, as opposed to dopamine predicting reward (Daw et al., 2002; Deakin & Graeff, 1991). For example, a reduction in central serotonin levels after acute tryptophan depletion led to enhanced responsiveness to punishment or loss but not to reward (Cools et al., 2008; Crockett et al., 2009). The second model proposes an overall inhibitory influence of serotonin on the reward system (Cools et al., 2011; Soubrie, 1986), which is assumed to arise from interactions with the mesolimbic dopamine system (Liu et al., 2014; Zhou et al., 2015). For instance, empirical evidence demonstrated reduced neural responses in the reward system after raising serotonin levels (Browne et al., 2019; Browne & Fletcher, 2016; McCabe et al., 2010).

An effective method to investigate the consequences of acutely enhanced serotonergic transmission in the human brain *in vivo* is administering an acute dose of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs; Bruhl et al., 2010; Loubinoux et al., 2002). The main target of action for SSRIs is the serotonin

transporter (5-HTT), which is essential for maintaining adequate brain serotonin homeostasis (Krishnan & Nestler, 2008; Mercado & Kilic, 2010). The primary action of SSRIs is to prolong serotonin (5-HT) action by blocking the 5-HT transporter from transporting 5-HT from synaptic cleft back into the presynaptic neurons (Nutt et al., 1999). Acute administration of SSRIs has been shown to raise extracellular serotonin levels in several projection regions of the forebrain (El Mansari et al., 2005; Garcia-Garcia et al., 2014). As SSRIs are the most widely prescribed class of antidepressants worldwide (Bauer et al., 2017), another advantage in using this pharmacological intervention is the possibility to draw conclusions about refining treatment strategies for mental disorders with serotonergic dysfunction, e.g., major depressive disorder.

1.2.3. Reward Responsiveness: Aims of the study

Study 1 focused on reward responsiveness, and more specifically on the initial response to reward or punishment cues during acutely increased serotonergic transmission. In this pharmacological functional resonance imaging (fMRI) study, healthy participants received a single dose of 20 mg escitalopram in a double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover design. Participants performed a well-established card guessing task with both reward and punishment cues, which is a RDoC-approved paradigm to measure initial responses to reward and punishment.

The goal of this study was two-fold. Firstly, we aimed at understanding basic mechanisms of reward responsiveness on a neurobehavioral level, i.e., to identify relevant brain regions. A second objective was to elucidate serotonin's role in reward responsiveness, i.e., if serotonin modulates primarily punishment prediction cues or if serotonin has an overall inhibitory effect on the reward system. Although empirical evidence exists for both approaches, most studies did not use tasks which reflect on brain responses to both reward and punishment. Ultimately, we expected this extended knowledge of acute

neurotransmitter action to be beneficial for refining treatments targets for motivational deficits.

1.3. Reward Valuation

The PVS construct of *reward valuation* describes processes by which the benefits of a future outcome are computed depending on external information and/or prior experience. This process is influenced by several factors, e.g., biases, learning, and stimulus characteristics. Based on these computations, a subjective value is assigned to a reinforcer. Reward valuation comprises the subconstructs reward probability, delay, and effort, and RDoC proposes experimental paradigms for assessing each subconstruct in human subjects. *Reward probability* describes how the subjective value of a reinforcer is computed by reference to its magnitude, valence, and predictability, and is typically assessed with probability choice tasks. In these tasks, participants are faced with a decision between a sooner, small certain reward and a later, less certain but larger reward, and thus also captures risk behavior. Delay refers to processes by which the magnitude of a reinforcer and the time interval until it is received define the subjective value of a reinforcer. Delay discounting tasks are typical paradigms for assessing this computation, in which participants decide between a smaller, sooner reward and a larger, later reward. Finally, effort describes subjective value computations depending on the magnitude of the reinforcer and the perceived costs of cognitive or physical effort required to earn it. Effort allocation tasks are the standard in the field, in which participants must earn rewards of variable magnitude by hand grip force or button presses.

1.3.1. Sex-specific effects on reward valuation

Women and men have different trade-offs in cost-benefit computations which may contribute to differences in reward valuation (Ambrase, Lewis et al., 2021). Sex differences are well described for decision costs such as probability and delay. For example, women prefer frequent and safer yet smaller rewards in gambling tasks as well as safe options when they lost a reward in a previous decision (Byrne & Worthy, 2015; Cornwall et al., 2018; Lee et al., 2009). Men, in turn, tend to maximize rewards even if this strategy is not optimal and are overall more likely to take a risk (Byrne & Worthy, 2015; Byrnes et al., 1999; Cornwall et al., 2018). In instrumental physical effort, women prefer easy trials with smaller rewards, whereas men prefer difficult trials with higher rewards (Treadway et al., 2009). However, the basic mechanisms of this sex-specific behavioral variability in different aspects of reward valuation are still elusive.

Various hypotheses have been proposed to explain these sexual dimorphisms, e.g., on a neural level from sex differences in functional activation of brain areas involved in reward-related circuits (Sutterer et al., 2015), and dissimilar involvement of neurotransmitter systems which are relevant for reward processing, such as dopamine and serotonin (Georgiou et al., 2018). Moreover, sex differences in the behavioral inhibition and activation systems (BIS/BAS; Strobel et al., 2001) likely contribute to a different valuation of rewards (Li et al., 2014). Furthermore, current research concerning development of disorders, prevalence, and treatment response suggests a significant role for sex hormones as modulators to account for sex differences in reward valuation (for review, see Ambrase, Lewis et al., 2021).

1.3.2. Effects of sex hormones on reward valuation

Sex differences in reward valuation may occur due to the interaction between neurotransmitter systems and sex hormones, which have been shown for both women and men in reward-related circuits (for review, see Barth et al., 2015). For women in particular, systemic variation of ovarian hormones, i.e., estradiol and progesterone, likely affect reward valuation processes.

The menstrual cycle provides a natural model of investigating influences of ovarian hormones on reward valuation in women. Over the course of 28 days on average, ovarian hormones show characteristic variation (Bull et al., 2019). In the follicular phase, estradiol levels increase and surge before ovulation, while progesterone levels are low. In the luteal phase, after ovulation, progesterone levels rise gradually to a mid-luteal peak, together with another blunted peak of estradiol. Before menses initiates, both estradiol and progesterone levels rapidly decrease (Sundström & Gingnell, 2014). During the early follicular phase, women have been found to prefer sooner, smaller rewards (Diekhof, 2015), whereas rising estradiol levels made women less sensitive for immediate rewards (Smith et al., 2014). During ovulation, i.e., with high estradiol levels, women preferred risky over safe options to maximize rewards and were less loss averse compared with women in other cycle phases and men (Lazzaro et al., 2016). Typically, testosterone is hypothesized to affect risk behavior in women and men, however, one has to keep in mind that testosterone is aromatized to estradiol in women (Azcoitia et al., 2011).

Investigating oral contraceptive (OC) use provides another experimental model to examine ovarian hormone effects on female behavior. The most widely used OCs contain a synthetic estrogen (ethinyl estradiol) and a synthetic progesterone (progestin) (United Nations, 2015), and thereby suppress endogenous estradiol and progesterone fluctuations. Results from studies investigating the influence of OC-use on reward valuation were mixed so far, showing both more or less sensitivity for immediate rewards compared to naturally cycling women (for review, see Lewis et al., 2019).

1.3.3. Reward valuation: Aims of the studies

Studies 2 and 3 examined sex-specific and hormonal modulators of reward valuation and, thus, aimed at elucidating potential mechanisms underlying sex differences in the integration of benefits and costs. In study 2, we investigated sex differences in reward valuation, specifically in instrumental physical *effort*. We tested whether healthy women and men would differ in the motivational phases of an effort allocation task and if this difference would depend on reward magnitude, reward type, and/or task difficulty. Study 3 focused on influences of

ovarian hormones on reward valuation, in particular on *probability* and *delay* as computational costs. Here, we tested naturally cycling and OC-using women in probability and delay discounting tasks and hypothesized that endogenous and exogenous hormonal milieus would influence reward valuation differently.

2. Results and discussion

2.1. A single dose of escitalopram blunts the neural response in the thalamus and caudate during monetary loss

Published in:

Lewis, C. A., Mueller, K., Zsido, R., Reinelt, J., Regenthal, R., Okon-Singer, H., Forbes, E. E., Villringer, A., Sacher, J. (2021). A single dose of escitalopram blunts the neural response in the thalamus and caudate during monetary loss. *Journal of Psychiatry & Neuroscience 46,* S. E319 -E327.

A single dose of escitalopram blunts the neural response in the thalamus and caudate during monetary loss

Carolin A. Lewis, MSc; Karsten Mueller, PhD; Rachel G. Zsido, BA; Janis Reinelt, MD; Ralf Regenthal, MD, PhD; Hadas Okon-Singer, PhD; Erika E. Forbes, PhD; Arno Villringer, MD, PhD; Julia Sacher, MD, PhD

Background: Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) show acute effects on the neural processes associated with negative affective bias in healthy people and people with depression. However, whether and how SSRIs also affect reward and punishment processing on a similarly rapid time scale remains unclear. **Methods:** We investigated the effects of an acute and clinically relevant dose (20 mg) of the SSRI escitalopram on brain response during reward and punishment processing in 19 healthy participants. In a doubleblind, placebo-controlled study using functional MRI, participants performed a well-established monetary reward task at 3 time points: at baseline; after receiving placebo or escitalopram; and after receiving placebo or escitalopram following an 8-week washout period. **Results:** Acute escitalopram administration reduced blood-oxygen-level-dependent (BOLD) response during punishment feedback in the right thalamus (family-wise error corrected [FWE] p = 0.013 at peak level) and the right caudate head ($p_{FWE} = 0.011$ at peak level) compared to placebo. We did not detect any significant BOLD changes during reward feedback. **Limitations:** We included only healthy participants, so interpretation of findings are limited to the healthy human brain and require future testing in patient populations. The paradigm we used was based on monetary stimuli, and results may not be generalizable to other forms of reward. **Conclusion:** Our findings extend theories of rapid SSRI action on the neural processing of rewarding and aversive stimuli and suggest a specific and acute effect of escitalopram in the punishment neurocircuitry.

Introduction

How our brain responds to reward and loss is a critical aspect of mood regulation. A blunted hedonic response to rewards or an enhanced sensitivity to loss can underlie negative bias in reward processing, which has been shown in patients with major depressive disorder (MDD)¹ and anxiety disorders.2 Evidence from human and animal studies that manipulate serotonin levels provides robust support for the role of serotonin in modulating the neural circuit that underlies rewarding and aversive processing.3 This association between serotonin and neural processing of reward and loss may explain why selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), which manipulate serotonergic activity, can help improve the processing capabilities of patients with MDD and anxiety disorders in the context of reward and/or punishment. However, the direction of association and specificity of this neural signal during positive and negative feedback remains to be clarified.

We know that SSRIs modulate serotonergic activity⁴ by blocking the serotonin transporter within a single dose of oral administration,⁵ and this leads to increased levels of extracellular serotonin. It has long been recognized that the acute administration of SSRIs reduces raphe neuron firing rates mediated by serotonin-1A autoreceptors, which become activated by increased extracellular serotonin levels, particularly in regions such as the dorsal raphe nucleus.⁶ This decrease in firing rates seems to be dose-dependent7 and region-specific;8 some studies have reported no change in serotonin levels at low SSRI doses.9 Although this negative feedback mechanism effectively controls serotonergic neuron firing rates and (partly) serotonin release, evidence from microdialysis studies¹⁰ indicates that the acute administration of SSRIs can increase extracellular serotonin levels in several projection regions, such as certain regions of the forebrain, with noteworthy variability likely based on region-specific differences in serotonin-1A receptors.8,11,12

E319

Correspondence to: J. Sacher, Max Planck Institute for Human Cognitive and Brain Sciences, P.O. Box 500355, 04303 Leipzig Germany; sacher@cbs.mpg.de

Submitted Jul. 6, 2020; Oct. 12, 2020; Revised Nov. 20, 2020; Accepted Dec. 12, 2020

DOI: 10.1503/jpn.200121

© 2021 CMA Joule Inc. or its licensors

Two main models have been put forward for the role of serotonin in modulating the neural circuitry that underlies reward and punishment. The first centres on serotonin in an opponent role to dopamine, suggesting that while dopamine modulates reward processing, serotonin modulates aversive signals such as punishment and loss.^{13,14} Daw and colleagues13 proposed that phasic serotonin firing underlies prediction error for future punishment but not future reward. This theoretical framework^{15,16} is supported by empirical evidence from interventional studies that demonstrate potentiated responsiveness to loss or punishment but not to reward after a reduction in central serotonin levels. By using a novel fast-scan cyclic voltammetry procedure to identify serotonin signals in vivo while participants completed an investment task, Moran and colleagues¹⁷ provided further direct evidence that serotonin encodes loss-related prediction errors.

A second main theoretical approach suggests that serotonin has an overall inhibitory role in the reward system.^{18,19} Neuronal activity in the raphe nuclei in single-unit recordings correlates with both expected and received reward values (see Nakamura²⁰ for a review). Raising extracellular serotonin levels reduces neural responses in the reward system.^{21,22} The inhibitory role of serotonin may arise from interactions with the dopamine system, given that parts of the mesolimbic dopamine system receive extensive serotonergic innervation.^{23,24} By using optogenetic stimulation of dorsal raphe nucleus serotonin input to the ventral tegmental area combined with the administration of an SSRI, Browne and colleagues²⁵ found reduced reward-related response in rats. Thus, several lines of evidence suggest that enhanced serotonergic signalling may exert an overall inhibitory influence on the neural reward system.

By assessing the brain responses to reward and punishment stimuli following a serotonergic intervention, pharmacological functional MRI (fMRI) studies have begun to provide evidence for the role of serotonin in reward and loss processing in humans in vivo. Lowering serotonin levels via acute tryptophan depletion increases the blood-oxygenlevel-dependent (BOLD) response to errors during negative feedback in fMRI in the prefrontal cortex (PFC).²⁶ A single dose of citalopram decreased the neural response to negative outcomes in the dorsomedial PFC and increased the neural response to negative outcomes in the left amygdala during a card gambling task.²⁷ Using a loss/no-loss paradigm, Del-Ben and colleagues²⁸ reported increased BOLD signals in the insula and decreased BOLD signals in the orbitofrontal cortex during loss avoidance after citalopram intake. The suggestion that serotonin mediates overall reward processing has also received empirical support. Marutani and colleagues²⁹ found decreased BOLD signals in the insula, putamen and dorsolateral PFC in anticipation of rewards during a monetary incentive delay task after a single dose of the SSRI paroxetine.

Acute serotonergic modulation affects reward and punishment processing, but the net effect of an impairment or a facilitation is not entirely consistent across studies. Underlying reasons for this include the fact that not all of the studies investigated the influence of serotonergic manipulation on responses to reward and punishment in the same experiment. We lack a clear understanding of whether acutely enhanced serotonergic transmission specifically attenuates the brain response to loss or punishment in healthy humans, or if this attenuation centres on reward processing. Taking this next step is important not only for a better understanding of how serotonergic agents generate their antidepressant effect, but also to increase our knowledge of the role of serotonin for processing reward and punishment or loss in the human brain.

In this pharmacological fMRI study, we used a validated and simple monetary reward task in a double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover design in healthy participants. We administered a single dose of 20 mg escitalopram, a clinically relevant dose of one of the most widely prescribed SSRIs.³⁰ The goal of the present study was to investigate whether an acute serotonergic challenge modulated BOLD responses in the main areas of the neural circuit implicated in monetary reward (ventral striatum and medial PFC³¹) and monetary loss (anterior insula, caudate, putamen, thalamus, anterior cingulate cortex³²) and whether any changes in the neural response would be specific to the loss or punishment contrast, or extend to reward-specific feedback. Given the putative specificity of acute serotonergic depletion effects on the loss or punishment condition, we hypothesized that we would find decreased brain responsiveness to monetary loss or punishment but not to reward during acutely increased serotonergic transmission.

Methods

Study design

We used a double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover design to investigate neural responses to a single oral dose of 20 mg escitalopram (to reliably block 80% of serotonin transporters⁵) and placebo (mannitol and aerosol) in identical capsules provided by the pharmacy of Leipzig University Clinic in 19 healthy participants (9 women, 10 men), with a washout period between sessions of 8 weeks (see Figure 1A for an overview of the study design). On the first test day, participants underwent a baseline fMRI scan before initial drug administration. For the drug fMRI scans, we measured participants 3 to 4 hours after drug administration, during peak blood concentration of escitalopram.³³ The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the institutional ethics committee of the University of Leipzig. All participants provided written informed consent before participating, and were compensated for participation at €8 per hour.

Participants

Twenty-four healthy participants (12 men, 12 women; age 25 ± 2 years [mean \pm standard deviation], range 21–29 years; body mass index 23 ± 2 kg/m²) were recruited from the Max Planck Institute of Human Cognitive and Brain Sciences



Fig. 1: (A) Study design. Nineteen participants underwent 3 fMRI scanning sessions. After a baseline fMRI scan (grey square), participants received a single oral dose of the SSRI escitalopram (20 mg; red circle) or placebo (blue triangle) in a randomized design. We determined serum levels of escitalopram after 3 hours (T_{max}) and then conducted a second fMRI scan. After a washout period of 8 weeks, the protocol was repeated with the alternate study drug (escitalopram or placebo) to adhere to a double-blind intraindividual design. (B) Monetary reward task. The task consisted of 3 different block types (win, loss and neutral), with 45 trials in total. In win and loss trials, participants had 3 s to guess via button press whether the hidden number (between 1 and 9) on a visually presented card would be higher or lower than 5. Then, the actual number was displayed for 500 ms and participants received outcome feedback for 500 ms (a green up-arrow for win outcomes or a red down-arrow for loss outcomes). Each trial ended with a crosshair symbol presented in the middle of the screen for 1 s (intertrial interval). In neutral trials, participants were asked to press a button when an X was displayed (3 s), followed by an asterisk (500 ms) and a yellow circle for neutral outcomes (500 ms). fMRI = functional MRI; ITI = intertrial interval; SSRI = selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor; T_{max} = time to peak concentration.

and the University of Leipzig. Exclusion criteria were pregnancy (urine pregnancy test at screening and before each test session); current or previous major psychiatric disorders (assessed using the Semi-structured Clinical Interview for Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th edition, Axis I disorders,³⁴ by a trained psychiatrist); the use of medications that might interfere with the study medication (e.g., antidepressants, antipsychotics, sedatives); chronic or acute physical illness (abnormal physical examination, electrocardiogram, or hematological and chemical blood analyses); tobacco smoking; lifetime illicit drug use more than 10 times (except for Δ^9 -tetrahydrocannabinol); illicit drug use within the last 2 months; and illicit drug use during the study (determined by urine drug tests). Subclinical depressive, hypomanic or anxiety symptoms were assessed using the 17-item Hamilton Depression Rating Scale³⁵ by a trained psychiatrist, the self-report version of the Structured Clinical Interview for Mood Spectrum (MOODS-SR)³⁶ and the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory.³⁷ All participants were naive to antidepressants and free of medications except for the contraceptive pill.

Of the 24 enrolled participants, 1 was excluded because of a preanalytical error in acquisition of the serum sample, and 4 were excluded because of missing or corrupted log files from the presentation software. We analyzed the data from 19 right-handed participants with a normal weight (10 men, 9 women; age 24 ± 2 years, range 21–29 years; body mass index 23 ± 2 kg/m²). Serum values of escitalopram (ng/mL) were acquired at peak concentration (T_{max})³³ in blood and determined using liquid chromatography with UV detection. The quantification limit for escitalopram was 1 ng/mL.

fMRI paradigm

We used a well-established monetary reward task, which elicits reliable activation in the neural reward circuitry and was designed to index the neural response to feedback about wins (rewards) and losses (punishment).^{38,39} The task consisted of 3 block types (win, loss and neutral), with 45 trials in total. Participants were told that their performance would determine a post-scan monetary reward: $\in 1$ for each win and $\in 0.50$ deducted for each loss. The blocks were presented in fixed pseudorandomized order with identical predetermined outcomes across participants (Figure 1B). Participants were unaware of the fixed outcome probabilities (80/20; i.e., 80% win outcomes and 20% loss outcomes in a win block and vice versa in a loss block).

In win and loss trials, participants had 3 s to guess via button press whether a hidden number (between 1 and 9) on a visually presented card would be higher or lower than 5. Then, the actual number was displayed for 500 ms and participants received outcome feedback for 500 ms. For win outcomes, feedback was a green up-arrow, and for loss outcomes, feedback was a red down-arrow. A trial ended with a crosshair symbol presented in the middle of the screen for 1 s (intertrial interval). In neutral trials, participants were asked to press a button when an "X" was displayed (3 s), followed by an asterisk (500 ms) and a yellow circle for neutral outcomes (500 ms). The total length of a trial was 5 s. Before each block started, participants viewed instructions for the win, loss or neutral condition for 3 s; this was not analyzed further.

Based on our hypotheses, the contrasts of interest derived from the task were win-neutral and loss-neutral. The feedback phase was defined as the intervals that included the number presentation and the feedback arrow. Similarly, the feedback phase in the control condition was defined as the interval between the display of an asterisk and a yellow circle. If the durations of the events of interest are the same and are less than 2 s, it is common practice to model those events with a length of 2 s in further analyses.⁴⁰

Neuroimaging data collection and preprocessing

We acquired MRI data using a 3 T Verio 3 scanner (Siemens), equipped with a 32-channel head coil, at the Day Clinic for Cognitive Neurology, University of Leipzig Medical Center. We acquired functional T_2^* -weighted images using a gradient echo echo-planar imaging sequence with the following parameters: repetition time 2000 ms; echo time 30 ms; flip angle 90°; field of view 256 × 256; 30 axial slices; slice acquisition matrix 64×64 ; slice thickness 4 mm; voxel resolution $3 \times 3 \times$ 4 mm³. Functional images were coregistered to T_1 -weighted images, obtained using a magnetization-prepared rapid gradient echo sequence with the following parameters: repetition time 2300 ms; inversion time 90 ms; echo time 2.98 ms; flip angle 9°; voxels $1 \times 1 \times 1$ mm³. We scanned every participant 3 times: at baseline (without medication), with placebo and with escitalopram (randomized treatment order; for study design overview, see Figure 1A).

We preprocessed and analyzed data sets using SPM12 (Wellcome Trust Centre for Neuroimaging) and Matlab (The MathWorks Inc.). Preprocessing comprised head motion correction using realignment, including unwarping to correct for echo-planar imaging distortions using voxel displacement maps from the Fieldmap toolbox in SPM. We also checked if the degree of motion varied between scanning sessions by computing frame-wise displacement (FD).⁴¹ As an input, we used the translational and rotational motion parameters obtained by motion correction in SPM. For the full series of 150 functional images, motion between volumes was characterized using 149 FD values for each participant and both sessions. Finally, all FD time courses were characterized by the mean FD, the maximum FD, the maximum FD after eliminating the largest 5% of the FD values and the number of FD values that exceeded 0.5 mm. We then analyzed mean and maximum FD to detect systematic motion differences between the SSRI and placebo scans across participants using paired-sample t tests (2-tailed). For all participants and both sessions, the mean FD was less than 0.5 mm, and we found no significant differences in FD parameters between the SSRI and placebo sessions. No participants were excluded for excessive motion. Further preprocessing steps included slicetime correction, coregistration with the mean anatomic image, and normalization to the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) space based on the unified segmentation approach.42 We resampled functional images in the MNI space with a resolution of $2 \times 2 \times 2$ mm³. Finally, we performed spatial filtering using a Gaussian kernel with 8 mm full width at half maximum.

Neuroimaging data analysis

We analyzed preprocessed functional images using an eventrelated design in a general linear model to analyze the hemodynamic response to reward and punishment feedback at peak escitalopram plasma concentration. For each participant and scan, we performed parameter estimation and generated contrast images for the contrasts of interest (win-neutral and loss-neutral, trial by trial). We then included these first-level contrast images in a second-level analysis using a paired design. Thereafter, we computed statistical analyses using each contrast of interest (win-neutral and loss-neutral) to investigate potential differences between SSRI and placebo administration. After using an initial voxel threshold of p <0.001, we obtained significant results with family-wise error (FWE) correction at peak level at p < 0.05, given previous work⁴³ showing that the cluster inference is prone to producing false-positive results but the voxel inference shows FWE rates in the expected order of magnitude. We performed all analyses at the whole-brain level.

Results

Sample characteristics, mood questionnaires and drug levels

Table 1 summarizes the demographic characteristics of the 19 healthy participants who completed the study protocol. We found no significant changes in depression and mood scores after the single dose of escitalopram compared to placebo.

Mean (\pm standard deviation) plasma levels of escitalopram were in the expected range (23 \pm 6 ng/mL) when fMRI scans took place (3–4 hours after drug administration).

Neuroimaging results

Investigating the loss–neutral contrast, we found a diminished BOLD response after a single 20 mg dose of escitalopram in the right posterior thalamus (cluster-size k = 197 voxels; $T_{max} = 7.7$; $p_{FWE} = 0.013$ at peak level; $p_{FWE} = 0.086$ at cluster level; MNI coordinates x, y, z = 10, -26, 4) and the right caudate head (k = 424 voxels; $T_{max} = 7.9$; $p_{FWE} = 0.011$ at peak level; $p_{FWE} = 0.005$ at cluster level; MNI coordinates

Table 1. Sample demographics and depression and mood scores						
Characteristic	Finding*	t value; p value				
Demographics						
Age, yr	24 ± 2	_				
Body mass index, kg/m ²	23 ± 2	_				
State-Trait Anxiety Inventory, trait anxiety	33 ± 8	—				
Rating scales						
Hamilton Depression Rating Scale	SSRI: 2 ± 2 Placebo: 2 ± 1	$t_{1,17} = 0, p = 1$				
Mood Spectrum Self-Report	SSRI: 42 ± 25 Placebo: 37 ± 22	$t_{1,17} = 1.2, p = 0.25$				

SSRI = selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor

*Values are mean \pm standard deviation; n = 19, within-subjects.



Fig. 2: Brain response to punishment feedback. Orthogonal brain sections showed reduced blood-oxygen-level-dependent signal difference between the monetary loss and neutral conditions after a single oral dose of escitalopram (20 mg) compared with placebo. Significant effects were obtained in the right posterior thalamus (*x*, *y*, *z* = 10, -26, 4) and the right caudate head (*x*, *y*, *z* = 12, 22, 0) using family-wise error correction at peak level with *p* < 0.05. Cluster-defining threshold *p* < 0.001 (uncorrected). SSRI = selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor.

x, y, z = 12, 22, 0) compared with placebo at the whole-brain level (Figure 2). We found no significant voxels that showed a BOLD increase with escitalopram, even without correction for multiple comparisons.

Investigating the win-neutral contrast revealed no significant medication effects, even without correction for multiple comparisons.

Discussion

In this placebo-controlled, crossover, double-blind pharmacofMRI study, we report the effects of an acute single dose of the SSRI escitalopram on neural response to reward and punishment feedback in healthy human participants. The main findings of this study were that acutely administered escitalopram reduced BOLD response in the right caudate nucleus and the right thalamus during monetary loss, and it did not induce changes in BOLD response to feedback on monetary wins. These results were consistent with previous work on the effects of SSRIs on the emotional processing of aversive stimuli,⁴⁴ and they provide additional support for the neuropsychological theory that acute administration of SSRI reduces negativity bias.

Furthermore, our data extend this theory by suggesting a specific role for acute serotonin transporter occupancy in the modulation of healthy neural response to punishment feedback. Given that SSRIs are used as a first line of treatment for depression and anxiety disorders, a clinical response is typically expected after several weeks.⁴⁵ This delayed onset of symptom relief in response to SSRI treatment is in contrast to the time it takes for the majority of SSRI target sites (the serotonin transporters) to be blocked to up to approximately 80%. This percentage is within the occupancy range established to be required for a therapeutic effect⁴⁶ and can already occur 3 hours after intake of the first clinical dose.⁵ The

discrepancy in time of onset between the acute occupancy of the serotonin transporter and a clinical response has been explained by the time required for presynaptic serotonin 1A autoreceptors to desensitize: it is postulated that the acute blockage of serotonin reuptake triggers a negative feedback mechanism via attenuated serotonergic firing, mediated by presynaptic serotonin 1A autoreceptors.⁴⁷ The resulting serotonin 1A receptor-desensitization theory is supported by indirect evidence demonstrating decreases in the functional sensitivity of serotonin 1A autoreceptors following chronic SSRI treatment in rodents.⁴⁸ It is also supported by preliminary findings from positron emission tomography studies in people with MDD demonstrating a decrease in serotonin 1A receptor binding in the dorsal raphe nuclei (albeit unrelated to the antidepressant response)49 and decreased serotonin 1A receptor binding limited to a significant effect in the hippocampus in people with anxiety disorders.⁵⁰

However, at a cognitive psychological level it has been argued⁵¹ that acute effects can be detected after a single SSRI dose. Pioneering work by Harmer and colleagues^{52,53} has shown that acute SSRI administration modulates implicit negative attention bias. Additional work in humans has shown that acute tryptophan depletion (i.e., acute decreases in serotonin levels) results in enhanced brain responses to threat-related stimuli, punishment predictive learning and interference from sad distractors (reviewed in Cools and colleagues⁵⁴). Further evidence for this specific effect on negative bias is provided by a study in rats,⁵⁵ which demonstrated that acute citalopram administration influenced negative feedback sensitivity, and subchronic administration influenced reward sensitivity. Moreover, the authors observed that dose level was an essential factor for sensitivity to negative feedback; a low single dose was associated with increased negative feedback sensitivity, and a high single dose was associated with decreased negative feedback sensitivity.55 This body of work, combined with our findings, suggests that acute SSRI administration may be specifically related to negative bias modulation, and that a single high SSRI dose (as used in our study) may already cause phasic increases in serotonergic signalling.

Our findings demonstrate additional support for this acute timeline and show that a single oral dose of escitalopram modulates the functional response to negative feedback in brain areas typically implicated in processing loss, a cognitive process highly relevant to implicit negative bias. In an exploratory fashion, we performed a loss > reward follow-up analysis to the significant loss > neutral findings, because this may provide further insight into whether escitalopraminduced dampening to loss is greater than to reward, compared with placebo. We did not find a significant result, although this could have been influenced by our sample size. As well, because we had observed a right lateralization in our original results, we re-ran this analysis using a less conservative statistical threshold. We observed a bilateral response in the thalamus and the caudate at p < 0.001 (uncorrected), with the caudate clusters extending to the ventral striatum. However, given that this was not within our a priori criteria, these findings must be discussed with caution, and future studies with larger samples may be required for further clarification. Regardless, our current findings extend the observation that a single oral SSRI dose can affect emotional processing and may reduce implicit negative bias,^{52,53} showing that this acute intervention has a localized effect in the neural reward circuit, namely during punishment feedback.

Serotonergic neurotransmission has long been considered a crucial substrate for aversive processing and negative motivation, based on evidence from pharmacological depletion and challenge paradigms in humans.^{16,56,57} A blunted hedonic response to rewards, as well as enhanced sensitivity to punishment, describes a negative bias in reward processing that is common in depression.¹ Recent models in computational psychiatry propose that negative mood reflects the cumulative effect of differences between reward outcomes and expectations.58,59 These models suggest a bidirectional interaction between mood and reward processing that may play an important adaptive role in healthy behaviour, and whose dysfunction might contribute to depressive disorders.⁶⁰ However, the effect of SSRIs on the negative bias in processing rewards is less well understood than for processing emotions. By specifically investigating the modulation of the hemodynamic response to reward and punishment feedback, we found that an acute dose of SSRI attenuated the BOLD response to punishment feedback in the caudate head (which is part of the striatum) and the thalamus. This was in line with previous findings, which demonstrated blunted BOLD responses to both positive and negative feedback in the medial caudate⁶¹ and the caudate and nucleus accumbens⁶² in (unmedicated) patients with MDD compared to healthy controls. A recent meta-analysis summarized these findings by reporting the caudate as the only significant region that differed between people with MDD and healthy controls during feedback processing, with decreased caudate activity in people with MDD.63 These findings are interpreted as evidence for reduced reinforcement of actions in people with MDD. More

specifically, McCabe and colleagues⁶⁴ found enhanced responses in the caudate and blunted responses in the lateral orbitofrontal cortex to primary aversive stimuli (e.g., mouldy strawberries) in patients with remitted MDD. The authors suggested that the caudate might play a role in automatic negative bias, and that blunted cortical responses represented the inability to integrate potential aversive information into appropriate actions. Although studies investigating unmedicated or remitted patients with MDD provide examples of how serotonergic neurotransmission may affect feedback processing in patient populations, we still lack a comprehensive basic understanding of how changes in acute serotonergic signalling affect reward and punishment feedback processing in healthy individuals.

Kumar and colleagues⁶⁵ administered SSRIs to healthy participants for 3 consecutive days and found blunted responses related to reward prediction error in a similar network to that observed in medicated patients with MDD. In response to the SSRI, healthy participants showed a neural BOLD pattern that seemed to display an intermediate state between drug-naive healthy participants and patients with MDD taking SSRIs. This suggests that a "normal" processing of feedback might require a narrow window of serotonergic tone, and any imbalance would cause potential disruptions in feedback processing. Dayan and colleagues⁶⁶ proposed that people with normal serotonin levels should reflexively inhibit ("prune") choices with poor expected outcomes. Any rapid drop in serotonin levels would compromise this adaptive mechanism of underexploring negative environments and would lead instead to the subjective experience of more negative events. Our results support this hypothesis by demonstrating that acute serotonergic manipulation alters the neural response to negative feedback. These data complement a recent study reporting that a single dose of escitalopram increased lose-shift behaviour after negative feedback, while win-shift behaviour remained unchanged in healthy participants.⁶⁷ At a more general level, our results were in accordance with the role of serotonin in aversive processing, more specifically in inhibiting behaviours associated with adverse consequences^{13,14} and possibly linked to promoting patience.68

Limitations

One limitation of the study was that the BOLD signal is a nonquantitative measure that integrates both blood volume and oxygen extraction, and it does not allow distinction between the 2 measures. We acknowledge that part of the signal we observed may have been due to SSRI effects on global cerebral blood flow (e.g., via a change in blood-vessel tone).⁶⁹ However, it is unlikely that the signal change we observed during punishment feedback was entirely driven by a global change in cerebral blood flow, given the previous work of our group and others demonstrating differentiated regional effects^{70,71} and no evidence that the same pharmacological challenge altered resting-state measures, such as the amplitude of low-frequency fluctuations,⁷⁰ which would have been highly sensitive to such effects. Finally, even if part of the signal were driven by underlying early changes in

neurovascular coupling in the thalamus and caudate, this was still a finding worth describing and reporting, because it may still be relevant for understanding the initial brain response to the first dose of escitalopram.

Second, we chose to study healthy young participants, and acknowledge that any interpretation of our results is limited to a healthy population and may not apply to middle-aged or older populations, or to patients. Several groups have demonstrated that acute or short-term treatment reduces negative biases in information processing, paralleled by changes of the brain response in the amygdala, thalamus, cingulate and insula in healthy participants.^{22,72,73} As well, similar acute BOLD response patterns in the amygdala, thalamus, cingulate and insula during affective processing were predictive of a clinical response to escitalopram after 6 weeks of treatment in patients with MDD. Still, the effects of SSRIs on serotonergic neurotransmission might differ between healthy individuals and clinical populations.⁶⁵

Third, we chose a task that allowed assessment of the brain response but did not include a behavioural assessment or measures of potential arousing or sedating effects of SSRI intake. Consequently, our results are limited to the interpretation of the healthy brain response to punishment feedback during maximum SSRI levels in the periphery and a 75% to 80% block of the central serotonin transporter state. Changes at a neural level can occur without concurrent behavioural change, specifically when assessed on an acute timescale. Given the multilayered concepts of reward and punishment learning, the wide variety of relatively complex paradigms currently applied to tease those layers apart, and the subsequent heterogeneous findings,⁷⁴ we opted for a well-established, simple and straightforward task.^{38,39} The task, combined with a longitudinal within-subject design, allowed for a robust assessment of the acute effects of a single dose of escitalopram during punishment feedback in a neural circuit relevant to punishment processing and at a considerable effect size and a relatively conservative statistical threshold at the whole-brain level. However, we acknowledge that the thalamus finding did not survive FWE correction at the cluster level. We chose to focus on FWE correction at the voxel level, but as previous work⁴³ has shown, cluster inference is prone to producing false-positive results, and the voxel inference shows FWE rates in the expected order of magnitude.

Finally, we acknowledge that the activity of SSRIs on the regulation of neural excitation and inhibition is multifactorial and complex, and that serotonin transporter blockade can affect several neurotransmitter systems beyond serotonin, such as dopamine and noradrenaline. Future studies implementing multiple and specific tracer applications for quantitative neuroimaging tools (such as positron emission tomography or magnetic resonance spectroscopy) are needed to shed light on the complex interplay of synergistic neurotransmitters in different aspects of reward and punishment interaction.

Conclusion

Our study provides an important and novel contribution to the understanding of how acute SSRI administration affects the human brain, and specifically the reward system, by demonstrating that a single dose of escitalopram alters the brain response to punishment but not reward feedback in healthy individuals. Our results complement recent theories of antidepressant action by showing an acute blunting effect of SSRI administration on negative feedback processing and demonstrate a role for a single dose of escitalopram in affecting the neural response to punishment. These findings are in accordance with the role of serotonin in aversive processing, and more specifically provide support for the hypothesis of the protective action of serotonin for the healthy brain in the face of negative events. Furthermore, they provide a crucial next step toward testing clinical translation for such paradigms of punishment feedback, particularly in patients with increased punishment sensitivity, such as those with obsessivecompulsive disorder,75 eating disorders76 or depression.1

Affiliations: From the Emotion Neuroimaging Lab, Max Planck Institute for Human Cognitive and Brain Sciences, Leipzig, Germany (Lewis, Zsido, Sacher); the International Max Planck Research School on Neuroscience of Communication: Function, Structure, and Plasticity, Leipzig, Germany (Lewis, Zsido); the Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Medical School, University of Tuebingen, Germany (Lewis); the Max Planck Institute for Human Cognitive and Brain Sciences, Leipzig, Germany (Mueller, Reinelt, Villringer); the Max Planck School of Cognition, Leipzig, Germany (Zsido); the Division of Clinical Pharmacology, Rudolf-Boehm-Institute of Pharmacology and Toxicology, University of Leipzig, Leipzig, Germany (Regenthal); the Department of Psychology, School of Psychological Sciences, University of Haifa, Haifa, Israel (Okon-Singer); the Integrated Brain and Behavior Research Center (IBBR), University of Haifa, Haifa, Israel (Okon-Singer); the Department of Psychiatry, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA, USA (Forbes); and the Clinic for Cognitive Neurology, University of Leipzig, Leipzig, Germany (Villringer, Sacher).

Funding: C. Lewis and J. Sacher were supported by the Branco Weiss Fellowship–Society in Science, National Association for Research on Schizophrenia and Depression (NARSAD) Young Investigator Grant 25032 from the Brain and Behavior Research Foundation, and by a Minerva Research Group grant from the Max Planck Society (all awarded to J. Sacher).

Competing interests: E. Forbes declares an honorarium for editorial activities for the Association for Psychological Science; paid consultancy for DSMB, Durham VA (sponsor), Otsuka (funder); an honorarium for mentoring activities as part of Research Centre, Brown University; research funding from the National Institutes of Health; and an honorarium for a grant review from the National Institutes of Health, all outside the published work. No other competing interests declared.

Contributors: E. Forbes, A. Villringer and J. Sacher designed the study. R. Regenthal and J. Sacher acquired the data, which C. Lewis, K. Mueller, R. Zsido, J. Reinelt, H. Okon-Singer and J. Sacher analyzed. C. Lewis, R. Zsido, R. Regenthal and J. Sacher wrote the article, which all authors reviewed. All authors approved the final version to be published and can certify that no other individuals not listed as authors have made substantial contributions to the paper.

Content licence: This is an Open Access article distributed in accordance with the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) licence, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided that the original publication is properly cited, the use is noncommercial (i.e., research or educational use), and no modifications or adaptations are made. See: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/

References

- 1. Eshel N, Roiser JP. Reward and punishment processing in depression. *Biol Psychiatry* 2010;68:118-24.
- Dillon DG, Rosso IM, Pechtel P, et al. Peril and pleasure: an rdocinspired examination of threat responses and reward processing in anxiety and depression. *Depress Anxiety* 2014;31:233-49.
- Kranz GS, Kasper S, Lanzenberger R. Reward and the serotonergic system. *Neuroscience* 2010;166:1023-35.
- Nutt DJ. The neuropharmacology of serotonin and noradrenaline in depression. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 2002;17(Suppl 1):S1-12.
- Klein N, Sacher J, Geiss-Granadia T, et al. In vivo imaging of serotonin transporter occupancy by means of SPECT and [123I]ADAM in healthy subjects administered different doses of escitalopram or citalopram. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 2006;188:263-72.
- 6. El Mansari M, Sánchez C, Chouvet G, et al. Effects of acute and long-term administration of escitalopram and citalopram on serotonin neurotransmission: an in vivo electrophysiological study in rat brain. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2005;30:1269-77.
- Hajós M, Gartside SE, Sharp T. Inhibition of median and dorsal raphe neurones following administration of the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor paroxetine. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* 1995;351:624-9.
- Beyer CE, Cremers TI. Do selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors acutely increase frontal cortex levels of serotonin? *Eur J Pharmacol* 2008;580:350-4.
- 9. Invernizzi R, Belli S, Samanin R. Citalopram's ability to increase the extracellular concentrations of serotonin in the dorsal raphe prevents the drug's effect in the frontal cortex. *Brain Res* 1992; 584:322-4.
- Marek GJ, Martin-Ruiz R, Abo A, et al. The selective 5-HT 2A receptor antagonist M100907 enhances antidepressant-like behavioral effects of the SSRI fluoxetine. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2005;30:2205-15.
- 11. Garcia-Garcia AL, Newman-Tancredi A, Leonardo ED. P5-HT 1A receptors in mood and anxiety: recent insights into autoreceptor versus heteroreceptor function. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 2014; 231:623-36.
- 12. Koch S, Perry KW, Nelson DL, et al. R-fluoxetine increases extracellular DA, NE, as well as 5-HT in rat prefrontal cortex and hypothalamus: an in vivo microdialysis and receptor binding study. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2002;27:949-59.
- Daw ND, Kakade S, Dayan P. Opponent interactions between serotonin and dopamine. *Neural Netw* 2002;15:603-16.
- Deakin JF, Graeff FG. 5-HT and mechanisms of defence. J Psychopharmacol 1991;5:305-15.
- Cools R, Robinson OJ, Sahakian B. Acute tryptophan depletion in healthy volunteers enhances punishment prediction but does not affect reward prediction. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2008;33:2291-9.
- Crockett MJ, Clark L, Robbins TW. Reconciling the role of serotonin in behavioral inhibition and aversion: acute tryptophan depletion abolishes punishment-induced inhibition in humans. *J Neurosci* 2009;29:11993-9.
- Moran RJ, Kishida KT, Lohrenz T, et al. The protective action encoding of serotonin transients in the human brain. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2018;43:1425-35.
- Soubrié P. Reconciling the role of central serotonin neurons in human and animal behavior. *Behav Brain Sci* 1986;9:319-35.
- Cools R, Nakamura K, Daw ND. Serotonin and dopamine: unifying affective, activational, and decision functions. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2011;36:98-113.
- Nakamura K. The role of the dorsal raphe nucleus in reward-seeking behavior. Front Integr Nuerosci 2013;27:60.
- 21. Browne CJ, Fletcher PJ. Decreased incentive motivation following knockout or acute blockade of the serotonin transporter: role of the 5-HT2C receptor. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2016;41:2566-76.
- 22. McCabe C, Mishor Z, Cowen PJ, et al. Diminished neural processing of aversive and rewarding stimuli during selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor treatment. *Biol Psychiatry* 2010;67:439-45.
- 23. Liu Z, Zhou J, Li Y, et al. Dorsal raphe neurons signal reward through 5-HT and glutamate. *Neuron* 2014;81:1360-74.
- Zhou J, Jia C, Feng Q, et al. Prospective coding of dorsal raphe reward signals by the orbitofrontal cortex. J Neurosci 2015;35:2717-30.
- 25. Browne CJ, Abela AR, Chu D, et al. Dorsal raphe serotonin neurons inhibit operant responding for reward via inputs to the ventral tegmental area but not the nucleus accumbens: evidence from

studies combining optogenetic stimulation and serotonin reuptake inhibition. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2019;44:793-804.

- Evers EA, Cools R, Clark L, et al. Serotonergic modulation of prefrontal cortex during negative feedback in probabilistic reversal learning. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2005;30:1138-47.
- Macoveanu J, Rowe JB, Hornboll B, et al. Playing it safe but losing anyway—serotonergic signaling of negative outcomes in dorsomedial prefrontal cortex in the context of risk-aversion. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* 2013;23:919-30.
- Del-Ben CM, Deakin JF, McKie S, et al. The effect of citalopram pretreatment on neuronal responses to neuropsychological tasks in normal volunteers: an FMRI study. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2005;30:1724-34.
- 29. Marutani T, Yahata N, Ikeda Y, et al. Functional magnetic resonance imaging study on the effects of acute single administration of paroxetine on motivation-related brain activity. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* 2011;65:191-8.
- Kasper S, Sacher J, Klein N, et al. Differences in the dynamics of serotonin reuptake transporter occupancy may explain superior clinical efficacy of escitalopram versus citalopram. *Int Clin Psychopharmacol* 2009;24:119-25.
- 31. Forbes EE, Olino TM, Ryan ND, et al. Reward-related brain function as a predictor of treatment response in adolescents with major depressive disorder. *Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci* 2010; 10:107-18.
- Knutson B, Westdorp A, Kaiser E, et al. FMRI visualization of brain activity during a monetary incentive delay task. *Neuroimage* 2000;12:20-7.
- Aronson S, Delgado P. Escitalopram. Drugs Today (Barc) 2004;40: 121-31.
- Wittchen HU. Strukturiertes klinisches Interview für DSM-IV: SKID. Achse I: Psychische Störungen: Interviewheft und Beurteilungsheft; eine deutschsprachige, erweiterte Bearbeitung der amerikanischen Originalversion des SCID-I. Hogrefe: Verlag für Psychologie; 1997.
- Hamilton M. A rating scale for depression. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1960;23:56-62.
- Dell'Osso L, Armani A, Rucci P, et al. Measuring mood spectrum: comparison of interview (SCI-MOODS) and self-report (MOODS-SR) instruments. *Compr Psychiatry* 2002;43:69-73.
- Spielberger CD, Gorsuch RL, Lushene RD, et al. Manual for the state trait anxiety inventory (STAI). Palo Alto (CA): Consulting Psychologists Press; 1983.
- Forbes EE, Hariri AR, Martin SL, et al. Altered striatal activation predicting real-world positive affect in adolescent major depressive disorder. *Am J Psychiatry* 2009;166:64-73.
- 39. Forbes EE, Rodriguez EE, Musselman S, et al. Prefrontal response and frontostriatal functional connectivity to monetary reward in abstinent alcohol-dependent young adults. *PLoS One* 2014;9: e94640.
- Henson R. Efficient experimental design for fMRI. In: Penny WD, Friston KJ, Ashburner J, et al, editors. *Statistical parametric mapping:* the analysis of functional brain images. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 2007.
- Power JD, Barnes KA, Snyder AZ, et al. Spurious but systematic correlations in functional connectivity MRI networks arise from subject motion. *Neuroimage* 2012;59:2142-54.
- 42. Ashburner J, Friston KJ. Unified segmentation. *Neuroimage* 2005;26:839-51.
- Eklund A, Nichols TE, Knutsson H. Cluster failure: why fMRI inferences for spatial extent have inflated false-positive rates. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2016;113:7900-5.
- 44. Harmer CJ, O'Sullivan U, Favaron E, et al. Effect of acute antidepressant administration on negative affective bias in depressed patients. *Am J Psychiatry* 2009;166:1178-84.
- 45. Nestler EJ. Antidepressant treatments in the 21st century. *Biol Psychiatry* 1998;44:526-33.
- Meyer JH, Wilson AA, Sagrati S, et al. Serotonin transporter occupancy of five selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors at different doses: an [11C]DASB positron emission tomography study. *Am J Psychiatry* 2004;161:826-35.
- 47. Blier P, de Montigny C, Chaput Y. Modifications of the serotonin system by antidepressant treatments: implications for the therapeutic response in major depression. *J Clin Psychopharmacol* 1987; 7(Suppl):24S-35S.
- Artiĝas F, Romero L, de Montigny C, et al. Acceleration of the effect of selected antidepressant drugs in major depression by 5-HT1A antagonists. *Trends Neurosci* 1996;19:378-83.

- Gray NA, Milak MS, DeLorenzo C, et al. Antidepressant treatment reduces serotonin-1A autoreceptor binding in major depressive disorder. *Biol Psychiatry* 2013;74:26-31.
- Spindelegger C, Lanzenberger R, Wadsak W, et al. Influence of escitalopram treatment on 5-HT1A receptor binding in limbic regions in patients with anxiety disorders. *Mol Psychiatry* 2009; 14:1040-50.
- 51. Harmer CJ, Goodwin GM, Cowen PJ. Why do antidepressants take so long to work? A cognitive neuropsychological model of antidepressant drug action. *Br J Psychiatry* 2009;195:102-8.
- ^{52.} Harmer CJ, Bhagwagar Z, Perrett D, et al. Acute SSRI administration affects the processing of social cues in healthy volunteers. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2003;28:148-52.
- Harmer CJ, Shelley NC, Cowen PJ, et al. Increased positive versus negative affective perception and memory in healthy volunteers following selective serotonin and norepinephrine reuptake inhibition. *Am J Psychiatry* 2004;161:1256-63.
- Cools R, Roberts AC, Robbins TW. Serotoninergic regulation of emotional and behavioural control processes. *Trends Cogn Sci* 2008;12:31-40.
- Bari A, Theobald DE, Caprioli D, et al. Serotonin modulates sensitivity to reward and negative feedback in a probabilistic reversal learning task in rats. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2010;35:1290-301.
- Chamberlain SR, Muller U, Blackwell AD, et al. Neurochemical modulation of response inhibition and probabilistic learning in humans. *Science* 2006;311:861-3.
- Macoveanu J, Rowe JB, Hornboll B, et al. Playing it safe but losing anyway—serotonergic signaling of negative outcomes in dorsomedial prefrontal cortex in the context of risk-aversion. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* 2013;23:919-30.
- Huys QJ, Daw ND, Dayan P. Depression: a decision-theoretic analysis. Annu Rev Neurosci 2015;38:1-23.
- 59. Montague PR, Dolan RJ, Friston KJ, et al. Computational psychiatry. *Trends Cogn Sci* 2012;16:72-80.
- Eldar E, Rutledge RB, Dolan RJ, et al. Mood as representation of momentum. *Trends Cogn Sci* 2016;20:15-24.
- 61. Elliott R, Sahakian BJ, Michael A, et al. Abnormal neural response to feedback on planning and guessing tasks in patients with unipolar depression. *Psychol Med* 1998;28:559-71.
- 62. Pizzagalli DA, Holmes AJ, Dillon DG, et al. Reduced caudate and nucleus accumbens response to rewards in unmedicated individuals with major depressive disorder. *Am J Psychiatry* 2009;166:702-10.

- Keren H, O'Callaghan G, Vidal-Ribas P, al. Reward processing in depression: a conceptual and meta-analytic review across fMRI and EEG studies. *Am J Psychiatry* 2018:175:1111-20.
- McCabe C, Cowen PJ, Harmer ČJ. Neural representation of reward in recovered depressed patients. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 2009; 205:667-77.
- 65. Kumar P, Waiter G, Ahearn T, et al. Abnormal temporal difference reward-learning signals in major depression. *Brain* 2008; 131:2084-93.
- Dayan P, Huys QJ. Serotonin, inhibition, and negative mood. PLOS Comput Biol 2008;4:e4.
- Skandali N, Rowe JB, Voon V, et al. Dissociable effects of acute SSRI (escitalopram) on executive, learning and emotional functions in healthy humans. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2018;43:2645-51.
- Miyazaki KW, Miyazaki K, Tanaka KF, et al. Optogenetic activation of dorsal raphe serotonin neurons enhances patience for future rewards. *Curr Biol* 2014;24:2033-40.
- Blanco VM, Stern JE, Filosa JA. Tone-dependent vascular responses to astrocyte-derived signals. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 2008;294:H2855-63.
- 70. Schaefer A, Burmann I, Regenthal R, et al. Serotonergic modulation of intrinsic functional connectivity. *Curr Biol* 2014;24:2314-8.
- Windischberger C, Lanzenberger R, Holik A, et al. Area-specific modulation of neural activation comparing escitalopram and citalopram revealed by pharmaco-fMRI: a randomized cross-over study. *Neuroimage* 2010;49:1161-70.
- 72. Godlewska BR, Browning M, Norbury R, et al. Early changes in emotional processing as a marker of clinical response to SSRI treatment in depression. *Transl Psychiatry* 2016;6:e957.
- Harmer CJ, Cowen PJ. 'It's the way that you look at it' a cognitive neuropsychological account of SSRI action in depression. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* 2013;368:20120407.
- 74. Kubanek J, Snyder LH, Abrams RA. Reward and punishment act as distinct factors in guiding behavior. *Cognition* 2015;139: 154-67.
- 75. Fullana MA, Mataix-Cols D, Caseras X, et al. High sensitivity to punishment and low impulsivity in obsessive-compulsive patients with hoarding symptoms. *Psychiatry Res* 2004;129:21-7.
- Monteleone AM, Cardi V, Volpe U, et al. Attachment and motivational systems: relevance of sensitivity to punishment for eating disorder psychopathology. *Psychiatry Res* 2018;260:353-9.

2.2. Women compared with men work harder for small rewards

Published in:

Lewis, C. A., Grahlow, M., Kühnel, A., Derntl, B., & Kroemer, N. B. (2022, October 28). Women compared with men work harder for small rewards. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/2qs6j

Women compared with men work harder for small rewards

Carolin A. Lewis^{1,2,3}, Melina Grahlow^{1,4}, Anne Kühnel^{1,5}, Birgit Derntl^{1*}, & Nils B. Kroemer^{1,5*}

- ¹ Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Tübingen Center for Mental Health, University of Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany
- ² Emotion Neuroimaging Lab, Max Planck Institute for Human Cognitive and Brain Sciences, Leipzig, Germany
- ³ International Max Planck Research School on Neuroscience of Communication: Function, Structure, and Plasticity, Leipzig, Germany
- ⁴ Graduate Training Centre of Neuroscience, University of Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany
- ⁵ Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, University of Bonn, Bonn, Germany

Corresponding authors*

Prof. Dr. Birgit Derntl, <u>birgit.derntl@med.uni-tuebingen.de</u> Prof. Dr. Nils B. Kroemer, <u>nkroemer@uni-bonn.de</u> Venusberg Campus 1, 53127 Bonn, Germany

Abstract

In cost-benefit decision-making, women and men often show different trade-offs. However, surprisingly little is known about sex differences in instrumental tasks, where physical effort is exerted to gain rewards. To this end, we tested 81 individuals (47 women) with an effort allocation task, where participants had to repeatedly press a button to collect food and money tokens. We analyzed the motivational phases of invigoration and effort maintenance with varying reward magnitude, difficulty, and reward type. Whereas women and men did not differ in invigoration, we found that women showed higher effort maintenance as well as higher subjective wanting and exertion ratings for small rewards compared with men. Notably, men increased their effort more than women for higher rewards to match women's levels of performance. Crucially, we found no sex differences depending on reward type or difficulty, indicating that sex differences were specific to the encoding of the magnitude of benefits, not costs. To summarize, women exerted higher physical effort for small rewards, which corresponded with an elevated subjective value in women compared with men. Therefore, sex differences in perceived reward magnitude may contribute to differential behavioral preferences highlighting the potential of cost-benefit decision-making to provide insights about potential mechanisms.

Introduction

No bees, no honey – no work, no money. The willingness to expend effort is critical in human behavior. The amount of effort we spend depends on the goals we pursue: we study more to get good grades or exercise harder for a bikini body. Put formally, we determine whether an action is worth pursuing by integrating potential benefits with the cost of an action, which is reflected in a cost-benefit trade-off [1, 2].

Cost-benefit valuations are extensively researched in the decision-making literature (e.g., [3, 4]), in particular how decision costs such as delay or uncertainty decrease the subjective value of a reward (i.e., value-based decision-making). So far, it has been shown that women and men differ in important aspects of value-based decision-making (for review, see [5]): For example, men show biases towards maximizing rewards even if this strategy is not optimal, while women seek frequent but smaller rewards. Compared with men, women are more concerned about suboptimal choices in their decision-making strategy [6, 7], and prefer safe options when they lost a reward in a previous decision [8]. Concurrently, men were overall more likely to take risks than women [9]. During reinforcement learning, women outperformed men in learning from positive feedback, while men had enhanced inhibitory control under interference than women [10]. Taken together, women and men show specific preferences to resolve common trade-offs in cost-benefit decision-making that may contribute to differences in reward-related behavior.

Another operationalization of value-based decisions is the allocation of effort, where effort refers to the intensity of mental and/or physical work that individuals apply to obtain some reward [11]. Individuals are considered to exert effort by estimating the expected benefit and the perceived costs to receive a reward [12-14]. The perceived reward value may inform the expected benefit of the effort [15], which is usually reflected in an effort boost for higher rewards [14]. Sex differences in instrumental physical effort have been reported, with women preferring easy trials with smaller rewards and men preferring difficult trials with higher rewards [16]. However, the nature of this sex-specific behavioral variability in instrumental physical effort is still elusive, e.g., if this sex difference depends on reward magnitude, task difficulty or an interaction of both.

We recently developed and validated a frequency-based version of the effort allocation task (adapted from [13]). Similar to lever pressing in preclinical research [17],

3

participants collect food and money tokens by repeatedly pressing a button [14]. The task captures two motivational phases: invigoration and effort maintenance. Invigoration describes how quickly a participant ramps up effort; it is associated with subjective wanting and mostly insensitive to effort costs. In contrast, effort maintenance relates to how durably a participant keeps this level of effort [18]. Consequently, effort maintenance is associated with both subjective wanting as well as exertion and it is highly sensitive to the costs of effort. Moreover, we previously reported associations of invigoration and effort maintenance with Carver and White's [19] behavioral inhibition system (BIS) and behavioral activation system (BAS), with average effort correlating positively with BIS scores [20]. Taken together, the effort allocation task and its associations with subjective wanting, exertion as well as the BIS/BAS scales provide a good opportunity to elaborate sex differences in instrumental physical effort.

To this end, we re-analyzed a previously collected data set ([14], see Methods) and tested whether women and men would differ in the motivational phases of invigoration and effort maintenance as measured via the effort allocation task. We predicted invigoration and effort maintenance using reward magnitude (low vs. high), difficulty (easy vs. hard), and reward type (food vs. money) as predictors. We further assessed associations of sex with the subjective ratings of wanting, which relates to the benefits of an action, and exertion, which relates to the costs of an action, as well as sex-specific differences on the BIS/BAS scales.

Results

Women have higher BIS and BAS Drive scores than men

We previously reported associations of invigoration and effort maintenance with the BIS/BAS scales in the same sample. We found that average effort correlated positively with BIS scores [20], but did not examine sex differences. Here, we aimed to describe the sample more precisely for our re-analysis and tested for previously described sex differences on the BIS/BAS scales [21]. Similar to Strobel et al. [21], women had significantly higher BIS scores than men, t(79) = 2.14, p = .035, but BAS overall scores did not differ between sexes, t(79) = 1.66, p = .101. Women also had significantly higher scores on the subscale BAS Drive than men, t(79) = 2.41, p = .018. The subscales BAS Fun Seeking, t(79) = -0.13, p = .894, and BAS Reward

Responsiveness, t(79) = 1.55, p = .126, did not differ significantly between women and men (Table 1).

Table 1. Means (standard deviations) and statistics of behavioral inhibition system(BIS) and behavioral activation system (BAS) scales.

	Mean	<i>t</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value	
	female	male		
BIS	21.28 (3.51)	19.59 (3.48)	2.14	.035 *
BAS	42.17 (4.15)	40.53 (4.72)	1.66	.101
BAS Drive	12.70 (1.85)	11.68 (1.95)	2.41	.018 *
BAS Fun Seeking	12.38 (1.88)	12.44 (2.00)	-0.13	.894
BAS Reward Responsiveness	17.09 (1.77)	16.41 (2.15)	1.55	.126

Note. P-values with an asterisk indicate significance.

Women and men differ in effort maintenance, but not invigoration

To estimate sex differences, we used mixed-effects models predicting either invigoration slopes or effort maintenance (operationalized as average relative frequency of button presses), using the factors reward magnitude (low vs. high), difficulty (easy vs. hard), reward type (food vs. money), and the interaction between reward magnitude x difficulty (Table 2). Women and men did not differ in invigoration, b = -0.05, t(76) = -0.01, p = .989. However, we found a main effect of sex for effort maintenance, with women having overall higher effort maintenance than men, b = -9.92, t(76) = -3.02, p = .003. A significant Sex × Reward Magnitude interaction showed that women generally outperformed men for small rewards; when more reward was at stake, men adjusted their effort more than women to match their performance b = 6.01, t(76) = 2.33, p = .022 (Figure 1). We found no sex differences depending on reward type or difficulty, nor a significant interaction of reward type x difficulty (all p > .05).

In a follow-up analysis, we also examined the total wins of the effort allocation task to see if women or men were overall more successful in earning rewards.

32

Regarding the total points won (i.e., pooled over money and food wins), women were more successful than men (b = -3.44, t(76) = -2.43, p = .018).



Figure 1. Women and men differ in effort maintenance, depending on reward magnitude. (a) Trialbased data showing that women had overall higher effort maintenance than men (main effect of sex, p = .003). Women generally outperformed men for small rewards, but when more reward was at stake, men adjusted their effort to match women's performance (interaction Sex x Reward magnitude, p = .022). (b) and (c) show empirical Bayes estimates (EB).

	Coefficient	Standard error	<i>t</i> -ratio	<i>p</i> -value
Invigoration				
Intercept	55.32	1.71	32.41	<0.001 *
Sex	0.05	3.53	0.01	0.989
Sex x Reward magnitude	0.91	2.55	0.36	0.723
Sex x Difficulty	-0.40	1.54	-0.26	0.798
Sex x Reward type	0.18	1.70	0.11	0.915
Effort maintenance				
Intercept	64.24	1.59	40.43	<0.001 *
Sex	-9.92	3.28	-3.02	0.003 *
Sex x Reward magnitude	6.01	2.58	2.33	0.022 *
Sex x Difficulty	-2.35	2.04	-1.15	0.252
Sex x Reward type	0.65	1.86	0.35	0.727
Wanting				
Intercept	67.43	2.26	29.90	< .001 *
Sex	-9.62	3.65	-2.64	.010 *
Reward magnitude	13.41	1.66	8.06	< .001 *
Sex x Reward magnitude	9.31	3.01	3.10	.003 *
Exertion				
Intercept	64.36	2.67	24.09	< .001 *
Sex	-7.95	4.37	-1.82	.073
Reward magnitude	11.18	1.87	5.98	< .001 *
Sex x Reward magnitude	10.51	3.47	3.03	.004 *

Table 2. Estimates of mixed-effects models.

Note. Variables were coded as follows: Sex (male = 0, female = 1), Reward magnitude (low = 0, high = 1), Difficulty (low = 0, high = 1), Reward type (money = 0, food = 1). *P*-values with an asterisk indicate significance.

Women and men differ in subjective ratings of wanting and exertion

For wanting, we found main effects of sex, with women overall having higher wanting ratings than men, b = -9.62, t(76) = -2.64, p = .010, and of reward magnitude, i.e., both women and men wanted higher rewards more than lower rewards, b = 13.41, t(76) = 8.06, p < .001. The interaction of Sex x Reward Magnitude was also significant, meaning that women had higher wanting ratings than men for smaller rewards, b = 9.31, t(76) = 3.10, p = .003 (Figure 2a). For exertion, the main effect of sex was not significant, b = -7.95, t(76) = -1.82, p = .073, only the main effect of reward magnitude, i.e., both women and men reported to put in more effort for higher rewards, b = 11.18, t(76) = 5.98, p < .001. Similar to wanting, we found a significant interaction of Sex x Reward Magnitude for exertion, with women putting in more effort for smaller rewards than men, b = 10.51, t(76) = 3.03, p = .004 (Figure 2b).



Figure 2. Women and men differed in subjective ratings of wanting and exertion. (a) Both women and men had higher wanting ratings for higher rewards than smaller rewards, p < .001, but women wanted smaller rewards more than men did, p = .003. (b) Both women and men reported to put in more effort for higher rewards than for smaller rewards, p < .001, and women reported more exertion for smaller rewards than men, p = .004.

Discussion

Women and men have specific preferences to resolve common trade-offs in cost-benefit decision-making. However, sex differences in instrumental physical effort are less well understood, especially if sex-specific behavioral variability depends on key factors of the tasks, such as reward magnitude, difficulty, and reward type. To this end, we investigated sex differences in instrumental physical effort in humans using an effort allocation task, which captured the motivational phases invigoration and effort maintenance. Although women and men showed comparable invigoration, women showed overall higher effort maintenance compared with men. More specifically, women outperformed men for small rewards. However, men increased their effort more than women for higher rewards. Notably, women and men showed no behavioral differences when different reward types were at stake or greater difficulty was required to obtain a reward, indicating that sex differences were specific to the encoding of potential benefits, not costs. This interpretation was substantiated by differences in subjective ratings of wanting and exertion because women wanted smaller rewards more and reported higher exertion compared with men, whereas ratings were comparable for large rewards. To summarize, we found sex differences in instrumental physical effort expenditure, which became evident in both objective and subjective measures. By showing that sex-specific behavioral variability depended on reward magnitude, and not on reward type or task difficulty, we contribute to an improved understanding of sex differences in instrumental physical effort that may facilitate differential preferences.

Our results showed that women and men differed in instrumental physical effort, depending on reward magnitude. This difference was mainly driven by the fact that women put in more effort for smaller rewards, while men worked about as hard as women when larger rewards were at stake. We thereby extended results from studies on sex differences in value-based decision-making, e.g., where women seek certain, smaller rewards, while men preferred larger, but less consistent rewards [7]. Effort-based versions of cost-benefit paradigms, like the effort allocation task used in our study, focus on the costs of physical effort to obtain rewards. Here, the perceived reward value is considered to inform the expected benefit of the effort [15], which usually leads to higher effort for larger rewards [14]. Our results show that women and men evaluated the perceived reward value differently and, thus, allocated their effort differently in light of small vs. large rewards. When more reward was at stake, men

36
increased their effort more than women to match their performance. Consequently, men were more opportunistic, while women also worked more for smaller rewards. In turn, women ascribed higher value to small rewards than men, which was also corroborated by women's higher subjective wanting and exertion ratings for smaller rewards compared with men. On a more general level, one might say that the extrinsic influence of higher reward magnitude was stronger for men than for women.

Of note, invigoration refers to automatic processes related to motivational drive, while effort maintenance rather describes an active decision of allocating physical effort [11, 22]. Moreover, effort maintenance refers to how much effort one is willing to spend to gain rewards, rather than how much effort one is (physically) able to exert. Since we did not find a sex difference in invigoration, but only in effort maintenance, we can assume that women actively chose to put in effort for both small and high rewards. Women weighed the benefits of smaller rewards higher than men, but women may have also valued effort itself higher than men. Effort can add substantial value to both rewards and to effort itself ('The Effort Paradox' [11, 23]). We can not rule out that women in our study might have valued the rewarding experience of exerting effort higher than men, which boosted the valuation of smaller rewards. Regarding the total points won, the female strategy of putting in effort also for small rewards can be seen as more successful than the male strategy of presumably saving effort costs for small rewards. Another line of argument was the possibility that women and men allocate physical effort differently depending on task demands, such as difficulty, e.g., Treadway et al. [16] found that women preferred easy trials with smaller rewards and men preferred difficult trials with higher rewards. However, we did not find a sex difference in effort maintenance depending on difficulty to obtain a reward. Our results were further corroborated by experiences from previous studies, in which behavioral differences in effort allocation became evident in the face of small rewards, whereas for larger rewards, most individuals give their very best (e.g., [15]). Taken together, our results suggest that sex differences in instrumental physical effort depend on reward magnitude, with women weighing the benefits of smaller rewards higher than men.

Moreover, we found that women had significantly higher BIS and BAS Drive scores than men. Higher BIS scores in women have repeatedly been shown in validation samples (e.g., [19, 21]). BIS stands for the motivation to avoid aversive outcomes, and, thus, women in our study felt 'worried when they thought they have done poorly at something', more than men. Also, compared with men, women in our

37

study 'went out of their way to get things they wanted', as described by higher BAS Drive scores (motivation to pursuit desired goals). The sex difference in both behavioral inhibition and activation may thus contribute to the finding that women in our study generally put in more effort for rewards than men. In the same sample, we previously reported a positive correlation of average effort with BIS scores [20]. Consequently, higher BIS scores in women in our analysis may further explain why women had overall higher effort maintenance than men: women avoided an aversive situation, i.e., 'doing poorly at something', by ramping up their effort to fulfill the task requirements. This fits well with the finding that effort can have signaling functions in social settings, as it is easily detected by self and others: by putting in more effort, women may express more commitment and dedication to the task [24, 25]. Men, with lower BIS scores, might have been less affected by this, and, thus, had a rather opportunistic motivation in performing the task.

The present study has several limitations which could guide future research. First, we did not measure sex hormone levels, e.g., estradiol, progesterone, or testosterone. Sex hormone receptors are densely present along midbrain areas and thereby modulate decision-making processes by interacting with relevant neurotransmitter systems (for review, see [5, 26]). It remains an open question if and how sex hormones also influence physical effort expenditure and thereby contribute to sex differences. Second, we did not assess gender-related attributes and merely split the sample into biological females and males. However, we can not rule out if selfperceived feminine or masculine traits may also contribute to behavioral differences between women and men, i.e., if individuals allocate physical effort differently if they consider themselves as being for example more risk-taking (typically male) or more conscientious (typically female).

Value-based decision-making shows sex differences in the integration of benefits and costs, but potential biases in the allocation of physical effort when rewards are at stake were largely elusive. We investigated sex differences in instrumental physical effort and found that women showed overall higher effort maintenance than men. More specifically, women had higher effort maintenance than men for small rewards, while for higher rewards, men adjusted their effort to match women's performance. In line with behavioral differences, women also reported higher wanting and exertion for smaller rewards compared with men. Taken together, our results highlight sex differences in instrumental physical effort and subjective wanting and

38

exertion that are explained by an elevated subjective value of small rewards in women compared with men. Since these sex differences were not specific to task difficulty or reward types, we conclude that sex differences in instrumental physical effort depended on the encoding of potential benefits, not costs. We thereby contribute to the understanding of sex-specific behavioral variability on motivated behaviors and underline the potential of cost-benefit decision-making to understand potential mechanisms in several domains, such as education and mental health.

Methods

Participants

85 individuals participated in the study and completed two sessions each: one session took place during stimulation of the cymba conchae (taVNS) and the other one during sham stimulation at the earlobe. Methods and results of the taVNS stimulation are reported elsewhere [14, 27] and are thus not further reported in this manuscript. The total sample size for the current analysis was N = 81 after exclusion of 4 participants (n=3: did not finish the second experimental session, for example due to sick leave, n=1: was assigned an incorrect maximum of button press frequency precluding comparison of the two sessions). Half of the participants completed the effort task during left-sided taVNS and the other half completed the effort task during right-sided taVNS. As determined by a telephone interview, participants were physically and mentally healthy, German speaking, and right-handed (47 women: $M_{age} = 24 \pm 3$ years, $M_{BMI} = 22.4 \pm 2.9$ kg/m²; 34 men: $M_{age} = 25 \pm 4$ years, $M_{BMI} = 24.0 \pm 24.0 \pm 100$ 3.0 kg/m²). The study was approved by the local ethics committee (the institutional review board of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Tübingen) and was conducted in accordance with the ethical code of the World Medical Association (Declaration of Helsinki). Participants took part voluntarily and provided written informed consent at the beginning of Session 1. They received either monetary compensation (32€ fixed amount) or course credit for their participation. Moreover, depending on their task performance, participants received money and a breakfast (cereal + chocolate bar).

Experimental procedure

The study was designed so that experimental sessions were conducted in a randomized, single-blind crossover fashion. Experimental session started between 7:00 am and 10:15 am and lasted about 2.5 h for each session. Participants were asked to fast overnight (>8 h hours prior to the visit). In the beginning of the first session, participants selected their preferred type of cereal out of four options (dried fruits, chocolate, cookies, or honey nut; Peter Kölln GmbH & Co. KGaA, Elmshorn, Germany). It was explained that participants would collect energy and money points depending on their performance in the effort allocation task. The participant's breakfast

serving would consist of cereal and milk scaled according to the energy points earned during the task. During the session, participants could drink water *ad libitum*.

First, participants completed a set of state ratings [27] followed by practice trials of the effort allocation task to estimate the maximum frequency of button presses for every individual. A blue ball depicted within a tube appeared on the screen for two initial trials of 10 s length each. By repeatedly pressing a button on the Xbox 360 controller (Microsoft Corporation, Redmond, WA) with their right (dominant) index finger, participants could move the ball upwards within the tube. A blue tangent line on the vertical axis was also moved by moving the ball upwards, marking the highest position reached by the ball so far. This line would depict the maximum frequency of button presses achieved so far ("peak") even when participants stopped pressing the button and remained at the highest position, in contrast to the ball. Participants were encouraged to push the line as high as they could. Next, participants completed a short practice analogous to the effort task consisting of eight trials that comprised all possible combinations of reward magnitude (low vs. high), difficulty (easy vs. hard), and reward type (food vs. money) presented in a randomized order including a short break after half of the trials. By use of these practice trials, the maximum frequency of button presses was updated if participants exceeded the previous level achieved during training. After completing the practice trials, participants received feedback about the reward they would have won as a reference for the following experiment (for details, see [14]).

After the tasks, participants received their breakfast and a snack according to the food reward ("energy") points earned. At the end of the first session, participants received their monetary wins as part of the compensation. Both sessions took place within a week (usually within 3-4 days), were conducted at approximately the same time, and followed the same standardized protocol. Participants either received monetary compensation ($32 \in$ fixed amount + wins of Session 2) or course credit (+ wins of Session 2) after the second session.

Effort allocation task

By exerting effort (i.e., repeatedly pressing a button with the right index finger), participants collected food and money tokens throughout the effort allocation task. Analogous to preclinical studies of lever pressing [17], the task used frequency of

button presses instead of grip force to measure physical effort (adapted from [13]). Tokens were exchanged for calories (cereal + chocolate bar as snack) or money at a rate of 1 kcal or 1 cent per 5 tokens at the end of the session.

A prospective reward, which could be either food (indicated by a cookie) or money (indicated by a coin), was presented for 1 s at the start of every trial. The magnitude of the reward at stake was varied as one symbol signaled a low magnitude (1 point/s) whereas several symbols indicated a high reward magnitude (10 points/s). Participants won 362.8 kcal and €3.78 per session on average. Following, a blue ball contained within a tube was presented on the screen. Participants were instructed to vertically move the ball above a certain difficulty level by repeatedly pressing a button on the controller with the right index finger to earn reward points. Difficulty corresponded to a relative frequency threshold and was indicated by a red line. Reward points were accumulated and tracked by a counter in the upper right corner of the screen (Figure 3) for every second that the ball was kept above the threshold (indicated by a change of color from dark to light blue). By alternating the red threshold line between 75% and 85% (counterbalanced order across participants) of the individual maximum frequency, difficulty was varied. We used a moving average algorithm with exponential weighting ($\lambda = 0.6$) to smooth the movement of the ball for display on screen. Hence, the ball fell quickly yet slowed down when participants stopped working or reduced the frequency.

Participants were presented sequentially with two visual analogue scales inquiring about exertion and wanting of the reward at stake after every effort phase of each of the 48 trials comprised in the task. Participants were encouraged to take breaks at their convenience to recover during trials, so that they could try to exceed the threshold again, as the task was too difficult to always keep the ball above the red line, as was emphasized in the instructions. Participants could take a short break to recuperate after completing the first half of the task. The total amount of tokens they had collected was shown on the screen after completing the task. Only completed sessions were rewarded in tokens. The task was presented using Psychophysics toolbox v3 [28] in MATLAB v2017a.



Figure 3. Schematic depiction of the effort allocation task. First, fixation cross is shown, followed by the reward cue. To earn reward, participants have to keep a ball above the red line by repeatedly pressing a button with their right index finger. Reward magnitude (low vs. high), difficulty (easy vs. hard), and reward type (food vs. money) were manipulated as task conditions. The lower left graph shows a representative time series of a high-difficulty trial, depicting effort output as button press rate, BPR, in % relative to the maximum frequency of the participant. Invigoration slopes captured how quickly participants reach effortful behavior during a trial to collect the reward. Effort maintenance relates to the average relative frequency on the trial. Figure taken from [14] under CC BY license (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/); no changes have been made to the figure.

BIS/BAS scale

We used the German version of the BIS/BAS scale [21], originally developed by Carver and White [19]. The BIS/BAS scale measures two motivational systems: the behavioral inhibition system (BIS), which corresponds to motivation to avoid aversive outcomes, and the behavioral activation system (BAS), which describes motivation to approach goal-oriented outcomes. The questionnaire has 24 items with 4-point Likert scale responses (from 1 = 'very true for me', to 4 = 'very false for me'). One of the four subscales correspond to the BIS and comprises items like 'I worry about making

mistakes' or 'I feel worried when I think I have done poorly at something'. The three components of BAS compose the remaining three subscales. BAS Drive measures the motivation to pursuit desired goals, e.g., 'I go out of my way to get things I want'. BAS Reward Responsiveness focuses on positive responses to pleasant reinforcers, e.g., 'When I'm doing well at something, I love to keep at it'. BAS Fun Seeking comprises items that measure the motivation to approach new rewards spontaneously, e.g., 'I crave excitement and new sensations'. We previously reported associations of invigoration and effort maintenance with BIS/BAS in the same sample, but did not examine sex differences [20].

Data analysis

To isolate the facets invigoration and effort maintenance, we divided the behavioral data into work and rest segments (see also [14]). Invigoration was estimated with the slope of the transition between relative frequency of button presses during a rest segment and their initial plateau during the following work segment (MATLAB findpeaks function). Effort maintenance was the average frequency of button presses during a trial capturing how much effort participants produce over time.

Invigoration and effort maintenance estimates at the trial level were then entered in a mixed-effects analysis as implemented in hierarchical linear models (HLM; [29]). We used two univariate mixed-effects models, as both outcomes were only moderately correlated, r = 0.286, 95% CI [0.25, 0.32]. We predicted either invigoration or effort maintenance using the following predictors: stimulation (sham vs. taVNS), reward magnitude (low vs. high), difficulty (easy vs. hard), reward type (food vs. money, all dummy coded), the interaction between reward magnitude × difficulty, as well as interactions of stimulation with all these terms. At the participant level, we included stimulation order, stimulation side (both mean centered), BMI, and sex. Intercepts and slopes were modeled as random effects to account for individual deviations from fixed group effects. As detailed in [14], the taVNS stimulation effect was accounted for by including stimulation condition (taVNS vs. sham) together with all interactions of stimulation side were controlled for at the participant level and results of the taVNS stimulation were already reported elsewhere [14]. We found no sex-specific effects of taVNS vs. sham, stimulation order, or stimulation side, and thus pooled both sessions in our current analysis.

Moreover, to assess specific associations of sex with the subjective ratings of wanting (related to benefits of action) and exertion (related to costs of action), we used mixed-effects models as implemented in R (ImerTest), predicting wanting or exertion as outcomes, respectively, and using sex and reward magnitude as predictors.

Statistical threshold and software

We used a two-tailed $\alpha \le .05$ for the analyses of our main research question: Do women and men differ in invigoration or effort maintenance? Mixed-effects analyses were conducted with HLM v7 [30] and ImerTest in R [31]. To determine the evidence for the alternative hypothesis provided by our results, we calculated corresponding BFs based on individual empirical Bayes estimates. Effort data was processed with MATLAB vR2017-2019a and SPSS v24. Results were plotted with R v4.1.0 (R Core Team, 2017).

Acknowledgement

We thank the study team for help with data acquisition. The study was supported by the University of Tübingen, Faculty of Medicine fortune grant #2453-0-0. NBK received additional support from the Daimler and Benz Foundation, grant 32-04/19, and the German Research Foundation, DFG grants KR 4555/7-1 and KR 4555/9-1. CL, MG and BD were supported by the German Research Foundation, DFG (DE2319/9-1, DE2319/22-1, DE2319/2-4).

Author contributions

NBK was responsible for the study concept and design and supervised data collection. NBK conceived the method and AK processed the data. CAL performed the data analysis and AK and NBK contributed to analyses. CAL wrote the manuscript, and MG contributed to the Methods section. All authors contributed to the interpretation of findings, provided critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content, and approved the final version for publication.

Data availability

Source data are provided with a previous publication [14]. Trial-based behavioral data that was used to conduct all analyses are publicly available on OSF:

https://osf.io/58r3c/?view_only=5d1ccee7d67b464bb6f40ebe7ebc844b

Financial disclosure

The authors declare no competing financial interests.

References

- 1 Westbrook, A. & Braver, T. S. Cognitive effort: A neuroeconomic approach. *Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci* **15**, 395-415, doi:10.3758/s13415-015-0334-y (2015).
- Phillips, P. E., Walton, M. E. & Jhou, T. C. Calculating utility: preclinical evidence for cost-benefit analysis by mesolimbic dopamine. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 191, 483-495, doi:10.1007/s00213-006-0626-6 (2007).
- 3 Rangel, A., Camerer, C. & Montague, P. R. A framework for studying the neurobiology of value-based decision making. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **9**, 545-556, doi:10.1038/nrn2357 (2008).
- 4 Zald, D. H. & Treadway, M. T. Reward Processing, Neuroeconomics, and Psychopathology. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol* **13**, 471-495, doi:10.1146/annurevclinpsy-032816-044957 (2017).
- 5 Ambrase, A., Lewis, C. A., Barth, C. & Derntl, B. Influence of ovarian hormones on value-based decision-making systems: Contribution to sexual dimorphisms in mental disorders. *Front Neuroendocrin* **60**, doi:ARTN 10087310.1016/j.yfrne.2020.100873 (2021).
- 6 Byrne, K. A. & Worthy, D. A. Gender differences in reward sensitivity and information processing during decision-making. *J Risk Uncertainty* **50**, 55-71, doi:10.1007/s11166-015-9206-7 (2015).
- 7 Cornwall, A. C., Byrne, K. A. & Worthy, D. A. Gender differences in preference for reward frequency versus reward magnitude in decision-making under uncertainty. *Pers Individ Dif* **135**, 40-44, doi:10.1016/j.paid.2018.06.031 (2018).
- 8 Lee, T. M. C., Chan, C. C. H., Leung, A. W. S., Fox, P. T. & Gao, J. H. Sex-Related Differences in Neural Activity during Risk Taking: An fMRI Study. *Cereb Cortex* **19**, 1303-1312, doi:10.1093/cercor/bhn172 (2009).
- 9 Byrnes, J. P., Miller, D. C. & Schafer, W. D. Gender differences in risk taking: A meta-analysis. *Psychol Bull* **125**, 367-383, doi:Doi 10.1037/0033-2909.125.3.367 (1999).
- 10 Evans, K. L. & Hampson, E. Sex-dependent effects on tasks assessing reinforcement learning and interference inhibition. *Frontiers in Psychology* **6**, doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01044 (2015).
- 11 Inzlicht, M., Shenhav, A. & Olivola, C. Y. The Effort Paradox: Effort Is Both Costly and Valued. *Trends Cogn Sci* **22**, 337-349, doi:10.1016/j.tics.2018.01.007 (2018).
- 12 Meyniel, F., Safra, L. & Pessiglione, M. How the Brain Decides When to Work and When to Rest: Dissociation of Implicit-Reactive from Explicit-Predictive Computational Processes. *Plos Computational Biology* **10**, doi:ARTN e100358410.1371/journal.pcbi.1003584 (2014).
- 13 Meyniel, F., Sergent, C., Rigoux, L., Daunizeau, J. & Pessiglione, M. Neurocomputational account of how the human brain decides when to have a break. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **110**, 2641-2646, doi:10.1073/pnas.1211925110 (2013).
- 14 Neuser, M. P. *et al.* Vagus nerve stimulation boosts the drive to work for rewards. *Nat Commun* **11**, 3555, doi:10.1038/s41467-020-17344-9 (2020).
- 15 Kroemer, N. B. *et al.* Balancing reward and work: anticipatory brain activation in NAcc and VTA predict effort differentially. *Neuroimage* **102** Pt **2**, 510-519, doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.07.060 (2014).

20

- 16 Treadway, M. T., Buckholtz, J. W., Schwartzman, A. N., Lambert, W. E. & Zald, D. H. Worth the 'EEfRT'? The Effort Expenditure for Rewards Task as an Objective Measure of Motivation and Anhedonia. *Plos One* 4, doi:ARTN e659810.1371/journal.pone.0006598 (2009).
- 17 Salamone, J. D., Yohn, S. E., Lopez-Cruz, L., San Miguel, N. & Correa, M. Activational and effort-related aspects of motivation: neural mechanisms and implications for psychopathology. *Brain* **139**, 1325-1347, doi:10.1093/brain/aww050 (2016).
- 18 Kroemer, N. B., Burrasch, C. & Hellrung, L. To work or not to work: Neural representation of cost and benefit of instrumental action. *Prog Brain Res* **229**, 125-157, doi:10.1016/bs.pbr.2016.06.009 (2016).
- 19 Carver, C. S. & White, T. L. Behavioral inhibition, behavioral activation, and affective responses to impending reward and punishment: the BIS/BAS scales. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* **67** (1994).
- 20 van den Hoek Ostende, M. M., Neuser, M. P., Teckentrup, V., Svaldi, J. & Kroemer, N. B. Can't decide how much to EAT? Effort variability for reward is associated with cognitive restraint. *Appetite* **159**, 105067, doi:10.1016/j.appet.2020.105067 (2021).
- 21 Strobel, A., Beauducel, A., Debener, S. & Brocke, B. Eine deutschsprachige Version des BIS/BAS-Fragebogens von Carver und White. [A German version of Carver and White's BIS/BAS scales.]. *Zeitschrift für Differentielle und Diagnostische Psychologie* **22**, 216-227 (2001).
- 22 Kahneman, D. Attention and effort. Vol. 1063 218-226 (Prentice Hall, 1973).
- 23 Inzlicht, M. & Campbell, A. V. Effort feels meaningful. *Trends Cogn Sci* **1364**-**6613** (2022).
- 24 Bigman, Y. E. & Tamir, M. The road to heaven is paved with effort: Perceived effort amplifies moral judgment. *J Exp Psychol Gen* **145**, 1654-1669, doi:10.1037/xge0000230 (2016).
- 25 Dik, G. & Aarts, H. Behavioral cues to others' motivation and goal pursuits: the perception of effort facilitates goal inference and contagion. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology* **43**, 727-737 (2007).
- Barth, C., Villringer, A. & Sacher, J. Sex hormones affect neurotransmitters and shape the adult female brain during hormonal transition periods. *Front Neurosci* 9, 37, doi:10.3389/fnins.2015.00037 (2015).
- 27 Ferstl, M. *et al.* Non-invasive vagus nerve stimulation boosts mood recovery after effort exertion. *Psychol Med*, 1-11, doi:10.1017/S0033291720005073 (2021).
- Brainard, D. H. The Psychophysics Toolbox. *Spat Vis* **10**, 433-436 (1997).
- 29 Raudenbush, S. W. & Bryk, A. S. *Hierarchical Linear Models: Applications and Data Analysis Methods.* (Sage, 2002).
- 30 Raudenbush, S. W., Bryk, A. S., Cheong, Y. F., Congdon, R. T. & Du Toit, M. *HLM 7*. (Scientific Software International Inc, 2011).
- 31 Kuznetsova, A., Brockhoff, P. B. & Christensen, R. H. B. ImerTest package: tests in linear mixed effect models. *Journal of Statistical Software* **82**, 1-26 (2017).

2.3. No differences in Value-Based Decision-Making Due to Use of Oral Contraceptives

Published in:

Lewis, C. A., Kimmig, A.-C. S., Kroemer N. B., Pooseh, S., Smolka, M. N., Sacher, J., Derntl, B. (2022). No Differences in Value-Based Decision-Making Due to Use of Oral Contraceptives. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 13: 817825.



No Differences in Value-Based Decision-Making Due to Use of Oral Contraceptives

Carolin A. Lewis^{1,2,3*}, Ann-Christin S. Kimmig^{1,4}, Nils B. Kroemer¹, Shakoor Pooseh^{5,6}, Michael N. Smolka⁵, Julia Sacher^{2,7} and Birgit Derntl¹

¹ Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Tübingen Center for Mental Health (TüCMH), University of Tuebingen, Tuebingen, Germany, ² Emotion Neuroimaging Lab, Max Planck Institute for Human Cognitive and Brain Sciences, Leipzig, Germany, ³ International Max Planck Research School on Neuroscience of Communication: Function, Structure, and Plasticity, Leipzig, Germany, ⁴ International Max Planck Research School for Cognitive and Systems Neuroscience, University of Tuebingen, Tuebingen, Germany, ⁵ Department of Psychiatry, Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, Germany, ⁶ Freiburg Center for Data Analysis and Modeling, Albert-Ludwigs-Universität Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany, ⁷ Clinic for Cognitive Neurology, University of Leipzig, Leipzig, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rachida Guennoun, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (INSERM), France

Reviewed by:

Janine Bayer, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Germany Laura A. Pritschet, University of California, Santa Barbara, United States

*Correspondence:

Carolin A. Lewis carolin.lewis@med.uni-tuebingen.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuroendocrine Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 18 November 2021 Accepted: 11 March 2022 Published: 22 April 2022

Citation:

Lewis CA, Kimmig A-CS, Kroemer NB, Pooseh S, Smolka MN, Sacher J and Derntl B (2022) No Differences in Value-Based Decision-Making Due to Use of Oral Contraceptives. Front. Endocrinol. 13:817825. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.817825 Fluctuating ovarian hormones have been shown to affect decision-making processes in women. While emerging evidence suggests effects of endogenous ovarian hormones such as estradiol and progesterone on value-based decision-making in women, the impact of exogenous synthetic hormones, as in most oral contraceptives, is not clear. In a between-subjects design, we assessed measures of value-based decision-making in three groups of women aged 18 to 29 years, during (1) active oral contraceptive intake (N = 22), (2) the early follicular phase of the natural menstrual cycle (N = 20), and (3) the periovulatory phase of the natural menstrual cycle (N = 20). Estradiol, progesterone, testosterone, and sex-hormone binding globulin levels were assessed in all groups via blood samples. We used a test battery which measured different facets of value-based decision-making: delay discounting, risk-aversion, risk-seeking, and loss aversion. While hormonal levels did show the expected patterns for the three groups, there were no differences in value-based decision-making parameters. Consequently, Bayes factors showed conclusive evidence in support of the null hypothesis. We conclude that women on oral contraceptives show no differences in value-based decision-making compared to the early follicular and periovulatory natural menstrual cycle phases.

Keywords: oral contraceptives, ovarian hormones, value-based decision-making, impulsive choice, delay discounting, probability discounting, risk, loss

INTRODUCTION

Our everyday life is determined by the decisions and choices which we have made or did not make – no matter how big or small. To make these decisions, we often draw on the cognitive process of value-based decision-making. In this complex cognitive process, potential rewards are balanced against their potential costs, i.e., a certain delay or probability of obtaining or losing something. Value-based decision-making comprises different facets, in which the dimensions amount, delay, or

50

probability differ (1). We speak of *delay discounting* if a person is faced with the decision between a smaller, sooner reward and a larger, later reward. Risk-aversion/seeking and loss aversion are captured in *probability discounting* which is a decision between a sooner, small certain reward (or loss) and a later, less certain but larger reward (or loss). Choice behavior is considered more impulsive if a person tends to choose smaller, sooner rewards over larger, later rewards.

Women and men differ in some aspects of value-based decisionmaking [for review, see Ambrase et al. (2)]. For example, women show bias towards frequent but smaller rewards, while men tend to maximize rewards even if their strategy is not optimal. Women also tend to regret suboptimal changes in their decision-making strategy and thus are more sensitive to information about previous rewards (3-5). Emerging evidence suggests that ovarian hormones, such as estradiol and progesterone, affect value-based decision-making in women (2). Ovarian hormones fluctuate across the menstrual cycle [~ 28 days; Bull et al. (6)]: In the *follicular* phase, both estradiol and progesterone levels are low in the beginning, with estradiol slowly rising and surging before ovulation (periovulatory phase, ~ day 14). Following ovulation, estradiol and progesterone rise again in the luteal phase, peaking bluntly. It has been shown that women made more impulsive choices in the early follicular phase, i.e., when both estradiol and progesterone were low, while at the same time women were less likely to wait for a higher reward, compared with the periovulatory phase (7). Similarly, women were also less sensitive for immediate rewards with rising estradiol levels, but this effect was mainly driven by women with lower frontal dopamine levels (8). Hence, decision-making processes may be affected by the interaction between ovarian hormones and neurotransmitter systems involved in decision-making especially the dopaminergic system (9).

While most studies focused on menstrual cycle related effects on decision-making as the menstrual cycle provides a natural experimental model for investigating influences of endogenous ovarian hormones in women, we know only little about possible effects of exogenous ovarian hormones, such as in oral contraceptives (OCs). More than 100 million women worldwide use OCs (10), as OC-use provides an effective option for contraception as well as for managing cycle-related physiological symptoms. While the physiological side effects of OC-use are relatively well understood (e.g., cardiovascular risk), only little research has been dedicated to the effects of OCs on behavior, brain function or their association with psychopathology [but see (11-14)]. Steep delay discounting, risk-seeking and insensitivity to loss characterize mental disorders such as attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (15), bipolar disorders (16), or substance use disorders (17). To give but one example, substance use disorders are two times more prevalent in men than in women (18), but women show more severe illness courses [for review see Becker (19)]. In women, drug use escalates more quickly and shows patterns of bingeing more often; moreover, women have poorer outcomes regarding quitting and treatment (20, 21). Evidence from rodent and human studies suggests that effects of ovarian hormones on underlying mechanisms of decision-making contribute to these differences (as reviewed by 2): Women have higher ratings of craving and show greater subjective responses to drug stimuli in the follicular phase compared with the luteal phase. However, a recent review of the relationship between OC-use and smoking-related symptoms found only mixed results, e.g., for craving, and could not report about any published data on OCuse and smoking cessation outcomes (22). Given the fact that one out of four smokers use OCs and that OC-use is related to increased nicotine metabolism (22), further research is needed to explore hormonal treatment developments and, more specifically, to investigate potential benefit/harm and secondary effects of OC-intake.

The most widely prescribed OCs contain a synthetic estrogen (ethinyl estradiol) and a synthetic progesterone (progestin) (10). These combined formulations prevent pregnancies by inhibiting ovulation because endogenous estradiol and progesterone fluctuations are suppressed. While endogenous estradiol and progesterone levels are constantly low in OC-users (23, 24), exogenous hormone levels are on a steadily high level (25). This substitution with higher-affinity, synthetic hormones has been shown to lead to structural brain differences in OC-users compared with naturally cycling women: e.g., OC-users had smaller right putamen volumes (26) as well as lower thickness of the lateral orbitofrontal cortex and the posterior cingulate cortex (27). Especially the lateral orbitofrontal cortex region is essential for the cognitive control of behavior, including response inhibition to stimuli with changing reward value (28). Besides its impact on brain structure, OC-use has also been found to increase resting state functional connectivity in the salience network, central executive network, reward network, as well as in the subcortical limbic network (26), which provides a mechanistic insight for putatively altered value-based decision-making in OC-users.

Overall, results from studies investigating the impact of OCs on value-based decision-making are mixed [for review, see Lewis et al. (29)]. OC-users were more sensitive to monetary rewards and had enhanced blood-oxygen level dependent (BOLD) responses during reward expectation in the anterior insula and inferior prefrontal cortex compared with naturally cycling women (30). Another study found greater neural activation in the amygdala, putamen, and executive frontal areas to food stimuli in OC-users compared with naturally cycling women in the follicular phase, but no differences between OC-users and naturally cycling women in the luteal phase (31). However, these studies were limited by their small sample size [N = 24; (30)] or lack of behavioral outcome measures (31). Two other studies found blunted reward responses in OC-users compared with naturally cycling women: Scheele et al. (32) reported enhanced attractiveness ratings of the partner's face together with increased BOLD responses in nucleus accumbens and ventral tegmental area in naturally cycling women after oxytocin administration, but not in OC-users. Jakob et al. (33) found that only naturally cycling women showed a significant effect of polymorphisms of the dopamine transporter (DAT1-genotype) on reinforcement learning, while OC-using women did not show any such behavioral variations according to DAT1-genotype differences. Especially the latter study provides a first hypothesis about how decision-making processes may be affected by the interaction

between ovarian hormones and neurotransmitter systems involved in decision-making, namely the dopaminergic system. Based on these previous studies, we expect OC-users to show differences in value-based decision-making compared with naturally cycling women. However, we cannot hypothesize the direction of this difference, i.e., if OC-users show more or less impulsive decision-making compared with naturally cycling women.

To this end, we investigated value-based decision-making in women using OCs and compared this group with two other groups of naturally cycling women with different hormonal profiles. In this study, three groups of women underwent a value-based decision-making test battery (34), which measured different facets of value-based decision-making: delay discounting, risk-seeking for gains/losses, and loss aversion. The three hormonal profile groups comprised (1) women using OCs (active pill intake, OC group), (2) women in the early follicular phase (days 2-5 of their cycle, fNC group), and (3) women during the periovulatory phase (± 3 days around ovulation, oNC group). Based on the literature reported earlier, we hypothesized (a) less impulsive choices in the fNC group compared with the oNC group, and (b) differences in valuebased decision-making between the OC-group and both naturally cycling groups; the direction of this difference, however, remained exploratory.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Sample Description

A total of 67 healthy female students were recruited from the University of Tübingen and participated in the study. We excluded five participants: three women did not show a luteinizing hormone (LH) surge in the predefined time frame, two women used progestogen-only contraception or recently switched the OC brand. The remaining 62 participants formed three hormonal profile groups, (1) the OC group (n = 22, mean age = 22 ± 2), (2) the fNC group (n = 20, mean age = 22 ± 3), and (3) the oNC group (n = 20, mean age = 24 ± 4). Inclusion criteria were 18-35 years of age, no history of any neurological or mental disorders and no (other) hormonal treatment within the past three months. For the OC group, we included women using monophasic OCs (containing a synthetic estrogen and a synthetic progesterone; an overview of the oral contraceptives and their compounds used by the study participants can be found in Supplementary Table 2) for at least six months (mean duration: 3.3 years \pm 1.7 years) and measured them during their active pill intake phase (days 2-21). Inclusion criteria for the fNC and oNC groups were an average cycle length of 21-35 days and no hormonal contraception for the past six months. We tested women in the oNC group during their fertile period, i.e., \pm 3 days around the detection of the LH peak (predicting ovulation within 2 days, using NADAL hLH ovulation strips, nal von minden GmbH, Moers/Germany). Women in the oNC group reported the first day of bleeding after the measurement to confirm the test results. We measured women in the fNC group on days 2-5 of their menstruation. All women were comparable in age, verbal intelligence, and executive functioning. Table 1 shows all sociodemographic and neuropsychological characteristics as well as the serum hormone profiles.

Experimental Procedure

After we received written informed consent from participants, we checked all inclusion and exclusion criteria and asked for menstrual cycle features, OC intake history, as well as gynecological characteristics (e.g., premenstrual syndrome, pregnancies, endometriosis, polycystic ovary syndrome etc.). The German version of the Structured Clinical Interview

TABLE 1 | Sample description (mean and standard deviation) and hormone profiles per hormonal profile group.

Demographic information and questionnaires	oc	fNC	oNC	<i>p</i> -value
N	22	20	20	
Age (years)	22 (2)	22 (3)	24 (4)	.208
Impulsiveness (BIS-15)	29.0 (6.4)	28.7 (5.1)	33.0 (7.0)	.058 [†]
State anxiety (STAI)	34.9 (9.6)	33.2 (4.8)	33.1 (7.0)	.99
Positive mood (PANAS)	31.9 (6.0)	31.2 (6.2)	30.3 (7.2)	.72
Negative mood (PANAS)	13.8 (4.2)	12.9 (4.0)	12.7 (4.6)	.44
Verbal intelligence (WST)	31.8 (3.2)	32.5 (2.4)	31.7 (3.6)	.69
Executive functioning	15.5 (9.5)	15.1 (13.5)	16.2 (12.5)	.96
(TMTB-A in sec)				
Hormone profiles	oc	fNC	oNC	<i>p</i> -value
Estradiol (pmol/l)	67.0 (30.1)	165.9 (45.8)	516.7 (352.2)	<.001,
				OC = fNC < oNC
Progesterone (nmol/l)	1.3 (0.7)	2.1 (0.9)	6.6 (8.0)	< .001 ,
				OC = fNC < oNC
Testosterone (nmol/l)	0.8 (0.2)	1.1 (0.3)	1.2 (0.3)	<.001,
				OC < fNC = oNC
SHBG (nmol/l)	182.0 (107.1)	65.1 (33.0)	53.9 (23.2)	< .001 ,
				OC > fNC = oNC

OC, women using oral contraceptives; fNC, naturally cycling women in the early follicular phase; oNC, naturally cycling women during periovulatory phase; BIS-15, German short version of the Barrat Impulsiveness Scale; STAI, State-Trait Anxiety Inventory; PANAS, Positive and Negative Affect Scale; WST, Wortschatztest; TMTB-A, Trail Making Test; SHBG, sex hormone binding globulin; bold values indicate statistically significant differences; [†]Marginally significant.

Value-Based Decision-Making in Oral Contraceptive Users

[SCID; Wittchen et al. (35)] was used to exclude any history of mental disorder. Neuropsychological tests comprised verbal intelligence [Wortschatztest WST; Schmidt and Metzler (36)] and executive functioning [trail making test TMT; Reitan (37)]. Affective functioning was assessed with the Positive and Negative Affect Scale [PANAS; Watson et al. (38)], state anxiety with the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory [STAI; Laux et al. (39)]. Impulsiveness was assessed with the German short version of the Barrat Impulsiveness Scale [BIS-15; Meule et al. (40)]. Thereafter, participants underwent the value-based decisionmaking battery (34), as well as two other behavioral tasks (Tübinger Empathy Test and a sexual approach avoidance task; reported in (41). The Ethics committee of the Medical Faculty of Tübingen approved the study.

Value-Based Decision-Making Battery

The value-based decision-making battery measured different facets of impulsive choice, which were implemented in four tasks: delay discounting, probability discounting for gains, probability discounting for losses, and mixed gambles (34).

Participants repeatedly had to decide for one of two offers, which were presented simultaneously on a computer screen for 5 seconds. Offers were randomly assigned to the left or to the right of the screen and participants had to decide by pressing the respective button. For each trial, the participant's choice was indicated with a frame before presenting the next offer. The test battery took about 20 minutes. All task choices were hypothetical and participants were not informed about outcomes. Since hypothetical monetary rewards have been shown to produce similar results as real monetary rewards [e.g., (42, 43)], participants were paid a fixed amount of money for compensation after completing the test battery.

The delay discounting (DD) task consisted of 50 trials in which participants had to choose between a smaller, immediate amount of money and a larger, later amount $(3-50 \notin$; delays of 3 days, 1 week, 2 weeks, 1 month, 2 months, 6 months or 1 year). This task measured the extent to which individuals discount rewards as a function of delay, where stronger discounting is described by higher k values.

In the probability discounting for gains (PDG) and probability discounting for losses (PDL) tasks, participants had to decide between a small, but sure gain or loss of money and a larger amount of money with changing probabilities (3-50 \in , probabilities of 2/3, 1/2, 1/3, 1/4, 1/5; 50 trials respectively). The PDG task measured risk-aversion, described by the preference for sure over probabilistic amounts, which is indicated by higher k values. Higher k values in the PDL task describe a preference for the probabilistic offer over the certain one and therefore captured risk-seeking.

In the mixed gambles (MG) task, participants had to gamble for winning $(1-40 \in)$ or losing $(5-20 \in)$ money or to reject to gamble over the course of 50 trials. This task measured loss aversion. Higher λ values resulted from participants who tended to reject gambles and therefore weighed losses relatively higher.

The tasks used a trial-by-trial adaptive Bayesian approach, that allows an efficient and precise estimation of the impulsive choice parameters k or λ (34). After each trial, the individual

indifference point is estimated based on previous choices and informs the options in the next trial. Additionally, a consistency parameter β was computed for each task. Large values of β describe consistent choices, i.e., a higher probability of choosing the option with a higher value; small values of β represent inconsistent choices. The mathematical modeling and parameter estimation for the four tasks can be found in the **Supplementary Material**, together with the posterior distributions of the estimated parameters k and λ .

The value-based decision-making battery, including instructions, binary choices, outcomes, and the parameter estimation algorithm was implemented using MATLAB, Release 2010a (The MathWorks, Inc., Natick, MA) and Psychotoolbox 3.0.10, based on the Psychophysics Toolbox extensions (44, 45).

Hormone Sampling and Analysis

Blood levels of estradiol, progesterone, testosterone, and sex hormone binding globulin (SHBG) were assessed to confirm cycle phase and inter-individual differences in sex steroid concentrations. Samples were analyzed using chemiluminescence immunoassays (CLIA; Centaur, Siemens). Measurement units were nmol/l for progesterone, testosterone and SHBG, and pmol/l for estradiol. The analytical sensitivity of the assays is 27.2 pmol/l for estradiol, 0.67 nmol/l for progesterone, 0.09 nmol/l for testosterone, and 1.6 nmol/l for SHBG. For the intra-assay accuracy, the maximum coefficient of variation is 11.1% for estradiol, 12.4% for progesterone, 8.5% for testosterone, and 3.8% for SHBG. The reported overall variation of the assays is 13.3% for estradiol, 12.7% for progesterone, 12.6% for testosterone, and 6.5% for SHBG.

Data Analysis

Analyses were conducted using R version 3.6.2 (46), using parametric statistical methods with two-tailed significance at p <.05. We used log transformations of k, λ , and β to fulfill the assumptions of parametric testing; BIS-15 total scores were centered to the mean. Mean differences between groups in age, questionnaire data, and hormonal profiles were analyzed using univariate ANOVAs. Each task of the battery (DD, PDG, PDL, and MG) was analyzed in separate univariate ANOVAs, with group (OC, fNC, and oNC) as between-subjects factor and η_p^2 as a measure of effect size. In an exploratory analysis, we also included BIS-15 scores as covariate. We used Pearson's r to characterize the correlations between k/λ and β . We conducted a sensitivity power analysis using G*Power version 3.1.9.4 (47) to calculate the critical population effect size with 80% power. Our remaining sample (N = 62) was sufficiently powered to detect a small to medium effect ($f^2 = 0.21$).

RESULTS

Demographics and Hormone Concentrations

The hormonal profile groups did not differ in age, mood and anxiety scores, verbal intelligence, and executive functioning (**Table 1**). Impulsiveness differed marginally between groups, as

measured with the BIS-15 questionnaire, F(2,59) = 2.99, p = .058. Hormone concentrations varied as expected across the hormonal phases which were examined (Table 1 and **Figure 1**): estradiol, F(2,59) = 28.08, p < .001, progesterone, F(2,59) = 7.95, p < .001, testosterone, F(2,59) = 15.95, p < .001, and SHBG, F(2,59) = 23.28, p < .001 (Supplementary Table 3 contains single serum hormone profiles for all participants).

Delay Discounting

Running a one-way ANOVA with group as betweensubjects factor, we found no significant group effect for the DD task, F(2,59) = .59, p = .560, $\eta_p^2 = .019$ (**Figure 2**). Adding BIS-15 as a covariate did not show any association with parameter k (delay discounting), F(3,58) = .42, p = .738.

To substantiate the null effect observed in the DD task, a Bayesian analysis approach using the Bayesian information criterion BIC (as described by 48) was applied to allow for the evaluation of the probability of the null hypothesis being true (i.e., that there is no difference between the groups). We provide a detailed description of the approach in the Supplementary Material. Bayesian analyses revealed that the probability of the null hypothesis was $p_{\rm BIC}$ = .97. According to criteria suggested by Masson [see also (49)], this reflects strong evidence for the null hypothesis (.50-.75 weak,.75-.95 positive,.95-.99 strong, >.99 very strong).

Correlation analyses showed significant correlations of k and β for the fNC (*r* = -.48, *p* = .033) and oNC (*r* = -.51, *p* = .021) groups, but not for the OC group (r = -.02, p = .919; Figure 3). In other words, stronger discounting correlated with more inconsistent choices for the naturally cycling groups (fNC and oNC), but not for the OC group. However, the correlation coefficients between groups did not differ significantly (fNC vs. OC, z = 1.51, p = .13; fNC vs. oNC, z = 0.12, p = .91; oNC vs. OC, z = 1.63, p = .1; Bonferroni-corrected at $\alpha = .017$).

Probability Discounting of Gains

We found no significant differences between groups for the PDG task, using a one-way ANOVA with group as between-subjects factor, F(2,59) = .55, p = .560, $\eta_p^2 = .019$ (**Figure 2**). Adding BIS-15 as a covariate did not show any association with parameter k (risk-aversion), F(3,58) = 1.17, p = .330.

For the PDG task, Bayesian analyses revealed that the probability of the null hypothesis was $p_{BIC} = .97$. This reflects strong evidence for the null hypothesis.

Correlation analyses showed no significant correlations of k and β for any of the groups (OC r = -.13, fNC r = .05, oNC r = -.33; all p > .05).

Probability Discounting of Losses

Running a one-way ANOVA with group as between-subjects factor, we found no significant group effect for the PDL task, F(2,59) = .67, p = .517, $\eta_p^2 = .022$ (Figure 2). Adding BIS-15 as a covariate did not show any association with parameter k (risk-seeking), F(3,58) = .44, p = .722.

For the PDL task, Bayesian analyses revealed that the probability of the null hypothesis was $p_{BIC} = .97$. This reflects strong evidence for the null hypothesis.

Correlation analyses showed no significant correlations of k and β for any of the groups, (OC r = .15, fNC r = -.10, oNC r = .14; all p > .05).

Mixed Gambles

We found no significant differences between groups for the MG task, running a one-way ANOVA with group as between-subjects factor, F(2,59) = 1.83, p = .169, $\eta_p^2 = .058$ (Figure 2). BIS-15 as a covariate was significantly associated with parameter λ (loss aversion) for all three groups, F(3,58) = 2.87, p = .044, $\eta_p^2 = .071$ (Figure 4). This means that less impulsive participants tended to reject gambles and therefore weighed losses higher, regardless in which group they were in.

For the MG task, Bayesian analyses revealed that the probability of the null hypothesis was $p_{BIC} = .91$. This reflects positive evidence for the null hypothesis.

Correlation analyses showed no significant correlations of λ and β for any of the groups, (OC *r* = -.33, fNC 22*r* = -.09, oNC r = -.12; all p > .05).

In the present study, we investigated value-based decision-

making in women with different hormonal profiles. We

DISCUSSION



binding globulin (SHBG) in nmol/l. OC, women using OCs; fNC, women in the early follicular phase; oNC, women during periovulatory phase. Whiskers indicate variability outside the upper and lower quartiles, '*' denote significance levels at p < .05.



measured the value-based decision-making constructs delay discounting (DD), risk-seeking for gains (PDG) and losses (PDL), and loss aversion (MG). The three groups did not differ in the main outcome parameters k for the DD, PDG, and PDL tasks, and λ for the MG task. We substantiated these null effects using a Bayesian analysis approach, which reflected positive to strong evidence for the null hypothesis, i.e., that there are no differences between groups. The BIS-15 total score as a covariate was not associated with the k parameters of the DD, PDG, and PDL tasks, only with parameter λ (loss aversion) of the MG task. Here, more impulsive participants in all groups tended to reject gambles, which means that they weighed uncertain losses higher than uncertain gains. In a more exploratory fashion, we also ran correlation analyses between k and β to learn more about decision behavior. For the DD task, k and β significantly correlated for the fNC and the oNC groups, but not for the OC group. This means that in naturally cycling women, steeper discounting correlated with more inconsistent choice behavior - but not in women using OCs. Inconsistent choices describe a lower probability of choosing the option with a higher value.

Based on the current literature, we hypothesized (a) less impulsive choices in the fNC group compared with the oNC group, and (b) differences in value-based decision-making between the OC-group and both naturally cycling groups; however, the direction of this difference remained exploratory. Our results did not confirm these hypotheses. One explanation might be the relative scarcity of studies investigating value-based decision-making in different hormonal profile groups. Therefore, formulating straightforward hypotheses might have been premature. Most results so far came from small samples [e.g., Bonenberger et al. (30)], using different tasks, characterizing hormonal profile groups differently [for review, see (29)], and, in general, replication studies are missing [but see Diekhof et al. (50)]. Diekhof et al. (50) replicated results from a withinsubjects design in a between-subjects design and showed that avoidance learning capacity is reduced when women were in the high estradiol state of the late follicular phase as compared to the mid luteal phase with more progesterone influence. Although this probabilistic feedback learning task differed in some aspects to the task battery used in our study, the

similarity between these tasks lies in maximizing reward by choosing a certain option and, thus, falls within the concept of value-based decision-making. The study by Diekhof et al. (50) not only supports that choice behavior is influenced by hormonal fluctuations, but also confirms the use of between-subjects designs in studies investigating different hormonal states.

Still, in the present study we did not find an effect of different hormonal states on value-based decision-making, especially no difference between the naturally cycling groups and the OC group. One explanation might be a possible hormone-genotype interaction. Jakob et al. (33) investigated how estradiol levels and polymorphisms of the dopamine transporter (DAT1) interact: only naturally cycling women showed a significant effect of DAT1-genotype on reinforcement learning, i.e., a decrease in the ability to avoid punishment with rising estradiol levels in 9RP carriers, while OC-using women did not show any such behavioral variations according to DAT1-genotype differences. This hints at a first hypothesis about how decision-making processes may be affected by the interaction between ovarian hormones and neurotransmitter systems involved in decisionmaking, namely the dopaminergic system. In the same vein, Jacobs and D'Esposito (51) showed how the interaction between baseline dopamine and estradiol can shape prefrontal cortex dependent working memory performance across the cycle. Here, the effect of estradiol was beneficial or detrimental, depending on the catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) genotype, which is involved in metabolizing released dopamine. However, this coupling seems to work differently in women using OCs, leading to no observable variation in behavior (33). The hypothesis of more general differences between naturally cycling women and women using OCs is still uptrend and has been confirmed for several cognitive and behavioral processes [emotion recognition: (13, 52-54); memory performance: (55); fear conditioning and extinction: (56)], however, based on our results, it might not hold true for value-based decision-making.

Evidence increasingly points to considerable effects on brain circuitry and structure following administration of metabolic hormones in form of OC-use [e.g., (26, 27, 57)], however, we do not fully understand the action of OCs on brain and behavior.



FIGURE 3 | Relationship between the parameters k and β of the delay discounting task per group. Correlation analyses showed significant correlations of k and β for the fNC (r = -.48, p = .033) and oNC (r = -.51, p = .021) groups, but not for the OC group (r = -.02, p = .919; **Figure 3**). However, the correlation coefficients between groups did not differ significantly (fNC vs. OC, z = 1.51, p = .13; fNC vs. oNC, z = 0.12, p = .91; oNC vs. OC, z = 1.63, p = .1; Bonferroni-corrected at $\alpha = .017$). Each dot represents an individual subject. OC, women using OCs; fNC, women in the early follicular phase; oNC, women during periovulatory phase.



The present null finding extends the scarce literature on OCeffects on value-based decision-making, especially on the behavioral level. Here, we found no differences between naturally cycling women and women using OCs in making value-based decisions. This result is important for understanding female-specific development, maintenance, and treatment trajectories in mental disorders which are characterized by steep delay discounting, risk-seeking, and insensitivity to loss, as e.g., reported in patients with substance use disorders. It is just as important to know if and how OC-use impacts behavior related to mental health as well as to highlight which behavior is potentially not affected. Still, further research is needed to investigate potential benefit/harm as well as secondary effects of OC-intake on female behavior.

Limitations

Some limitations have to be noted for the present study. We only used hypothetical monetary rewards. Although hypothetical monetary rewards have been shown to produce similar results as real monetary rewards [e.g., (42, 43)], it would have also been interesting to use real monetary rewards as well as food stimuli. Moreover, we used a relatively new task approach, which has only been used by few studies so far [e.g., (58)]. However, this new approach for adaptive parameter estimation and offer presentation is quick, reliable, and outperforms the most widely used classical approaches.

Also, OC-users in our study had a quite varying mean intake duration of 3.3 years \pm 1.7 years. We ruled out a possible impact of these varying intake durations on the results of our study by correlating duration of OC-use with task performance (DD *r* = -.16, PDG *r* = -.12, PDL *r* = .42, MG *r* = -.33; all *p* >.05).

Another limitation is that we only tested young female university students, a group with a presumably very good ability to wait for rewards in the first place. They probably did not differ much in the tested value-based decision-making facets at baseline. One solution would be to use a within-subjects design. However, Diekhof et al. (50) could replicate their results of a within-subjects design in a between-subjects design on avoidance learning capacity and therefore provide first evidence for using between-subjects designs in studies investigating influences of different hormonal states.

Another limitation concerning the study design is that we compared OC-users only with the early follicular and periovulatory phases of naturally cycling women, and not with the luteal phase. Firstly, we aimed at contrasting naturally cycling women, i.e., women with a fluctuating hormonal milieu, with women which do not have hormonal fluctuations, at least over certain period, i.e., during active pill intake. Secondly, we further divided the naturally cycling women in a group with overall low endogenous hormone levels, here the fNC group, and a group with high endogenous estradiol levels, here the oNC group, as we had specific hypotheses based on prior knowledge about the impact of endogenous estradiol on value-based decision-making [e.g., (7, 8)]. The luteal phase of the menstrual cycle shows elevated levels of both estradiol and progesterone, which makes it difficult to disentangle specific effects of either one. To this end, we decided to measure a group with overall low endogenous hormone levels (fNC group) and a group with high endogenous estradiol levels only (oNC group), and compare these groups with women with overall low endogenous hormone levels and high exogenous hormone levels (OC group). Therefore, we could ground our hypotheses about the naturally cycling groups on existing literature on estradiol effects on decision-making and

focus on the rather exploratory hypotheses about OC effects in this domain. To substantiate the null findings in our study, we encourage to use larger sample sizes and measure women in a longitudinal design, e.g., a naturally cycling group measured at several time-points during the menstrual cycle in comparison with OC-users measured across a similar time-scale.

Conclusion

We investigated the impact of different hormonal profiles on the value-based decision-making constructs delay discounting, risk-aversion, risk-seeking, and loss aversion in women. The three groups – early follicular, periovulatory, and OC-using women – did not differ in the main outcome parameters. We underpinned these null effects using a Bayesian analysis approach, i.e., that there are no differences between groups. While more general differences between naturally cycling women and women using OCs have been confirmed for several cognitive and behavioral processes, it might not be the case for value-based decision-making. Understanding the influence of endogenous and exogenous hormones is important in the context of mental disorders with a focus on decision-making deficits and a known sexual dimorphism.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics committee of the Medical Faculty of Tübingen. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CL, NK, MS, JS, and BD designed the study. SP designed the task. CL and A-CK coordinated the study and acquired the data, which CL analyzed. NK, SP, and MS critically revised the analysis. CL wrote the article, which all authors reviewed. All authors approved the final version to be published and can certify that no other individuals not listed as authors have made substantial contributions to the paper.

FUNDING

CL and JS were supported by The Branco Weiss Fellowship – Society in Science, National Association for Research on Schizophrenia and Depression (NARSAD) Young Investigator Grant 25032 from the Brain & Behavior Research Foundation, and by a Minerva Research Group grant from the Max Planck Society (all awarded to JS). CL, A-CK, and BD were supported by the German Research Foundation, DFG (DE2319/9-1, DE2319/2-4). NK was supported by the University of Tübingen, Faculty of Medicine fortune grant #2453-0-0 and the Daimler and Benz Foundation, grant 32-04/19. SP and MS were supported by the German Res earch Foundation (DFG: Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, project numbers 178833530 [SFB 940: Volition and Cognitive Control: Mechanisms, Modulators and Dysfunctions], and 402170461 [TRR 265: Losing and Regaining Control over Drug Intake: Trajectories, Mechanisms, and Interventions])

REFERENCES

- Green L, Myerson J. A Discounting Framework for Choice With Delayed and Probabilistic Rewards. *Psychol Bull* (2004) 130(5):769–92. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.130.5.769
- Ambrase A, Lewis CA, Barth C, Derntl B. Influence of Ovarian Hormones on Value-Based Decision-Making Systems: Contribution to Sexual Dimorphisms in Mental Disorders. *Front Neuroendocrinol* (2021) 60:100873. doi: 10.1016/ j.yfrne.2020.100873
- Byrne KA, Worthy DA. Gender Differences in Reward Sensitivity and Information Processing During Decision-Making. J Risk Uncertain (2015) 50(1):55–71. doi: 10.1007/s11166-015-9206-7
- Cornwall AC, Byrne KA, Worthy DA. Gender Differences in Preference for Reward Frequency Versus Reward Magnitude in Decision-Making Under Uncertainty. *Pers Individ Dif* (2018) 135:40–4. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2018.06.031
- Lee TMC, Chan CCH, Leung AWS, Fox PT, Gao JH. Sex-Related Differences in Neural Activity During Risk Taking: An fMRI Study. *Cereb Cortex* (2009) 19(6):1303–12. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhn172
- Bull JR, Rowland SP, Scherwitzl EB, Scherwitzl R, Danielsson KG, Harper J. Real-world Menstrual Cycle Characteristics Of More Than 600,000 Menstrual Cycles. NPJ Digit Med (2019) 2 (1):1–8. doi: 10.1038/s41746-019-0152-7.
- Diekhof EK. Be Quick About it. Endogenous Estradiol Level, Menstrual Cycle Phase and Trait Impulsiveness Predict Impulsive Choice in the Context of Reward Acquisition. *Horm Behav* (2015) 74:186–93. doi: 10.1016/ j.yhbeh.2015.06.001
- Smith CT, Sierra Y, Oppler SH, Boettiger CA. Ovarian Cycle Effects on Immediate Reward Selection Bias in Humans: A Role for Estradiol. *J Neurosci* (2014) 34(16):5468–76. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0014-14.2014
- Barth C, Villringer A, Sacher J. Sex Hormones Affect Neurotransmitters and Shape the Adult Female Brain During Hormonal Transition Periods. *Front Neurosci* (2015) 9:37. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00037
- United Nations. Trends in Contraceptive Use Worldwide 2015. New York: United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs. (ST/ESA/SER.A/349). (2015).
- Bengtsdotter H, Lundin C, Gemzell Danielsson K, Bixo M, Baumgart J, Marions L, et al. Ongoing or Previous Mental Disorders Predispose to Adverse Mood Reporting During Combined Oral Contraceptive Use. *Eur J Contracept Reprod Health Care* (2018) 23(1):45–51. doi: 10.1080/13625187.2017.1422239
- Lundin C, Danielsson KG, Bixo M, Moby L, Bengtsdotter H, Jawad I, et al. Combined Oral Contraceptive Use is Associated With Both Improvement and Worsening of Mood in the Different Phases of the Treatment Cycle-A Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Randomized Trial. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2017) 76:135–43. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.11.033
- Scheuringer A, Lundin C, Derntl B, Pletzer B, Sundstrom Poromaa I. Use of an Estradiol-Based Combined Oral Contraceptives has No Influence on Attentional Bias or Depressive Symptoms in Healthy Women. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2020) 113:104544. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2019.104544
- Skovlund C, Morch LS, Kessing LV, Lidegaard O. Association of Hormonal Contraception With Depression. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2016) 73(11):1154–62. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.2387
- Jackson JN, MacKillop J. Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder and Monetary Delay Discounting: A Meta-Analysis of Case-Control Studies. *Biol Psychiatry Cognit Neurosci Neuroimaging* (2016) 1(4):316–25. doi: 10.1016/j.bpsc.2016.01.007

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Maria Mayer, Sina-Maria Wendel, Tabea Dannheim and Sophie Berger for their help in data collection.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo.2022.817825/full#supplementary-material

- Chandler RA, Wakeley J, Goodwin GM, Rogers RD. Altered Risk-Aversion and Risk-Seeking Behavior in Bipolar Disorder. *Biol Psychiatry* (2009) 66 (9):840–6. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.05.011
- Amlung M, Vedelago L, Acker J, Balodis I, MacKillop J. Steep Delay Discounting and Addictive Behavior: A Meta-Analysis of Continuous Associations. Addiction (2017) 112(1):51–62. doi: 10.1111/add.13535
- Grant BF, Saha TD, Ruan WJ, Goldstein RB, Chou SP, Jung JS, et al. Epidemiology of DSM-5 Drug Use Disorder Results From the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions-III. JAMA Psychiatry (2016) 73(1):39–47. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.2132
- Becker JB. Sex Differences in Addiction. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci* (2016) 18 (4):395–402. doi: 10.31887/DCNS.2016.18.4/jbecker
- Becker JB, Hu M. Sex Differences in Drug Abuse. Front Neuroendocrinol (2008) 29(1):36–47. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2007.07.003
- Lynch WJ, Roth ME, Carroll ME. Biological Basis of Sex Differences in Drug Abuse: Preclinical and Clinical Studies. *Psychopharmacology* (2002) 164 (2):121–37. doi: 10.1007/s00213-002-1183-2
- Allen AM, Weinberger AH, Wetherill RR, Howe CL, McKee SA. Oral Contraceptives and Cigarette Smoking: A Review of the Literature and Future Directions. *Nicotine Tob Res* (2019) 21(5):592–601. doi: 10.1093/ntr/ntx258
- Lobo RA, Stanczyk FZ. New Knowledge in the Physiology of Hormonal Contraceptives. Am J Obstet Gynecol (1994) 170:1499–507. doi: 10.1016/ S0002-9378(12)91807-4
- Fleischman DS, Navarrete CD, Fessler DM. Oral Contraceptives Suppress Ovarian Hormone Production. *Psychol Sci* (2010) 21(5):750–2. doi: 10.1177/ 0956797610368062
- Collins DC. Sex Hormone Receptor Binding, Progestin Selectivity, and the New Oral Contraceptives. Am J Obstet Gynecol (1994) 170(5):1508–13. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(94)05012-X
- Sharma R, Smith SA, Boukina N, Dordari A, Mistry A, Taylor BC, et al. Use of the Birth Control Pill Affects Stress Reactivity and Brain Structure and Function. *Horm Behav* (2020) 124:104783. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2020.104783
- Petersen N, Touroutoglou A, Andreano JM, Cahill L. Oral Contraceptive Pill Use is Associated With Localized Decreases in Cortical Thickness. *Hum Brain* Mapp (2015) 36(7):2644–54. doi: 10.1002/hbm.22797
- Elliott R, Dolan RJ, Frith CD. Dissociable Functions in the Medial and Lateral Orbitofrontal Cortex: Evidence From Human Neuroimaging Studies. *Cereb Cortex* (2000) 10(3):308–17. doi: 10.1093/cercor/10.3.308
- Lewis CA, Kimmig AS, Zsido RG, Jank A, Derntl B, Sacher J. Effects of Hormonal Contraceptives on Mood: A Focus on Emotion Recognition and Reactivity, Reward Processing, and Stress Response. *Curr Psychiatry Rep* (2019) 21(11):115. doi: 10.1007/s11920-019-1095-z
- Bonenberger M, Groschwitz RC, Kumpfmueller D, Groen G, Plener PL, Abler B. It's All About Money: Oral Contraception Alters Neural Reward Processing. *Neuroreport* (2013) 24(17):951–5. doi: 10.1097/WNR.00000000000024
- Arnoni-Bauer Y, Bick A, Raz N, Imbar T, Amos S, Agmon O, et al. Is It Me or My Hormones? Neuroendocrine Activation Profiles to Visual Food Stimuli Across the Menstrual Cycle. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2017) 102(9):3406–14. doi: 10.1210/jc.2016-3921
- 32. Scheele D, Plota J, Stoffel-Wagner B, Maier W, Hurlemann R. Hormonal Contraceptives Suppress Oxytocin-Induced Brain Reward Responses to the Partner's Face. Soc Cognit Affect Neurosci (2016) 11(5):767–74. doi: 10.1093/ scan/nsv157

- Jakob K, Ehrentreich H, Holtfrerich SKC, Reimers L, Diekhof EK. DAT1-Genotype and Menstrual Cycle, But Not Hormonal Contraception, Modulate Reinforcement Learning: Preliminary Evidence. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2018) 9:60. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00060
- 34. Pooseh S, Bernhardt N, Guevara A, Huys QJM, Smolka MN. Value-Based Decision-Making Battery: A Bayesian Adaptive Approach to Assess Impulsive and Risky Behavior. *Behav Res Methods* (2018) 50(1):236–49. doi: 10.3758/ s13428-017-0866-x
- Wittchen H-U, Zaudig M, Fydrich T. Strukturiertes Klinisches Interview Für DSM-IV: Achse I Und II. Göttingen: Hogrefe (1997).
- 36. Schmidt K-H, Metzler P. Wortschatztest (WST). Weinheim: Beltz (1992).
- 37. Reitan RM. Trail Making Test. Tucson, AZ: Reitan Neuropsychology Laboratory (1992).
- Watson D, Clark LA, Tellegen A. Development and Validation of Brief Measures of Positive and Negative Affect - The Panas Scales. J Pers Soc Psychol (1988) 54(6):1063–70. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.54.6.1063
- Laux L, Glanzmann P, Schaffner P, Spielberger CD. Das State-Trait-Angstinventar (STAI): Theoretische Grundlagen Und Handanweisung. Weinheim: Beltz (1981).
- Meule A, Vögele C, Kübler A. Psychometrische Evaluation Der Deutschen Barratt Impulsiveness Scale – Kurzversion (BIS-15). *Diagnostica* (2011) 57 (3):126–33. doi: 10.1026/0012-1924/a000042
- Kimmig ACS, Wildgruber D, Wendel SMU, Sundstrom-Poromaa I, Derntl B. Friend vs. Foe: Cognitive and Affective Empathy in Women With Different Hormonal States. Front Neurosci (2021) 15:608768. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2021.608768
- Johnson MW, Bickel WK. Within-Subject Comparison of Real and Hypothetical Money Rewards in Delay Discounting. J Exp Anal Behav (2002) 77(2):129–46. doi: 10.1901/jeab.2002.77-129
- Lagorio CH, Madden GJ. Delay Discounting of Real and Hypothetical Rewards III: Steady-State Assessments, Forced-Choice Trials, and All Real Rewards. *Behav Processes* (2005) 69(2):173–87. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2005.02.003
- 44. Brainard DH. The Psychophysics Toolbox. Spat Vis (1997) 10:433-6. doi: 10.1163/156856897X00357
- Pelli DG. The Video Toolbox Software for Visual Psychophysics: Transforming Numbers Into Movies. Spat Vis (1997) 10:437–42. doi: 10.1163/156856897X00366
- 46. R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing (2019). Available at: https://www.R-project.org/.
- Faul F, Erdfelder E, Lang A-G, Buchner A. G*Power 3: A Flexible Statistical Power Analysis Program for the Social, Behavioral, and Biomedical Sciences. *Behav Res Methods* (2007) 39(2):175–91. doi: 10.3758/BF03193146
- Masson MEJ. A Tutorial on a Practical Bayesian Alternative to Null-Hypothesis Significance Testing. *Behav Res Methods* (2011) 43(3):679–90. doi: 10.3758/s13428-010-0049-5
- Raftery AE. Bayesian Model Selection in Social Research. Social Method (1995) 25:111–63. doi: 10.2307/271063
- Diekhof EK, Korf S, Ott F, Schadlich C, Holtfrerich SKC. Avoidance Learning Across the Menstrual Cycle: A Conceptual Replication. *Front Endocrinol* (*Lausanne*) (2020) 11:231. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00231

- Jacobs E, D'Esposito M. Estrogen Shapes Dopamine-Dependent Cognitive Processes: Implications for Women's Health. J Neurosci (2011) 31(14):5286– 93. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6394-10.2011
- Hamstra DA, De Rover M, De Rijk RH, Van der Does W. Oral Contraceptives may Alter the Detection of Emotions in Facial Expressions. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2014) 24(11):1855–9. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2014.08.015
- Pahnke R, Mau-Moeller A, Junge M, Wendt J, Weymar M, Hamm AO, et al. Oral Contraceptives Impair Complex Emotion Recognition in Healthy Women. Front Neurosci (2019) 12:1041. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2018.01041
- Radke S, Derntl B. Affective Responsiveness is Influenced by Intake of Oral Contraceptives. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2016) 26(6):1014–9. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2016.03.004
- Spalek K, Loos E, Schicktanz N, Hartmann F, de Quervain D, Stier C, et al. Women Using Hormonal Contraceptives Show Increased Valence Ratings and Memory Performance for Emotional Information. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2019) 44 (7):1258–64. doi: 10.1038/s41386-019-0362-3
- 56. Hwang MJ, Zsido RG, Song HJ, Pace-Schott EF, Miller KK, Lebron-Milad K, et al. Contribution of Estradiol Levels and Hormonal Contraceptives to Sex Differences Within the Fear Network During Fear Conditioning and Extinction. *BMC Psychiatry* (2015) 15(1):1-12. doi: 10.1186/s12888-015-0673-9
- Petersen N, Kearley NW, Ghahremani DG, Pochon JB, Fry ME, Rapkin AJ, et al. Effects of Oral Contraceptive Pills on Mood and Magnetic Resonance Imaging Measures of Prefrontal Cortical Thickness. *Mol Psychiatry* (2021) 26 (3):917–26. doi: 10.1038/s41380-020-00990-2
- Petzold J, Kienast A, Lee Y, Pooseh S, London ED, Goschke T, et al. Baseline Impulsivity may Moderate L-DOPA Effects on Value-Based Decision-Making. Sci Rep (2019) 9(1):1–8. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-42124-x

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer JB declared a past collaboration with one of the authors BD to the handling editor.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Lewis, Kimmig, Kroemer, Pooseh, Smolka, Sacher and Derntl. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Supplementary Material

1 Mathematical modeling and parameter estimation of the value-based decision-making battery

Delay discounting is described by the function from Mazur (1987):

$$V = \frac{A}{1 + k_0 D} \quad (1)$$

where the subjective value *V* of an outcome of amount *A*, delivered after a delay *D*, declines hyperbolically according to the discounting rate $k_0 > 0$.

With a transformation of the probability to the odds against winning (1-p)/p, the same hyperbolic discounting function is used to describe subjective values of probabilistic outcomes (Rachlin et al., 1991), in our case for the probability discounting of gains and losses tasks:

$$V = \frac{A}{1 + k_0 \frac{[1 - p]}{p}}$$
(2)

To estimate a behavioral measure of loss aversion, the equation

$$V = \frac{1}{2}(G - \lambda L) \quad (3)$$

was used in which loss aversion λ is the ratio of the contribution of the loss magnitude *L* to the contribution of the gain magnitude *G* to the participant's decisions (Frydman et al., 2011; Tom et al., 2007).

In the following, we describe the mathematical modeling and parameter estimation algorithm for the case of delay discounting. A Bayesian approach was used to estimate the discounting parameter k trial-by-trial by using choices that a person makes between a smaller immediate and a larger delayed reward.

The offers are chosen between r_1 and r_2 , measured in a currency unit, and the delays are selected from the set $D = \{d_1, d_2, \dots, d_7\}$, in days. We assume that the likelihood of choosing between the two offers follows a softmax probability function with an inverse temperature parameter, $\beta_0 > 0$,

$$P(a_d|k_0,\beta_0) = 1 - P(a_i|k_0,\beta_0).$$
 (4)

Large values of β describe consistent choices, i.e., a higher probability of choosing the option with a higher value; small values of β represent inconsistent choices.

The parameters k_0 and β_0 are nonnegative and positively skewed. Parameters were therefore transformed to the natural-logarithmic scale and defined $k = ln(k_0)$ and $\beta = ln(\beta_0)$. The parameters space was discretized over an equally spaced 2-D region, \mathbf{R} , with $-8 \le k \le 2$ and $-5 \le \beta \le 2$

5. To simplify, the two parameters were assumed to be independent and liberal univariate priors were imposed on the parameters, such that k and β had a Beta and a uniform distribution. By assuming independence, a joint probability distribution $P(k, \beta)$ served as a prior for the Bayesian framework.

Given the prior distribution, the immediate and delayed offers were presented to the participant. The prior was updated after the choice at the first trial, using Bayes's rule:

$$P(k,\beta|a) = \frac{1}{Z} - P(a|k,\beta)P(k,\beta), \quad (5)$$

With the joint distribution over the parameters $P(k,\beta)$ and the likelihood $P(a|k,\beta)$ of observing the action *a*, which results from Eq. 4. For every trial *t*, the posterior distribution over the parameters, $P(k,\beta|a)$, is updated by multiplying the prior by the likelihood of the participant's action and then becomes the prior for the following trial. In Eq. 5, 1/Z is a normalization factor over the discrete domain **R**. The expected values of *k* and β served as current parameter estimations \hat{k}_t and $\hat{\beta}_t$ at the end of each trial. By using the current estimates based on the previous choice, the upcoming offers were close to the indifference point, i.e., the probability of choosing the immediate or the delayed offer was equally likely. This approach is considered to provide the most informative data (Lewi et al., 2008; Sebatiani & Wynn, 2000).

In order to present two offers with the same subjective values, the condition

$$r_1 \leq \frac{r_2}{1+kd} \leq r_2 - \delta, \ i = 1, ..., m,$$

holds for all feasible delays, where δ is the minimum difference between the two offers. A feasible delay was chosen randomly, and the following offers were presented such that they differed at least by δ and had the same subjective values according to the current estimate \hat{k}_t . After a certain number of trials, N, the resulting \hat{k}_N was considered the estimated parameter. To reduce the probability of participants learning the pattern, random offers were presented throughout the trials.

The same framework is applicable to the concepts of probability discounting of gains/losses and loss aversion.

Please refer to Pooseh et al. (2018) where, through simulations and real data, it has been shown that this method gives similar results compared to standard methods.

1.1 Posterior distributions of the estimated parameters k and λ

Supplementary Table 1. Posterior distributions of the estimated parameters k and λ for each participant (posterior means and posterior variances).

Subject ID	mean k DD	var k DD	mean k PDG	var k PDG	mean k PDL	var k PDL	mean 2 MG	var i MG
fNC 01	-6.03	0.17	-0.61	0.04	-0.56	0.16	1 30	0.05
fNC_02	-0.05	0.17	-0.01	0.04	-0.56	0.10	2 77	0.05
fNC_03	-9.22	0.00	0.88	0.17	-0.10	0.04	3.34	0.21
fNC_04	-7.05	0.09	0.88	0.12	-0.52	0.15	1 95	0.00
fNC_06	-5.41	0.40	0.23	0.27	-0.16	0.40	1.55	0.00
fNC_07	-6.53	0.05	-1 31	0.00	0.58	0.12	1.55	0.17
fNC_08	-8 72	0.72	-1.62	0.11	0.56	0.25	1.79	0.04
fNC_09	-8 71	0.09	-0.13	0.05	-0.89	0.00	3.92	0.01
fNC 10	-3.93	1.63	-0.36	0.03	0.52	0.33	1 94	0.42
fNC_11	-3 35	0.28	1 11	0.15	-0.93	0.55	3.01	0.12
fNC_12	-7.64	0.25	-0.94	0.12	-0.23	0.05	2.03	0.002
fNC_13	-5.38	0.29	-0.35	0.32	-0.77	0.09	1.98	0.44
fNC 14	-2.95	0.09	-0.09	0.60	-0.95	0.04	1.97	9.64 e ⁻⁵
fNC 15	-7.03	0.48	0.12	0.07	-0.25	0.64	1.34	0.01
fNC 16	-4.96	0.62	-1.05	0.01	1.24	0.18	1.76	0.19
fNC 17	-2.48	0.04	0.10	0.12	-0.33	0.53	2.11	0.07
fNC 19	-8.43	0.22	-1.28	0.27	0.57	0.37	1.52	0.26
fNC_20	-8.28	0.38	-0.37	0.10	0.54	0.22	1.77	0.003
fNC_21	-8.97	0.09	1.20	0.003	-0.72	0.34	3.48	0.03
fNC_22	-7.60	0.37	-1.40	0.04	-0.54	0.02	2.03	0.02
OC_01	-4.03	0.27	-0.42	0.05	-0.19	0.11	1.33	0.18
OC_02	-7.40	0.65	-1.22	0.75	-1.30	0.17	1.64	0.36
OC_03	-5.79	0.31	-0.17	0.56	-0.87	0.23	2.42	0.27
OC_04	-6.23	0.33	NA	NA	0.39	0.12	1.47	0.04
OC_06	-5.91	0.51	-0.57	0.02	0.24	0.02	2.07	0.02
OC_08	-4.44	0.14	-0.18	0.67	0.57	0.26	0.88	0.16
OC_09	-5.53	0.59	-0.96	0.62	-0.02	0.01	1.95	0.05
OC_10	-5.08	1.11	-1.42	0.13	-0.31	0.34	1.40	0.03
OC_11	-7.25	0.16	-0.19	0.007	-0.16	0.19	1.04	9.67 e ⁻⁴
OC_12	-4.06	0.02	0.28	0.34	0.84	0.28	1.96	0.003
OC_13	-5.30	1.70	-1.21	0.66	-0.02	0.45	1.59	0.02
OC_15	-7.10	0.28	-0.44	0.02	-0.37	0.10	2.38	0.05
OC_16	-5.26	0.65	-0.31	0.50	0.33	0.38	1.24	0.005
OC_17	-8.33	0.29	0.58	0.66	-1.51	0.70	3.24	0.16
OC_18	-5.56	0.11	-0.51	0.06	0.32	0.12	1.70	4.67 e ⁻⁴
OC_19	-5.44	0.17	-0.01	0.07	-0.28	0.02	2.17	0.23
OC_20	-4.44	0.42	0.15	0.28	-0.60	0.26	2.39	0.24
OC_21	-5.72	0.75	0.45	0.16	-1.18	0.09	2.69	0.12
OC_22	-5.42	1.14	-1.01	0.14	-0.54	0.40	1.53	0.002
OC_23	-8.60	0.21	-0.44	0.39	0.60	0.26	0.39	0.04

Subject ID	mean k DD	var k DD	mean k PDG	var k PDG	mean k PDL	var k PDL	mean λ MG	var λ MG
OC_24	-4.31	0.55	1.19	0.49	0.94	0.12	1.51	0.19
OC_25	-7.68	0.47	-1.27	0.02	0.20	0.11	1.28	0.02
oNC_01	-7.10	0.41	0.58	0.11	-0.53	0.35	1.38	0.05
oNC_02	-5.91	0.09	-0.38	0.07	-0.57	0.10	2.61	0.28
oNC_04	-6.91	0.20	-0.43	0.05	-1.54	0.03	1.69	0.004
oNC_05	-8.45	0.19	0.68	0.50	-0.13	0.45	3.11	0.18
oNC_06	-6.08	0.19	-0.78	0.21	0.42	0.19	1.21	0.04
oNC_07	-4.09	0.20	-0.12	0.37	0.09	0.82	0.95	0.07
oNC_08	-2.44	2.11	0.16	0.11	0.55	0.02	1.28	0.25
oNC_09	-7.45	0.25	0.91	0.56	1.39	0.03	1.92	0.44
oNC_11	-4.67	0.55	0.34	0.52	-0.58	0.12	2.94	0.02
oNC_12	-3.08	0.14	0.16	0.001	0.01	0.17	2.01	0.01
oNC_13	-9.19	0.11	1.20	0.03	0.40	0.25	1.52	0.07
oNC_14	-4.43	0.04	0.51	0.08	0.03	0.39	1.85	0.09
oNC_17	-4.84	0.32	-0.90	0.60	0.37	0.64	0.92	0.18
oNC_18	-6.91	0.41	-1.79	0.04	1.18	0.17	1.32	0.05
oNC_19	-8.14	0.05	0.01	0.33	0.39	0.004	1.12	0.03
oNC_20	-6.82	0.14	1.19	0.68	-1.21	0.13	3.43	0.05
oNC_22	-5.65	0.81	-0.46	0.50	-0.36	0.53	1.87	0.01
oNC_23	-4.85	0.27	0.002	0.66	0.46	0.29	2.05	0.42
oNC_24	-3.80	0.47	-0.77	0.03	-0.07	0.29	1.16	0.07
oNC_25	-6.99	0.25	-2.20	0.01	0.13	0.09	1.58	0.04

2 Bayesian alternative to null-hypothesis significance testing using the Bayesian information criterion

The approach described by Masson (2011) provides evidence regarding which model, i.e., effect absent (null hypothesis) vs. effect present (alternative hypothesis), is more strongly supported by the data. This is in contrast with classic null hypothesis significance testing, which does not allow investigating the degree of support favoring the null hypothesis. This approach uses the Bayesian information criterion (BIC) approximation of Bayesian posterior probabilities introduced by Wagenmakers (2007).

First, we compute ΔBIC , by

$$\Delta BIC = n \ln \frac{SSE_1}{SSE_0} + (k_1 - k_0) \ln(n) \ (1)$$

where SSE_1 and SSE_0 are the sums of squares for the error terms in the alternative and the null hypothesis models. The term SSE_1/SSE_0 is simply the complement of partial eta-squared η_p^2 , an effect size measure which describes the proportion of variability accounted for by the independent variable $(SSE_1/SSE_0 = 1 - \eta_p^2)$. The term $k_1 - k_0$ corresponds to the difference in the number of free parameters between the two models, i.e., the degrees of freedom associated with an effect when null and alternative hypotheses are contrasted.

The ΔBIC value can then be used to generate an estimate of the Bayes factor

$$BF = \frac{p_{BIC}(D|H_0)}{p_{BIC}(D|H_1)} = e^{(\Delta BIC)/2}$$
(2)

In a final step, the Bayes factor is converted into the posterior probabilities for the two competing hypotheses

$$p_{BIC}(H_0|D) = \frac{BF}{BF + 1} \quad (3)$$

Given the fact that posterior probabilities will not always clearly favor one hypothesis over the other, it is recommended to use the convention for labeling the strength of evidence provided by Raftery (1995). Here, p_{BIC} values of .50-.75 are considered as weak, .75-.95 as positive, .95-.99 as strong, and >.99 as very strong.

Please refer to Masson (2011) for example applications of the approach and an Excel worksheet for computing p_{BIC} values.

3 Oral contraceptives used by the study participants

Supplementary Table 2. Overview of the oral contraceptives and their compounds used by the study participants.

Generation	Compounds	Androgen/Antiandrogen	Used by participants
2nd	Ethinylestradiol (20- 30 µg), Levonorgestrel, Norethisteron	androgen	11
3rd	Ethinylestradiol (20- 30 µg), Desogestrel, Gestoden,	neutral	1
4th	Ethinylestradiol (20- 30 µg), Drospirenon, Chlormadinon, Dienogest, Nomegestrol	antiandrogen	10

4 Serum hormone profiles for all participants

Supplementary Table 3 Serum hormone profiles for all participants. Measurement units were pmol/l for estradiol and nmol/l for progesterone, testosterone and serum hormone binding globulin (SHBG).

Subject ID	Age	Estradiol	Progesterone	Testosterone	SHBG
fNC 01	22	137	2.00	1.10	51
fNC_02	20	185	1.20	1.10	70
fNC 03	27	170	4.30	1.30	64
fNC_04	19	117	1.60	1.10	26
fNC_06	23	149	3.40	1.70	95
fNC_07	20	140	2.80	0.90	55
fNC_08	25	204	1.70	1.00	90
fNC_09	24	209	1.00	0.70	94
fNC_10	24	127	0.90	0.80	56
fNC_11	29	121	1.20	0.80	19
fNC_12	20	184	2.20	1.30	35
fNC_13	21	157	2.10	1.30	67
fNC_14	22	207	1.80	1.20	51
fNC_15	25	122	1.00	0.90	73
fNC_16	19	137	2.70	1.70	60
fNC_17	22	302	2.40	1.30	34
fNC_19	24	190	2.40	0.90	106
fNC_20	19	193	2.20	1.40	162
fNC_21	22	161	1.90	0.70	58
fNC_22	19	105	3.10	1.00	35
OC_01	23	91	1.40	0.70	103
OC_02	24	87	2.90	1.00	42
OC_03	23	43	1.10	0.70	300
OC_04	21	43	1.20	0.40	96
OC_06	24	43	1.60	0.60	201
OC_08	20	65	1.20	0.60	93
OC_09	19	87	1.30	0.80	261
OC_10	24	101	2.30	1.10	26
OC_11	19	86	2.20	1.20	119
OC_12	21	47	1.30	0.90	105
OC_13	20	43	1.40	0.80	294
OC_15	22	62	1.50	0.90	208
OC_16	24	43	0.50	0.30	266
OC_17	23	43	2.50	0.80	340
OC_18	20	167	1.30	0.90	102
OC_19	19	43	0.50	1.00	355
OC_20	22	95	1.00	1.10	56
OC_21	23	52	0.60	0.70	177
OC_22	22	53	1.50	0.90	143
OC_23	25	48	0.50	0.80	304

OC_24	25	71	0.80	0.50	84
OC_25	24	60	0.80	0.70	328
oNC_01	23	403	1.70	0.80	44
oNC_02	27	1589	1.60	1.00	44
oNC_04	29	564	2.20	1.50	79
oNC_05	18	307	1.60	1.60	48
oNC_06	19	436	2.90	1.40	93
oNC_07	24	889	4.90	1.40	26
oNC_08	25	206	1.60	1.50	30
oNC_09	25	538	6.40	1.40	46
oNC_11	29	515	1.30	1.30	74
oNC_12	27	1065	1.00	0.90	109
oNC_13	21	167	1.60	1.00	20
oNC_14	22	401	15.30	0.90	58
oNC_17	23	201	1.60	1.40	43
oNC_18	25	302	5.20	1.20	39
oNC_19	29	913	0.60	0.90	79
oNC_20	18	485	18.20	1.50	70
oNC_22	26	370	23.70	1.00	50
oNC_23	22	176	1.20	1.80	48
oNC_24	21	432	14.30	1.10	42
oNC 25	19	374	24.30	1.20	35

3. Discussion

3.1. Serotonergic modulation of reward responsiveness

Reward responsiveness is reflected in neural activity to reward and punishment cues, which regulates responses to positive and negative reinforcers, their receipt as well as processes following repeated receipt of reinforcers (National Advisory Mental Health Council Workgroup on Changes to the RDoC Matrix, 2018). Reward responsiveness can be disrupted in several mental disorders. One prominent example is a blunted hedonic response to rewards and/or an enhanced sensitivity to punishment, which describes a negative bias in reward responsiveness that is common in major depressive disorder (Eshel & Roiser, 2010), obsessive-compulsive disorder (Fullana et al., 2004), or eating disorders (Monteleone et al., 2018). Although a negative bias in reward responsiveness describes a transdiagnostic symptom in several disorders, there are almost no trials specifically focused on pharmacological treatment of this motivational deficit (Husain & Roiser, 2018).

To this end, it is important to (1) understand basic mechanisms of reward responsiveness on a neurobehavioral level, and (2) extend our knowledge of neurotransmitters and modulators involved in reward responsiveness to develop treatments specifically targeting motivational deficits. In study 1, we found reduced BOLD responses to punishment cues in the right caudate nucleus and the right thalamus after acute administration of the SSRI escitalopram. We found no changes in BOLD response to reward cues, which pointed to serotonin's role in aversive processing only. The SSRI-induced modulation of functional responses to negative reinforcers targeted brain areas typically involved in processing loss, an important process in negative bias.

Psychological and neurocognitive approaches consider negative biases of information processing to play a key role in maintaining motivational deficit symptoms (for review see Harmer et al., 2017). Studies investigating the effect of SSRIs on negative biases in emotional processing in patients found that already acute single doses of SSRIs have a normalizing effect on responses to negative emotional stimuli (e.g., Godlewska et al., 2016; Harmer et al., 2009). Importantly,

68

these effects on emotional processing are seen much earlier than changes in mood, which substantiated the hypothesis that reducing negative biases contributes and eventually leads to improvements in mood (Harmer et al., 2017). A blunted response to rewards as well as enhanced sensitivity to punishment similarly describes a negative bias in reward processing, which is common in several mental disorders (Eshel & Roiser, 2010). However, the effect of SSRIs on the negative bias in processing rewards is far from clear (Husain & Roiser, 2018). We provide additional support for the neuropsychological theory of acute SSRI action and extend those findings for negative biases in reward processing.

In study 1, we replicated the finding that serotonin modulates processing of punishment cues in brain areas which have been identified as transdiagnostic neural markers of disrupted reward responsiveness (Zhang et al., 2016). We contributed to the understanding of acute SSRI effects in the healthy human brain to the processing of negative bias in reward responsiveness. In general, and in accordance with the RDoC framework, this study aimed at extending our knowledge of basic mechanisms in reward responsiveness on a neurobehavioral level in healthy humans and provided a first approach for refining treatment strategies, which could be beneficial for a group of symptoms rather than for a specific disorder.

3.2. Sex-specific modulation of reward valuation

Reward valuation is based on cost-benefit weighing, in which the subjective value of a choice results from evaluation of costs (e.g., probability, delay, effort) and benefits (food, money, sex, and hedonic experience in general). Aberrant reward valuation in form of steep delay discounting, risky behavior, or insensitivity to loss are characteristic features of e.g., attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (Jackson & MacKillop, 2016), bipolar disorders (Chandler et al., 2009), and substance use disorders (Amlung et al., 2017). Sex differences in these mental disorders do not only exist in prevalence, but also in illness progression and treatment trajectories. For example, in substance use disorders, drug use

escalates more quickly and more often tends to have bingeing patterns in women than in men (Becker, 2016; Becker & Chartoff, 2019). Evidence from animal and human studies support the hypothesis that ovarian hormones may contribute to this behavioral variability (Ambrase, Lewis et al., 2021), e.g., women show higher craving ratings and greater subjective responses to drug stimuli in the follicular phase compared with the luteal phase. Understanding basic mechanisms in costbenefit valuations in women and men and if and how sex-specific behavioral variability in reward valuation depends on hormonal fluctuations has the potential to influence clinical decisions, e.g., scheduling a quit date during a menstrual cycle phase in which craving is expected to be less intense.

To this end, we conducted two studies to examine sex-specific and hormonal modulators of reward valuation. In study 2, we tested women and men in an effort allocation task and found that women had higher effort maintenance than men for small rewards, while effort maintenance for higher rewards was comparable between sexes. Women also reported higher wanting and exertion ratings compared with men for small rewards. To summarize, we found that sex differences in instrumental physical effort depended on reward magnitude and, thus, were explained by an elevated subjective value of small rewards in women. To conclude, these sex differences in *effort* depended on the encoding of benefits, not costs, because women and men did not differ regarding task difficulty or reward type.

In study 3, we examined sex-specific behavioral variability in reward valuation in more depth and investigated the influence of different hormonal profiles on the subconstructs *probability* and *delay* in women. We found no difference between early follicular, periovulatory, and OC-using women in the main outcome parameters of the value-based decision-making tasks. Only for delay discounting we found that steeper discounting correlated with more inconsistent choice behavior in naturally cycling women, but not in OC-users. In sum, endogenous and exogenous hormonal milieus did not lead to substantial differences in reward valuation in women. To summarize, we found that sex is a modulator of reward valuation, whereas different hormonal states did not substantially modulate reward valuation in women. We identified which components of effort-based reward valuation differed between sexes and, thus, contributed to the understanding of basic mechanisms of reward valuation on a behavioral level. This knowledge could be beneficial for testing in clinical translation, e.g., refining PVS-based behavioral treatment strategies for women and men.

3.3. Serotonin, sex, and sex hormones as transdiagnostic modulators of PVS

Disruptions in one or more PVS constructs are shared behavioral symptoms in several mental disorders. Fractioning symptoms into PVS constructs and investigating different modulators is a main idea of the RDoC initiative. Understanding basic mechanisms already in healthy human subjects is an important first step for transdiagnostic clinical translation (Morris et al., 2022).

Anhedonia is a typical example for disrupted PVS and is a shared behavioral symptom in schizophrenia, substance use disorders, and major depressive disorder (Baskin-Sommers & Foti, 2015; Hallford & Sharma, 2019; Lambert et al., 2018). Anhedonia as a symptom itself can be reflected in deficits across all PVS constructs (Der-Avakian & Markou, 2012). Thus, in order to fully understand the underlying mechanisms of the symptom anhedonia and how it manifests in each of the above-mentioned disorders, a separate investigation of PVS constructs is crucial. By fractioning anhedonia into components referring to PVS constructs, we can see how multifaceted this reward-related motivational deficit may be. Anhedonia may affect the ability (1) to anticipate rewards (reward responsiveness), (2) to associate values and costs with rewards as well as (3) to determine the effort needed to obtain rewards (both reward valuation), and (4) to integrate this information and learn from outcomes of their actions to guide future behavior (reward learning) (Der-Avakian & Markou, 2012; Husain & Roiser, 2018). So far, computational modelling revealed that reward learning is not affected in anhedonia, but instead anticipation and valuation of rewards is blunted

(Collins et al., 2014; Huys et al., 2013). In study 1, we specifically focused on the anticipation of reward and punishment cues and found that SSRIs modulated functional responses to punishment in brain areas typically involved in anhedonia. For example, caudate and ventral striatal gray matter volume was negatively correlated with self-reported anhedonia (Harvey et al., 2007; Pizzagalli et al., 2009). Furthermore, a meta-analysis of 33 studies in major depressive disorder and 24 studies in schizophrenia identified caudate and putamen as transdiagnostic neural markers of anticipatory anhedonia (Zhang et al., 2016). The lack of biological markers by which to select treatment is a current limitation in the field (Rush & Ibrahim, 2018). The findings of study 1 contribute to the understanding of relevant PVS brain circuits and provide first indications for treatment targets.

In study 2, we found a sex-specific behavioral variability in a PVS subconstruct, which contributes to the understanding of sex differences in basic mechanisms of motivated behaviors. This finding is in accordance with recent literature in the field, e.g., a recent study found that dynamic neural correlates of PVS constructs and depressive traits were significantly different in healthy women and men (de Lacy et al., 2021). Here, intrinsic brain dynamism was positively correlated with PVS constructs in women, but not with depressive traits. In men, intrinsic brain dynamism was positively correlated with depressive traits, but not PVS constructs. Another study reported that PVS-related symptoms (operationalized as impaired motivation, impaired energy, and anhedonia) were associated with female gender and were more responsive to antidepressants such as escitalopram compared to negative valence system symptoms in depressed patients (e.g., anxiety, interpersonal sensitivity) (Medeiros et al., 2020). However, PVS-related symptoms were overall less responsive to antidepressants than other depressive symptoms, which is in accordance with the clinical observation that anhedonia is a difficult-to-treat symptom. Yet, a recent review suggests that – especially in women – targeting the reward circuitry may be most promising to alleviate anhedonic symptoms (Bangasser & Cuarenta, 2021). Taken together, current literature together with the findings from study 1 and 2 suggest that assessment of PVS-related symptoms may be of use
in clinical practice to promote symptom- and sex-specific treatment selection and prognosis.

Considering sex differences and sex hormones is important for optimizing both basic research and clinical translation (Shansky & Murphy, 2021). Modulation of the serotonergic neurotransmitter system may serve as one mechanism via which sex and sex hormones exert effects on PVS constructs. Sex hormones modulate the serotonergic system from the level of serotonin synthesis to binding and reuptake (for review, see Spies et al., 2020). For instance, serotonin transporter (5-HTT) activity offers a peripheral marker for sex and sex hormone effects on serotonin reuptake. Estradiol is by far the most thoroughly studied sex hormone in this field, whereas only few studies examined progesterone and testosterone. Yet, the effects of estradiol on serotonin are not clearly excitatory or inhibitory: Most studies found estradiol to increase serotonin expression in many brain areas, whereas some evidence showed a decrease in serotonergic activity after estradiol treatment (for review see Ambrase, Lewis et al., 2021). A pharmacologically induced reduction in estradiol levels was associated with an increase in 5-HTT binding and depressive symptoms in women (Frokjaer et al., 2015). Similarly, testosterone treatment led to an increase in 5-HTT binding in the amygdala, putamen, caudate, and median raphe nuclei, whereas antiandrogen and estradiol treatment led to a decrease in 5-HTT binding in insula and cingulate regions in transgender people (Kranz et al., 2015). Furthermore, 5-HTT levels vary across the menstrual cycle in women. 5-HTT levels were higher in the follicular than in the luteal phase, and 5-HTT binding correlated positively with estradiol levels in the early follicular phase and during ovulation (Wihlback et al., 2004). In contrast to estradiol, progesterone has been found to reliably increase serotonergic neurotransmission by regulating expression of serotonin-related genes and proteins (for review see Barth et al., 2015). Taken together, the effects of sex hormones on the serotonin system appear to be sexually dimorphic, region specific, as well as time-dependent, or more specifically cycle-dependent in women. Moreover, hormonal effects most likely do not function in isolation from each other. Sex hormone effects on the

serotonin system may be an important mechanism to understand sex differences in PVS constructs and are an area ripe for further investigation.

Understanding sex-specific and hormonal modulations of the serotonergic neurotransmitter system is also relevant for research on SSRI treatment response. There is evidence that women may respond better to SSRIs than men, based on greater reductions in depressive symptoms (Berlanga & Flores-Ramos, 2006; Joyce et al., 2003; Khan et al., 2005) (for review see Sramek et al., 2016). However, other studies found no sex differences in SSRI treatment response (Gougoulaki et al., 2021; Parker et al., 2003; Pinto-Meza et al., 2006; Thiels et al., 2005). One hypothesis is that men have a higher rate of serotonin synthesis than women, which potentially blunts the pharmacological effects of SSRIs in men (Nishizawa et al., 1997). Another line of argument is based on evidence that estradiol-induced expression of mood-related neuropeptides drives sex differences in SSRI treatment response (Unschuld et al., 2010). In general, sex differences in SSRI treatment response are still under debate. Explanations for conflicting results might be due to variance in the measurement of treatment responses (e.g., different depression scales), disregarding menstrual cycle phases in women, and not defining subgroups of symptoms (e.g., alleviation of mood or anhedonic symptoms). For instance, sex differences in SSRI treatment response may be different if alleviation of PVS-related symptoms such as anhedonia would be examined as treatment response, rather than only mood. To summarize, the serotonergic neurotransmitter system as well as response to treatments targeting this system (i.e., SSRIs) may be modulated by sex and sex hormones. A better understanding of both the discrete mechanisms and the interactions between these complex systems is necessary to understand potential differences in treatment response.

3.4. General conclusion

The RDoC initiative promotes an integrative approach to investigate basic psychological and biological mechanisms from normal to abnormal behavior. A

main goal is to identify core features relevant for a group of disorders or syndromes (Insel, 2014). My thesis builds upon the first pillar of RDoC, which takes a translational perspective: "psychopathology research should start with what is known about normative neurobehavioral processes" (Morris et al., 2022). The RDoC initiators name anhedonia as one example, which benefited from basic behavioral and neuroscience research in animals and humans and contributed to the understanding of anhedonia as multi-component phenotype across several psychiatric conditions (Arrondo et al., 2015; Freed et al., 2019) and potential driver of heterogeneity in major depressive disorder (Pizzagalli, 2014).

Disruptions in PVS constructs, i.e., common syndromes of motivation, comprise not only anhedonia, but also apathy, amotivation, avolition, abulia, anergia, and fatigue, which are associated with several mental conditions (Pelizza & Ferrari, 2009; Yuen et al., 2015), stroke (Caeiro et al., 2013), traumatic brain injury (Starkstein & Pahissa, 2014), and neurodegenerative diseases (Chow et al., 2009; den Brok et al., 2015; Zhao et al., 2016). Especially apathy and anhedonia also occur in milder forms in otherwise healthy individuals (Bonnelle et al., 2016). An important question is whether there are central aspects and neural markers which contribute to these motivational symptoms, which appear to be disabling for numerous people.

In my thesis, I focused on the PVS constructs *reward responsiveness* and *reward valuation* and contributed to the understanding of basic mechanisms of motivational aspects and neural markers. The contributions of my thesis are three-fold. (1) I replicated the finding that the caudate region is a transdiagnostic neural marker of reward responsiveness and extended our understanding of serotonergic neurotransmission in response to punishment. (2) These findings suggest a specific and acute SSRI effect on a transdiagnostic neural marker of reward responsiveness, which might be a promising treatment specifically targeting this aspect of disrupted PVS. (3) Sex appeared to be a modulator of reward valuation, but not sex hormones. Sex differences depended on the encoding of potential benefits, not costs. This may have implications for treatments targeted to components of effort-based behavior, such as behavioral activation therapy (Richards et al., 2016).

My thesis presents an example of the heuristic value of the RDoC initiative in understanding basic mechanisms of the PVS domain in terms of shared behavioral symptoms. In accordance with the RDoC initiative, my work provides a crucial next step toward (1) testing clinical translation for PVS paradigms in patients with motivational symptoms in order to personalize treatment selection and (2) considering sex as important modulator of the PVS domain.

4. Summary

The Positive Valence Systems (PVS) are a major domain of the Research Domain Criteria framework (RDoC), which aims at promoting precision medicine for psychiatry, based on a profound understanding of the psychological and biological basis of shared behavioral symptoms. The PVS domain describes basic processes of reward processing, which can be disrupted in several mental disorders, such as schizophrenia, substance use disorders, and major depressive disorder. Investigating basic mechanisms of PVS constructs is important to understand central aspects which contribute to these transdiagnostic motivational syndromes.

In my doctoral thesis, I investigated pharmacological, sex-specific, and hormonal modulators of PVS constructs. I focused on the constructs *reward responsiveness* and *reward valuation* in the context of motivational behavior in healthy humans. In study 1, I examined the neurotransmitter serotonin, and in particular a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) as modulator of reward responsiveness on a neural level, using functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI). In studies 2 and 3, I inquired into sex-specific and hormonal modulators of reward valuation to elucidate sex-specific integration of benefits and costs on a behavioral level.

In study 1, I found that an acute SSRI dose modulated the processing of punishment cues in caudate and thalamus brain regions, which have been identified as transdiagnostic neural markers of disrupted reward responsiveness. In study 2, I identified sex differences in reward valuation, which depended on different encoding of benefits, not costs. Study 3 did not yield substantial differences in reward valuation depending on different hormonal states in women.

The RDoC initiative aims at understanding core features and modulators of shared behavioral symptoms, ranging from normal to abnormal behavior. Understanding basic mechanisms is an important first step towards transdiagnostic clinical translation. Within this scope, my work has implications for testing clinical translation of pharmacological and behavioral treatments

77

specifically targeted to PVS constructs, which take sex-specific behavioral variability into account.

5. German summary

Die Research Domain Criteria (RDoC) Initiative strebt Präzisionsmedizin in der Psychiatrie an, die auf einem tiefgreifenden Verständnis der psychologischen und biologischen Grundlagen von Verhaltenssymptomen basieren soll. Die Positiven Valenzsysteme (PVS) sind eine Hauptdomäne der RDoC und umfassen grundlegende Prozesse der Belohnungsverarbeitung, die bei verschiedenen psychischen Erkrankungen wie z.B. Schizophrenie, Substanzkonsumstörungen und depressiven Störungen beeinträchtigt sein können. Die Untersuchung grundlegender Mechanismen von PVS-Konstrukten trägt dazu bei, zentrale Aspekte von transdiagnostischen motivationalen Syndromen besser zu verstehen.

In der vorliegenden Doktorarbeit wurden pharmakologische, geschlechtsspezifische sowie hormonelle Modulatoren von PVS-Konstrukten in gesunden Personen untersucht. Der Fokus lag dabei auf den Konstrukten *Belohnungsreaktionsfähigkeit* (reward responsiveness) und *Belohnungsbewertung* (reward valuation). Studie 1 untersuchte den Neurotransmitter Serotonin und insbesondere einen selektiven Serotonin-Wiederaufnahmehemmer (SSRI) als Modulator der Belohnungsreaktion auf neuronaler Ebene mittels funktioneller Magnetresonanztomographie (fMRT). In den Studien 2 und 3 wurden geschlechtsspezifische sowie hormonelle Modulatoren der Belohnungsbewertung betrachtet, um Geschlechtsunterschiede in der Integration von Kosten und Nutzen auf Verhaltensebene aufzuklären.

Die Ergebnisse von Studie 1 ließen darauf schließen, dass eine akute und einmalige SSRI-Dosis die Verarbeitung von Bestrafungshinweisen in den Hirnregionen Nucleus caudatus und Thalamus modulierte, die als transdiagnostische neuronale Marker für eine gestörte Belohnungsreaktionsfähigkeit gelten. Studie 2 zeigte, dass Geschlechtsunterschiede in der Belohnungsbewertung von einer geschlechtsspezifischen Kodierung des Nutzens abhingen, und nicht der Kosten. In Studie 3 fanden sich bei Frauen keine wesentlichen Unterschiede in der Belohnungsbewertung in Abhängigkeit von Zyklusphase oder der Einnahme oraler Kontrazeptiva.

79

Die RDoC-Initiative zielt darauf ab, Kernmerkmale und Modulatoren gemeinsamer Verhaltenssymptome zu verstehen, die von gesundem bis zu auffälligem Verhalten reichen. Das Verständnis grundlegender Mechanismen von Verhaltenssymptomen ist ein wichtiger erster Schritt für die transdiagnostische klinische Translation. In diesem Hinblick hat die vorliegende Doktorarbeit Implikationen für die klinische Translation pharmakologischer und verhaltensbasierter Behandlungen, die speziell auf PVS-Konstrukte abzielen und geschlechtsspezifische Verhaltensvariabilität berücksichtigen.

6. References

- Ambrase, A., Lewis, C. A., Barth, C., & Derntl, B. (2021). Influence of ovarian hormones on value-based decision-making systems: Contribution to sexual dimorphisms in mental disorders. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*, 60. https://doi.org/ARTN 10087310.1016/j.yfrne.2020.100873
- Amlung, M., Vedelago, L., Acker, J., Balodis, I., & MacKillop, J. (2017). Steep delay discounting and addictive behavior: a meta-analysis of continuous associations. *Addiction*, 112(1), 51-62. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.13535
- Arrondo, G., Segarra, N., Metastasio, A., Ziauddeen, H., Spencer, J., Reinders, N. R., Dudas, R. B., Robbins, T. W., Fletcher, P. C., & Murray, G. K. (2015).
 Reduction in ventral striatal activity when anticipating a reward in depression and schizophrenia: a replicated cross-diagnostic finding. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6. https://doi.org/ARTN 128010.3389/fpsyg.2015.01280
- Azcoitia, I., Yague, J. G., & Garcia-Segura, L. M. (2011). Estradiol Synthesis within the Human Brain. *Neuroscience*, *191*, 139-147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.02.012
- Bangasser, D. A., & Cuarenta, A. (2021). Sex differences in anxiety and depression: circuits and mechanisms. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *22*(11), 674-684. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-021-00513-0
- Barth, C., Villringer, A., & Sacher, J. (2015). Sex hormones affect neurotransmitters and shape the adult female brain during hormonal transition periods. *Front Neurosci*, 9, 37. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2015.00037
- Baskin-Sommers, A. R., & Foti, D. (2015). Abnormal reward functioning across substance use disorders and major depressive disorder: Considering reward as a transdiagnostic mechanism. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 98(2), 227-239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2015.01.011
- Bauer, M., Severus, E., Moller, H. J., Young, A. H., & Unipolar, W. T. F. (2017).
 Pharmacological treatment of unipolar depressive disorders: summary of WFSBP guidelines. *International Journal of Psychiatry in Clinical Practice*, 21(3), 166-176. https://doi.org/10.1080/13651501.2017.1306082
- Becker, J. B. (2016). Sex differences in addiction. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, *18*(4), 395-402.
- Becker, J. B., & Chartoff, E. (2019). Sex differences in neural mechanisms mediating reward and addiction. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *44*(1), 166-183. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-018-0125-6
- Berlanga, C., & Flores-Ramos, M. (2006). Different gender response to serotonergic and noradrenergic antidepressants. A comparative study of the efficacy of citalopram and reboxetine. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *95*(1-3), 119-123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2006.04.029
- Berwian, I. M., Wenzel, J. G., Collins, A. G. E., Seifritz, E., Stephan, K. E., Walter, H., & Huys, Q. J. M. (2020). Computational Mechanisms of Effort and Reward Decisions in Patients With Depression and Their Association With Relapse After Antidepressant Discontinuation. *Jama Psychiatry*, 77(5), 513-522. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.4971
- Bonnelle, V., Manohar, S., Behrens, T., & Husain, M. (2016). Individual Differences in Premotor Brain Systems Underlie Behavioral Apathy. *Cerebral Cortex*, *26*(2), 807-819. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhv247

- Browne, C. J., Abela, A. R., Chu, D., Li, Z. X., Ji, X. D., Lambe, E. K., & Fletcher, P. J. (2019). Dorsal raphe serotonin neurons inhibit operant responding for reward via inputs to the ventral tegmental area but not the nucleus accumbens: evidence from studies combining optogenetic stimulation and serotonin reuptake inhibition. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *44*(4), 793-804. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-018-0271-x
- Browne, C. J., & Fletcher, P. J. (2016). Decreased Incentive Motivation Following Knockout or Acute Blockade of the Serotonin Transporter: Role of the 5-HT2C Receptor. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *41*(10), 2566-2576. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2016.63
- Bruhl, A. B., Kaffenberger, T., & Herwig, U. (2010). Serotonergic and Noradrenergic Modulation of Emotion Processing by Single Dose Antidepressants. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *35*(2), 521-533. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2009.159
- Bull, J. R., Rowland, S. P., Scherwitzl, E. B., Scherwitzl, R., Danielsson, K. G., & Harper, J. (2019). Real-world menstrual cycle characteristics of more than 600,000 menstrual cycles. *Npj Digital Medicine*, 2. https://doi.org/ARTN 8310.1038/s41746-019-0152-7
- Byrne, K. A., & Worthy, D. A. (2015). Gender differences in reward sensitivity and information processing during decision-making. *Journal of Risk and Uncertainty*, *50*(1), 55-71. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11166-015-9206-7
- Byrnes, J. P., Miller, D. C., & Schafer, W. D. (1999). Gender differences in risk taking: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, *125*(3), 367-383. https://doi.org/Doi 10.1037/0033-2909.125.3.367
- Caeiro, L., Ferro, J. M., & Costa, J. (2013). Apathy secondary to stroke: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Cerebrovasc Dis*, *35*(1), 23-39. https://doi.org/10.1159/000346076
- Chandler, R. A., Wakeley, J., Goodwin, G. M., & Rogers, R. D. (2009). Altered Risk-Aversion and Risk-Seeking Behavior in Bipolar Disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*, 66(9), 840-846. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.05.011
- Chow, T. W., Binns, M. A., Cummings, J. L., Lam, I., Black, S. E., Miller, B. L., Freedman, M., Stuss, D. T., & van Reekum, R. (2009). Apathy symptom profile and behavioral associations in frontotemporal dementia vs dementia of Alzheimer type. *Arch Neurol*, *66*(7), 888-893. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneurol.2009.92
- Cohen, J. Y., Amoroso, M. W., & Uchida, N. (2015). Serotonergic neurons signal reward and punishment on multiple timescales. *Elife*, *4*. https://doi.org/ARTN e0634610.7554/eLife.06346
- Cohen, J. Y., Haesler, S., Vong, L., Lowell, B. B., & Uchida, N. (2012). Neuron-typespecific signals for reward and punishment in the ventral tegmental area. *Nature*, *482*(7383), 85-U109. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10754
- Collins, A. G. E., Brown, J. K., Gold, J. M., Waltz, J. A., & Frank, M. J. (2014). Working Memory Contributions to Reinforcement Learning Impairments in Schizophrenia. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *34*(41), 13747-13756. https://doi.org/10.1523/Jneurosci.0989-14.2014
- Cools, R., Nakamura, K., & Daw, N. D. (2011). Serotonin and Dopamine: Unifying Affective, Activational, and Decision Functions. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *36*(1), 98-113. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2010.121
- Cools, R., Robinson, O. J., & Sahakian, B. (2008). Acute tryptophan depletion in healthy volunteers enhances punishment prediction but does not affect reward

prediction. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *33*(9), 2291-2299. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1301598

- Corlett, P. R., Murray, G. K., Honey, G. D., Aitken, M. R., Shanks, D. R., Robbins, T. W., Bullmore, E. T., Dickinson, A., & Fletcher, P. C. (2007). Disrupted prediction-error signal in psychosis: evidence for an associative account of delusions. *Brain*, *130*(Pt 9), 2387-2400. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awm173
- Cornwall, A. C., Byrne, K. A., & Worthy, D. A. (2018). Gender differences in preference for reward frequency versus reward magnitude in decision-making under uncertainty. *Pers Individ Dif*, *135*, 40-44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2018.06.031
- Crockett, M. J., Clark, L., & Robbins, T. W. (2009). Reconciling the Role of Serotonin in Behavioral Inhibition and Aversion: Acute Tryptophan Depletion Abolishes Punishment-Induced Inhibition in Humans. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(38), 11993-11999. https://doi.org/10.1523/Jneurosci.2513-09.2009
- Daw, N. D., Kakade, S., & Dayan, P. (2002). Opponent interactions between serotonin and dopamine. *Neural Networks*, *15*(4-6), 603-616. https://doi.org/Pii S0893-6080(02)00052-7Doi 10.1016/S0893-6080(02)00052-7
- de Lacy, N., Kutz, J. N., & Calhoun, V. D. (2021). Sex-related differences in brain dynamism at rest as neural correlates of positive and negative valence system constructs. *Cogn Neurosci*, *12*(3-4), 131-154. https://doi.org/10.1080/17588928.2020.1793752
- Deakin, J. F., & Graeff, F. G. (1991). 5-HT and mechanisms of defence. *J Psychopharmacol*, *5*(4), 305-315. https://doi.org/10.1177/026988119100500414
- Delgado, M. R., Li, J., Schiller, D., & Phelps, E. A. (2008). The role of the striatum in aversive learning and aversive prediction errors. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences*, 363(1511), 3787-3800. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2008.0161
- den Brok, M. G., van Dalen, J. W., van Gool, W. A., Moll van Charante, E. P., de Bie, R. M., & Richard, E. (2015). Apathy in Parkinson's disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mov Disord*, *30*(6), 759-769. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.26208
- Der-Avakian, A., & Markou, A. (2012). The neurobiology of anhedonia and other reward-related deficits. *Trends Neurosci*, *35*(1), 68-77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2011.11.005
- Dichter, G. S., Damiano, C. A., & Allen, J. A. (2012). Reward circuitry dysfunction in psychiatric and neurodevelopmental disorders and genetic syndromes: animal models and clinical findings. *Journal of Neurodevelopmental Disorders*, *4*. https://doi.org/Artn 1910.1186/1866-1955-4-19
- Diekhof, E. K. (2015). Be quick about it. Endogenous estradiol level, menstrual cycle phase and trait impulsiveness predict impulsive choice in the context of reward acquisition. *Hormones and Behavior*, *74*, 186-193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2015.06.001
- El Mansari, M., Sanchez, C., Chouvet, G., Renaud, B., & Haddjeri, N. (2005). Effects of acute and long-term administration of escitalopram and citalopram on serotonin neurotransmission: an in vivo electrophysiological study in rat brain. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *30*(7), 1269-1277. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1300686
- Ermakova, A. O., Knolle, F., Justicia, A., Bullmore, E. T., Jones, P. B., Robbins, T. W., Fletcher, P. C., & Murray, G. K. (2018). Abnormal reward prediction-error signalling in antipsychotic naive individuals with first-episode psychosis or

clinical risk for psychosis. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *43*(8), 1691-1699. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-018-0056-2

- Eshel, N., & Roiser, J. P. (2010). Reward and Punishment Processing in Depression. *Biological Psychiatry*, *68*(2), 118-124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.01.027
- Freed, R. D., Mehra, L. M., Laor, D., Patel, M., Alonso, C. M., Kim-Schulze, S., & Gabbay, V. (2019). Anhedonia as a clinical correlate of inflammation in adolescents across psychiatric conditions. *World Journal of Biological Psychiatry*, 20(9), 712-722. https://doi.org/10.1080/15622975.2018.1482000
- Frokjaer, V. G., Pinborg, A., Holst, K. K., Overgaard, A., Henningsson, S., Heede, M., Larsen, E. C., Jensen, P. S., Agn, M., Nielsen, A. P., Stenbaek, D. S., da Cunha-Bang, S., Lehel, S., Siebner, H. R., Mikkelsen, J. D., Svarer, C., & Knudsen, G. M. (2015). Role of Serotonin Transporter Changes in Depressive Responses to Sex-Steroid Hormone Manipulation: A Positron Emission Tomography Study. *Biol Psychiatry*, *78*(8), 534-543. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.04.015
- Fullana, M. A., Mataix-Cols, D., Caseras, X., Alonso, P., Menchon, J. M., Vallejo, J., & Torrubia, R. (2004). High sensitivity to punishment and low impulsivity in obsessive-compulsive patients with hoarding symptoms. *Psychiatry Research*, *129*(1), 21-27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2004.02.017
- Garcia-Garcia, A. L., Newman-Tancredi, A., & Leonardo, E. D. (2014). P5-HT1A receptors in mood and anxiety: recent insights into autoreceptor versus heteroreceptor function. *Psychopharmacology*, *231*(4), 623-636. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-013-3389-x
- Georgiou, P., Zanos, P., Bhat, S., Tracy, J. K., Merchenthaler, I. J., McCarthy, M. M., & Gould, T. D. (2018). Dopamine and Stress System Modulation of Sex Differences in Decision Making. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *43*(2), 313-324. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2017.161
- Godlewska, B. R., Browning, M., Norbury, R., Cowen, P. J., & Harmer, C. J. (2016). Early changes in emotional processing as a marker of clinical response to SSRI treatment in depression. *Translational Psychiatry*, 6. https://doi.org/ARTN e95710.1038/tp.2016.130
- Gougoulaki, M., Lewis, G., Nutt, D. J., Peters, T. J., Wiles, N. J., & Lewis, G. (2021). Sex differences in depressive symptoms and tolerability after treatment with selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor antidepressants: Secondary analyses of the GENPOD trial. *J Psychopharmacol*, *35*(8), 919-927. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881120986417
- Grant, B. F., Saha, T. D., Ruan, W. J., Goldstein, R. B., Chou, S. P., Jung, J. S.,
 Zhang, H. T., Smith, S. M., Pickering, R. P., Huang, B. J., & Hasin, D. S. (2016).
 Epidemiology of DSM-5 Drug Use Disorder Results From the National
 Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions-III. *Jama Psychiatry*, 73(1), 39-47. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.2132
- Hallford, D. J., & Sharma, M. K. (2019). Anticipatory pleasure for future experiences in schizophrenia spectrum disorders and major depression: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *58*(4), 357-383. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjc.12218
- Harmer, C. J., Duman, R. S., & Cowen, P. J. (2017). How do antidepressants work? New perspectives for refining future treatment approaches. *Lancet Psychiatry*, 4(5), 409-418. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(17)30015-9
- Harmer, C. J., O'Sullivan, U., Favaron, E., Massey-Chase, R., Ayres, R., Reinecke, A., Goodwin, G. M., & Cowen, P. J. (2009). Effect of acute antidepressant administration on negative affective bias in depressed patients. *Am J*

Psychiatry, *166*(10), 1178-1184.

https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2009.09020149

- Harvey, P. O., Pruessner, J., Czechowska, Y., & Lepage, M. (2007). Individual differences in trait anhedonia: a structural and functional magnetic resonance imaging study in non-clinical subjects. *Mol Psychiatry*, *12*(8), 703, 767-775. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.mp.4002021
- Heinz, A., Beck, A., Halil, M. G., Pilhatsch, M., Smolka, M. N., & Liu, S. Y. (2019). Addiction as Learned Behavior Patterns. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 8(8). https://doi.org/ARTN 108610.3390/jcm8081086
- Husain, M., & Roiser, J. P. (2018). Neuroscience of apathy and anhedonia: a transdiagnostic approach. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *19*(8), 470-484. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-018-0029-9
- Huys, Q. J., Pizzagalli, D. A., Bogdan, R., & Dayan, P. (2013). Mapping anhedonia onto reinforcement learning: a behavioural meta-analysis. *Biol Mood Anxiety Disord*, *3*(1), 12. https://doi.org/10.1186/2045-5380-3-12
- Insel, T., Cuthbert, B., Garvey, M., Heinssen, R., Pine, D. S., Quinn, K., Sanislow, C., & Wang, P. (2010). Research domain criteria (RDoC): toward a new classification framework for research on mental disorders. *Am J Psychiatry*, *167*(7), 748-751. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.09091379
- Insel, T. R. (2014). The NIMH Research Domain Criteria (RDoC) Project: Precision Medicine for Psychiatry. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *171*(4), 395-397. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2014.14020138
- Jackson, J. N., & MacKillop, J. (2016). Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder and Monetary Delay Discounting: A Meta-Analysis of Case-Control Studies. *Biol Psychiatry Cogn Neurosci Neuroimaging*, 1(4), 316-325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpsc.2016.01.007
- Joyce, P. R., Mulder, R. T., Luty, S. E., McKenzie, J. M., & Rae, A. M. (2003). A differential response to nortriptyline and fluoxetine in melancholic depression: the importance of age and gender. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *108*(1), 20-23. https://doi.org/DOI 10.1034/j.1600-0447.2003.00120.x
- Khan, A., Brodhead, A. E., Schwartz, K. A., Kolts, R. L., & Brown, W. A. (2005). Sex differences in antidepressant response in recent antidepressant clinical trials. *Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 25(4), 318-324. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.jcp.0000168879.03169.ce
- Kranz, G. S., Wadsak, W., Kaufmann, U., Savli, M., Baldinger, P., Gryglewski, G., Haeusler, D., Spies, M., Mitterhauser, M., Kasper, S., & Lanzenberger, R. (2015). High-Dose Testosterone Treatment Increases Serotonin Transporter Binding in Transgender People. *Biol Psychiatry*, 78(8), 525-533. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.09.010
- Krishnan, V., & Nestler, E. J. (2008). The molecular neurobiology of depression. *Nature*, 455(7215), 894-902. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07455
- Krolick, K. N., Zhu, Q., & Shi, H. F. (2018). Effects of Estrogens on Central Nervous System Neurotransmission: Implications for Sex Differences in Mental Disorders. *Progress in Molecular Biology and Translational Science, Vol 160*, *160*, 105-171. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.pmbts.2018.07.008
- Kuehner, C. (2017). Why is depression more common among women than among men? *Lancet Psychiatry*, *4*(2), 146-158. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(16)30263-2
- Lambert, C., Da Silva, S., Ceniti, A. K., Rizvi, S. J., Foussias, G., & Kennedy, S. H. (2018). Anhedonia in depression and schizophrenia: A transdiagnostic challenge. *Cns Neuroscience & Therapeutics*, 24(7), 615-623. https://doi.org/10.1111/cns.12854

- Lazzaro, S. C., Rutledge, R. B., Burghart, D. R., & Glimcher, P. W. (2016). The Impact of Menstrual Cycle Phase on Economic Choice and Rationality. *PLoS One*, *11*(1). https://doi.org/ARTN e014408010.1371/journal.pone.0144080
- Lee, T. M. C., Chan, C. C. H., Leung, A. W. S., Fox, P. T., & Gao, J. H. (2009). Sex-Related Differences in Neural Activity during Risk Taking: An fMRI Study. *Cerebral Cortex*, *19*(6), 1303-1312. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhn172
- Lewis, C. A., Kimmig, A. C. S., Zsido, R. G., Jank, A., Derntl, B., & Sacher, J. (2019). Effects of Hormonal Contraceptives on Mood: A Focus on Emotion Recognition and Reactivity, Reward Processing, and Stress Response. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 21(11). https://doi.org/ARTN 11510.1007/s11920-019-1095-z
- Li, Y., Qiao, L., Sun, J., Wei, D., Li, W., Qiu, J., Zhang, Q., & Shi, H. (2014). Genderspecific neuroanatomical basis of behavioral inhibition/approach systems (BIS/BAS) in a large sample of young adults: a voxel-based morphometric investigation. *Behav Brain Res*, 274, 400-408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2014.08.041
- Liu, Z. X., Zhou, J. F., Li, Y., Hu, F., Lu, Y., Ma, M., Feng, Q. R., Zhang, J. E., Wang, D. Q., Zeng, J. W., Bao, J. H., Kim, J. Y., Chen, Z. F., El Mestikawy, S., & Luo, M. M. (2014). Dorsal Raphe Neurons Signal Reward through 5-HT and Glutamate. *Neuron*, *81*(6), 1360-1374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2014.02.010
- Loubinoux, I., Pariente, J., Rascol, O., Celsis, P., & Chollet, F. (2002). Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor paroxetine modulates motor behavior through practice. A double-blind, placebo-controlled, multi-dose study in healthy subjects. *Neuropsychologia*, *40*(11), 1815-1821. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0028-3932(02)00030-1
- McCabe, C., Mishor, Z., Cowen, P. J., & Harmer, C. J. (2010). Diminished Neural Processing of Aversive and Rewarding Stimuli During Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitor Treatment. *Biological Psychiatry*, 67(5), 439-445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.11.001
- Medeiros, G. C., Rush, A. J., Jha, M., Carmody, T., Furman, J. L., Czysz, A. H., Trombello, J. M., Cooper, C. M., & Trivedi, M. H. (2020). Positive and negative valence systems in major depression have distinct clinical features, response to antidepressants, and relationships with immunomarkers. *Depression and Anxiety*, 37(8), 771-783. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.23006
- Mercado, C. P., & Kilic, F. (2010). Molecular mechanisms of SERT in platelets: regulation of plasma serotonin levels. *Mol Interv*, *10*(4), 231-241. https://doi.org/10.1124/mi.10.4.6
- Monteleone, A. M., Čardi, V., Volpe, U., Fico, G., Ruzzi, V., Pellegrino, F., Castellini, G., Monteleone, P., & Maj, M. (2018). Attachment and motivational systems: Relevance of sensitivity to punishment for eating disorder psychopathology. *Psychiatry Research*, 260, 353-359. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2017.12.002
- Morris, S. E., & Cuthbert, B. N. (2012). Research Domain Criteria: cognitive systems, neural circuits, and dimensions of behavior. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci*, *14*(1), 29-37. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22577302
- Morris, S. E., Sanislow, C. A., Pacheco, J., Vaidyanathan, U., Gordon, J. A., & Cuthbert, B. N. (2022). Revisiting the seven pillars of RDoC. *BMC Med*, *20*(1), 220. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-022-02414-0
- National Advisory Mental Healthy Council Workgroup on Changes to the Research Domain Criteria Matrix. RDoC Changes to the Matrix (CMAT) Workgroup Update: Proposed Positive Valence Domain Revisions. Bethesda: National Institute of Mental Health; 2018.

- Nishizawa, S., Benkelfat, C., Young, S. N., Leyton, M., Mzengeza, S., DeMontigny, C., Blier, P., & Diksic, M. (1997). Differences between males and females in rates of serotonin synthesis in human brain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(10), 5308-5313. https://doi.org/DOI 10.1073/pnas.94.10.5308
- Nutt, D. J., Forshall, S., Bell, C., Rich, A., Sandford, J., Nash, J., & Argyropoulos, S. (1999). Mechanisms of action of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors in the treatment of psychiatric disorders. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol*, *9 Suppl 3*, S81-86. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0924-977x(99)00030-9
- O'Doherty, J. P., Cockburn, J., & Pauli, W. M. (2017). Learning, Reward, and Decision Making. *Annu Rev Psychol*, 68, 73-100. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010416-044216
- Palminteri, S., Khamassi, M., Joffily, M., & Coricelli, G. (2015). Contextual modulation of value signals in reward and punishment learning. *Nature Communications*, *6*. https://doi.org/ARTN 809610.1038/ncomms9096
- Parker, G., Parker, K., Austin, M. P., Mitchell, P., & Brotchie, H. (2003). Gender differences in response to differing antidepressant drug classes: two negative studies. *Psychological Medicine*, 33(8), 1473-1477. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291703007918
- Pelizza, L., & Ferrari, A. (2009). Anhedonia in schizophrenia and major depression: state or trait? *Ann Gen Psychiatry*, *8*, 22. https://doi.org/10.1186/1744-859X-8-22
- Pinto-Meza, A., Usall, J., Serrano-Blanco, A., Suarez, D., & Haro, J. M. (2006). Gender differences in response to antidepressant treatment prescribed in primary care. Does menopause make a difference? *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 93(1-3), 53-60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2006.02.010
- Pizzagalli, D. A. (2014). Depression, Stress, and Anhedonia: Toward a Synthesis and Integrated Model. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, Vol 10, 10, 393-423*. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050212-185606
- Pizzagalli, D. A., Holmes, A. J., Dillon, D. G., Goetz, E. L., Birk, J. L., Bogdan, R., Dougherty, D. D., Iosifescu, D. V., Rauch, S. L., & Fava, M. (2009). Reduced caudate and nucleus accumbens response to rewards in unmedicated individuals with major depressive disorder. *Am J Psychiatry*, *166*(6), 702-710. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2008.08081201
- Poromaa, I. S., & Gingnell, M. (2014). Menstrual cycle influence on cognitive function and emotion processing-from a reproductive perspective. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 8. https://doi.org/ARTN 38010.3389/fnins.2014.00380
- Richards, D. A., Ekers, D., McMillan, D., Taylor, R. S., Byford, S., Warren, F. C., Barrett, B., Farrand, P. A., Gilbody, S., Kuyken, W., O'Mahen, H., Watkins, E. R., Wright, K. A., Hollon, S. D., Reed, N., Rhodes, S., Fletcher, E., & Finning, K. (2016). Cost and Outcome of Behavioural Activation versus Cognitive Behavioural Therapy for Depression (COBRA): a randomised, controlled, noninferiority trial. *Lancet*, *388*(10047), 871-880. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31140-0
- Rush, A. J., & Ibrahim, H. M. (2018). Speculations on the Future of Psychiatric Diagnosis. *J Nerv Ment Dis*, 206(6), 481-487. https://doi.org/10.1097/NMD.00000000000821
- Schultz, W. (1997). Dopamine neurons and their role in reward mechanisms. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 7(2), 191-197. https://doi.org/Doi 10.1016/S0959-4388(97)80007-4

- Schultz, W. (2011). Potential Vulnerabilities of Neuronal Reward, Risk, and Decision Mechanisms to Addictive Drugs. *Neuron*, *69*(4), 603-617. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.02.014
- Shansky, R. M., & Murphy, A. Z. (2021). Considering sex as a biological variable will require a global shift in science culture. *Nat Neurosci*, *24*(4), 457-464. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-021-00806-8
- Smith, C. T., Sierra, Y., Oppler, S. H., & Boettiger, C. A. (2014). Ovarian Cycle Effects on Immediate Reward Selection Bias in Humans: A Role for Estradiol. *Journal* of Neuroscience, 34(16), 5468-5476. https://doi.org/10.1523/Jneurosci.0014-14.2014
- Soubrie, P. (1986). Reconciling the Role of Central Serotonin Neurons in Human and Animal Behavior. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 9(2), 319-335. https://doi.org/Doi 10.1017/S0140525x00022871
- Spies, M., Handschuh, P. A., Lanzenberger, R., & Kranz, G. S. (2020). Sex and the serotonergic underpinnings of depression and migraine. *Handb Clin Neurol*, 175, 117-140. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-64123-6.00009-6
- Sramek, J. J., Murphy, M. F., & Cutler, N. R. (2016). Sex differences in the psychopharmacological treatment of depression. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci*, 18(4), 447-457. https://doi.org/10.31887/DCNS.2016.18.4/ncutler
- Starkstein, S. E., & Pahissa, J. (2014). Apathy following traumatic brain injury. *Psychiatr Clin North Am*, 37(1), 103-112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psc.2013.10.002
- Starr, L. R., & Hershenberg, R. (2017). Depressive Symptoms and the Anticipation and Experience of Uplifting Events in Everyday Life. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 73(10), 1442-1461. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.22447
- Strobel, A., Beauducel, A., Debener, S., & Brocke, B. (2001). Eine deutschsprachige Version des BIS/BAS-Fragebogens von Carver und White. [A German version of Carver and White's BIS/BAS scales.]. Zeitschrift für Differentielle und Diagnostische Psychologie, 22(3), 216-227.
- Sutterer, M. J., Koscik, T. R., & Tranel, D. (2015). Sex-related functional asymmetry of the ventromedial prefrontal cortex in regard to decision-making under risk and ambiguity. *Neuropsychologia*, 75, 265-273. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2015.06.015
- Thiels, C., Linden, M., Grieger, F., & Leonard, J. (2005). Gender differences in routine treatment of depressed outpatients with the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor sertraline. *International Clinical Psychopharmacology*, *20*(1), 1-7. https://doi.org/Doi 10.1097/00004850-200501000-00001
- Treadway, M. T., Bossaller, N. A., Shelton, R. C., & Zald, D. H. (2012). Effort-Based Decision-Making in Major Depressive Disorder: A Translational Model of Motivational Anhedonia. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *121*(3), 553-558. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028813
- Treadway, M. T., Buckholtz, J. W., Schwartzman, A. N., Lambert, W. E., & Zald, D. H. (2009). Worth the 'EEfRT'? The effort expenditure for rewards task as an objective measure of motivation and anhedonia. *PLoS One*, *4*(8), e6598. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0006598
- United Nations DoEaSA, Population Division. Trends in Contraceptive Use Worldwide 2015 (ST/ESA/SER.A/349). 2015.
- Unschuld, P. G., Ising, M., Roeske, D., Erhardt, A., Specht, M., Kloiber, S., Uhr, M., Muller-Myhsok, B., Holsboer, F., & Binder, E. B. (2010). Gender-Specific Association of Galanin Polymorphisms with HPA-Axis Dysregulation, Symptom Severity, and Antidepressant Treatment Response. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *35*(7), 1583-1592. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2010.30

- Walter, H., Daniels, A., & Wellan, S. A. (2021). [Positive cognitive neuroscience : Positive valence systems of the Research Domain Criteria initiative]. Nervenarzt, 92(9), 878-891. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00115-021-01167-0 (Kognitive Neurowissenschaft des Positiven : Positive Valenzsysteme der Research-Domain-Criteria-Initiative.)
- Wihlback, A. C., Sundstrom Poromaa, I., Bixo, M., Allard, P., Mjorndal, T., & Spigset, O. (2004). Influence of menstrual cycle on platelet serotonin uptake site and serotonin2A receptor binding. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *29*(6), 757-766. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4530(03)00120-3
- Yuen, G. S., Bhutani, S., Lucas, B. J., Gunning, F. M., AbdelMalak, B., Seirup, J. K., Klimstra, S. A., & Alexopoulos, G. S. (2015). Apathy in late-life depression: common, persistent, and disabling. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*, 23(5), 488-494. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jagp.2014.06.005
- Zhang, B., Lin, P., Shi, H. Q., Ongur, D., Auerbach, R. P., Wang, X. S., Yao, S. Q., & Wang, X. (2016). Mapping anhedonia-specific dysfunction in a transdiagnostic approach: an ALE meta-analysis. *Brain Imaging and Behavior*, *10*(3), 920-939. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11682-015-9457-6
- Zhao, Q. F., Tan, L., Wang, H. F., Jiang, T., Tan, M. S., Tan, L., Xu, W., Li, J. Q., Wang, J., Lai, T. J., & Yu, J. T. (2016). The prevalence of neuropsychiatric symptoms in Alzheimer's disease: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Affect Disord*, *190*, 264-271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2015.09.069
- Zhou, J. F., Jia, C. Y., Feng, Q. R., Bao, J. H., & Luo, M. M. (2015). Prospective Coding of Dorsal Raphe Reward Signals by the Orbitofrontal Cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(6), 2717-2730. https://doi.org/10.1523/Jneurosci.4017-14.2015

7. Declaration of contribution of others

A single dose of escitalopram blunts the neural response in the thalamus and caudate during monetary loss

Published in:

Lewis, C. A., Mueller, K., Zsido, R., Reinelt, J., Regenthal, R., Okon-Singer, H., Forbes, E. E., Villringer, A., Sacher, J. (2021). A single dose of escitalopram blunts the neural response in the thalamus and caudate during monetary loss. *Journal of Psychiatry & Neuroscience 46,* S. E319 -E327.

C. Lewis, E. Forbes, A. Villringer, and J. Sacher were responsible for the study concept and design. C. Lewis, R. Regenthal, H. Okon-Singer, E. Forbes, and J. Sacher selected the research methods. R. Regenthal and J. Sacher acquired the data, which C. Lewis, K. Mueller, J. Reinelt, and J. Sacher analyzed. C. Lewis, K. Mueller, and J. Sacher interpreted the results. C. Lewis wrote the original draft of the article, which all authors reviewed. All authors approved the final version to be published and can certify that no other individuals not listed as authors have made substantial contributions to the paper.

Carolin A. Lewis

Women compared with men work harder for small rewards

Published in:

Lewis, C. A., Grahlow, M., Kühnel, A., Derntl, B., & Kroemer, N. B. (2022, October 28). Women compared with men work harder for small rewards. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/2qs6j

C. Lewis, B, Derntl, and N. Kroemer were responsible for the study concept and design. C. Lewis and N. Kroemer selected the research methods. A. Kühnel and N. Kroemer supervised data collection. C. Lewis performed the data analysis and A. Kühnel and N. Kroemer contributed to analyses. C. Lewis, A. Kühnel, B. Derntl, and N. Kroemer interpreted the results. M. Grahlow contributed to preparing the Methods section. C. Lewis wrote the original draft of the article, which all authors reviewed. All authors approved the final version to be published and can certify that no other individuals not listed as authors have made substantial contributions to the paper.

Carolin A. Lewis

No Differences in Value-Based Decision-Making Due to Use of Oral Contraceptives

Published in:

Lewis, C. A., Kimmig, A.-C. S., Kroemer N. B., Pooseh, S., Smolka, M. N., Sacher, J., Derntl, B. (2022). No Differences in Value-Based Decision-Making Due to Use of Oral Contraceptives. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 13: 817825.

C. Lewis, N. Kroemer, M. Smolka, J. Sacher, and B. Derntl were responsible for the study concept and design. S. Pooseh designed the task. C. Lewis and A-C. Kimmig coordinated the study and acquired the data, which C. Lewis analyzed. N. Kroemer, S. Pooseh, and M. Smolka critically revised the analysis. C. Lewis, N. Kroemer, S. Pooseh, J. Sacher, and B. Derntl interpreted the results. C. Lewis wrote the original draft of the article, which all authors reviewed. All authors approved the final version to be published and can certify that no other individuals not listed as authors have made substantial contributions to the paper.

Carolin A. Lewis